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John Patrick ("Sean") Flannery respectfully submits this memorandum in support of his 

Motion for Summary Disposition, pursuant to SEC Rule of Practice 250. The SEC has charged 

Mr. Flannery in connection with two letters that State Street Global Advisors ("SSgA") sent to 

its clients during the mid-2007 market meltdown concerning a fixed income fund in which some 

of their holdings were invested. Specifically, the SEC has charged Mr. Flannery with violating§ 

17(a)(l) of the Securities Act and § I O(b) of the Exchange Act (along with Rule 1 Ob-5) in 

connection with an August 2, 2007 letter sent by SSgA to clients, and with violating§§ 17(a)(2) 

and (3) of the Securities Act in connection with an August 14, 2007 letter sent to clients. 

With respect to the August 2 letter, it is undisputed that Mr. Flannery's role was limited 

to offering one small set of "suggested edits," which did not substantively alter the content that 

the SEC now decries. Indeed, Mr. Flannery's proposed changes were significantly revised 

further by others-including counsel-after Mr. Flannery made them, and yet none of those 

individuals has been charged. 

It also is undisputed that SSgA's experienced in-house and outside securities lawyers 

played active roles in drafting and approving both letters, with knowledge of the relevant facts 

the SEC now claims were improperly omitted from those letters. In fact, the language 

challenged by the SEC in the August 14 letter was inserted by a senior SSgA attorney. It is 

further undisputed that neither letter offered securities for sale or solicited an offer or sale of 

securities, and that Mr. Flannery received no money or property as a result of either letter. 

For these reasons, Mr. Flannery is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on every one of 

the SEC's claims against him, and he respectfully requests that judgment be entered in his favor. 1 

1 Mr. Flannery has limited this motion to arguments that do not require resolution of factual disputes. Thus, 
the issues raised in this motion represent only some of the many fatal flaws in the SEC's case against Mr. 
Flannery. Others include that: (I) the alleged misstatements were not false or misleading given the 

(continued ... ) 
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I. BACKGROUND 

A. Mr. Flannery's Role Within SSgA 

Mr. Flannery was SSgA's Chieflnvestment Officer ("CIO") Americas. See Ex. 2 at 58:24-

59:1.2 In his role as CIO, Mr. Flannery was responsible for overseeing strategy for all ofSSgA's 

funds and assets under management. See Ex. 12 at SSgA-SEC 60359 (SSgA org chart dated May 

30, 2007). Mr. Flannery was not responsible for SSgA's client relations/communications, 

compliance, or legal functions. See id.; see also Ex. 2 at 85:9-86:10. While Mr. Flannery 

communicated with clients and their consultants when asked by client relations personnel to do 

so, he did not maintain the sort of regular communications that employees in the client 

relationship department had with their clients, and was not aware of the specific information 

made available to clients about the fund at issue, the Limited Duration Bond Fund ("LDBF"). 

See Ex. 2 at 84:18-86:1 0; see also Ex. I 5 (example of documents reflecting Mr. Flannery was 

not involved with determining which clients received information); Ex. 20 (same). He believed 

that clients were provided with substantial information, but it was SSgA' s client relations 

department that was responsible for determining precisely what information to provide to those 

clients, and it was SSgA's legal department's responsibility to ensure that those communications 

satisfied SSgA's legal obligations.3 

infonnation available to SSgA's sophisticated clients at the time, (2) the alleged omissions were not material 
given that same infonnation, (3) Mr. Flannery was under no duty to disclose the facts purportedly omitted, and 
(4) the SEC's evidence would fail to establish negligence or scienter. 
2 All "Ex." references are to exhibits attached to the Affidavit of Peter M. Acton, Jr., submitted herewith. 
3 As part of its settlement with SSgA, the Staff negotiated a limited waiver of privilege related to legal advice 
that was specifically provided with respect to the letters to investors. By negotiating only a limited waiver, the 
Staff deprived Mr. Flannery of exculpatory evidence that goes to the very heart of the SEC's charges and is 
necessary to his defense (i.e., evidence that SSgA attorneys knew offacts relevant to the legal advice they 
provided with respect to the letters). 
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Mr. Flannery is not a lawyer. When he learned SSgA was preparing a letter to clients in 

July 2007, a letter as to which the SEC makes no allegations against Mr. Flannery, he requested 

that SSgA's legal department review the letter before it was sent to clients and lawyers were, in 

fact, involved at every step in the process. See Ex. 2 at 840: 12-16; Ex. 26; Ex. 27; Ex. 28. It is 

undisputed that SSgA's in-house and outside lawyers were also intimately involved in reviewing, 

drafting, and approving both the August 2 and August 14 letters. See, M.,_, Ex. 29 (August 2 

letter legal review); Ex. 40 (same); Ex. 41 (same); Ex. 42 (same); Ex. 43 (same); Ex. 44 (same); 

Ex. 45 (same); Ex. 46 (same); Ex. 47 (same); Ex. 48 (August 14 letter legal review); Ex. 49 

(same). In explaining the role ofSSgA's legal department in reviewing and approving the client 

letters, SSgA's General Counsel, Mitch Shames, testified: 

As my role as general counsel of SSgA, I viewed my primary obligation and 
responsibility to be, to assemble the right team with the right expertise to handle 
various matters .... [W]hen I received the first draft of [the July 26, 2007 letter], I 
assembled the right team, which in my mind was Mark Duggan, Chris Douglass, 
Glenn Ciotti, and Liz Fries. And while I reviewed the document for purposes of 
clarity, I had the confidence that my team of counsel was doing what they 
deemed necessary to review the communication. 

When I reviewed the letter and identified that it was a client- a market 
commentary, I wanted to bring in lawyers who specifically had investment and 
securities experience. And so I assembled a team which would have- a team 
which I would have been confident in, would have reviewed the letter in a way 
that they thought was necessary in order for the legal group to sign-off on the 
letter. 

Ex. 4 at 80:4-13; 89:21-90:2. 

B. The August 2, 2007 Letter 

Mr. Flannery did not draft the August 2nd letter, nor did he ask that it be drafted. See Ex. 

2 at 590:4-591:11. He also did not sign that letter. See Ex. 8 at 003700531. In fact, the only 

substantive involvement he had with the letter at all was in connection with an early draft 
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circulated on July 31, 2007, when he was one of eight people copied on an e-mail sent by Adele 

Kohler (Senior Managing Director, Product Development and Product Engineering) to SSgA's 

General Counsel, Mr. Shames. See Ex. 39. In addition to Mr. Shames, that e-mail was sent to 

Marc Brown (Chief Marketing Officer), Staci Reardon (Co-Managing Director, U.S. 

Relationship Management), Larry Carlson (Co-Managing Director, U.S. Relationship 

Management), Nicholas Mavro (Vice President- Consultant Relations), James Hopkins (Product 

Engineer), and Michael Wands (Director- Fixed Income). See id. In her e-mail, Ms. Kohler 

specifically asked Mr. Shames to "take a look and communicate any concerns to Nick Mavro and 

Larry Carlson as they will run with this tomorrow." Id. On August 1, 2007, Mr. Flannery 

replied to Ms. Kohler and all who had received her e-mail, including the General Counsel and 

the three most senior employees in client relations, with his "suggested edits". See Exs. 41, 42. 

In the Order Instituting,4 the SEC specifically references only one of the nine paragraphs 

in the August 2nd letter. That paragraph is entitled "Actions Taken." When Mr. Flannery 

received the draft from Ms. Kohler on July 31st, the "Actions Taken" paragraph said: 

Actions Taken 
While we believe that events over the past several months have been largely the 
result of liquidity and leverage issues, versus long-term fundamentals, we are also 
aware that the downdraft in valuations have [sic] had a significant impact on the 
risk profile of our portfolios, and thus we have taken steps to reduce risk across 
the affected portfolios. Within the Limited Duration Bond Fund we have reduced 
exposure to a significant portion of triple B securities, we have sold a large 
amount of our triple A cash positions and will be reducing additional triple A 
exposure as total return swaps roll off at month end. These actions will 
simultaneously serve to reduce risk in other SSgA strategies that hold units of the 
Limited Duration Bond Fund. 

Ex. 29. With Mr. Flannery's "suggested edits," the "Actions Taken" paragraph said: 

4 The Order Instituting Administrative and Cease-And-Desist Proceedings Pursuant to Section SA of the 
Securities Act of 1933, Section 21 C of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Section 203(f) of the Investment 
Advisers Act of 1940, and Section 9(b) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 ("Order Instituting"). 
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Actions Taken 
While we believe that events over the past several months have indicate [sic] 
some deterioration in longer-term fundaments [sic], we believe price action has 
been dominated by the unwinding of leverage in a market segment with sharply 
reduced liquidity. Additionally, the downdraft in valuations hashad [sic] a 
significant impact on the risk profile of our portfolios, prompting us to take steps 
to reduce risk across the affected portfolios. Within the Limited Duration Bond 
Fund we have reduced exposure to a significant portion of triple B securities, we 
have sold a large amount of our triple A cash positions and additional triple A 
exposure as some total return swaps rolled off at month end. These actions 
simultaneously serve to reduce risk in other SSgA strategies that hold units of the 
Limited Duration Bond Fund. 

Ex. 31. Thus, Mr. Flannery's only proposed revisions to the "Actions Taken" paragraph were: 

Actions Taken 
While we believe that events over the past several months have l-leen largely the 
¥€suit of liqui€iity 2m€ leventge issues, Ye¥sus indicate some deterioration in 
lonw-term fundament~s, v:c a¥e als0 &Y'rn¥e that we believe price action has been 
dominated bv unwinding of leverage in a market segment with sharplv reduced 
liquidity. Additionally. the downdraft in valuations ~hashad a significant 
impact on the risk profile of our portfolios, a¥ui thus we have prompting us to 
takefi steps to reduce risk across the affected portfolios. Within the Limited 
Duration Bond Fund we have reduced exposure to a significant portion of triple B 
securities, we have sold a large amount of our triple A cash positions and vvill !;,e 
r®dueiNg additional triple A exposure as some total return swaps rolled off at 
month end. These actions ~simultaneously serve to reduce risk in other SSgA 
strategies that hold units of the Limited Duration Bond Fund. 

Mr. Flannery's only other "suggested edits" to the draft consisted of changing 

"delinquencies" to "defaults" in one paragraph; deleting "through an exchange traded vehicle" from 

the end of a sentence in that same paragraph; and asking that one fact be re-checked in another 

paragraph. See Ex. 31. The Order Instituting does not make any allegations with respect to those 

other suggestions. In their entirety, Mr. Flannery's "suggested edits" to the draft consisted of 

deleting 34 words, replacing them with 34 words, and asking that a single fact be re-checked. 

The following people received or commented on the draft between the time Mr. Flannery 

made his "suggested edits" and the time the letter was sent to clients: Ms. Kohler, Ms. Reardon, 

Mr. Hopkins, Mr. Wands, Mr. Carlson, Mr. Mavro, and Mr. Brown. See, e.g., Exs. 32, 33, 34. 
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In addition to those individuals, at least five lawyers received or commented on the draft at least 

once after Mr. Flannery circulated his "suggested edits": Mr. Shames, Elizabeth Fries, Jodi 

Luster, Glenn Ciotti, and Charles Cullinane. See,~. Exs. 35, 36, 37, 38. SSgA's outside 

securities counsel Ms. Fries, a partner at Goodwin Procter LLP, also reviewed the letter prior to 

its dissemination to clients.5 See Ex. 35. 

Following Mr. Flannery's only set of proposed revisions, the "Actions Taken" paragraph 

was extensively revised as follows by others prior to being sent to clients: 

Actions Taken 
¥/kil€ 'NWe believe that @¥im'!'€5=€W€Rff@=~§A~'€¥€tMOO'~~~~oo~~%€M~ 
dehwiorati€ll'l: il'l:what has occurred in the subprime mortgage market to date this 
year has been more driven by liquidity and leverage issues than long@¥ term 
fundamentals, we tJelieve priee aetiol'l: kas lsleea dominated by the e~avv"in€l:il'l:g of 
kwerage iFI a market segmel'l:t ',vitl~ sh&r=fllY reduee€1 liql:lidity. Additionally, the 
downdraft in valuations hasha€l:has had a significant impact on the risk profile of 
our portfolios, prompting us to take steps to seek to reduce risk across the 
affected portfolios. \VithiF!To date, in the Limited Duration Bond ~Strategv. 
we have reduced CJ<pose~re te a significant portion of triple Bour BBB-rated 
securities'\' and we have sold a ~si~mificant amount of our triple AAAA-rated 
cash positions &F~€1: a. Additionally, trip!€ AAAA-rated exposure has been 
reduced as some total return swaps rolled off at month end. Throughout this 
period. the Strategy has maintained and continues to be AA in average credit 
quality according to SSgA's internal portfolio analytics. The%@ actions we have 
taken to date in the Limited Duration Bond Strategv simultaneously served to 
reduce.Q risk in other SSgA active fixed income and active derivative-based 
strategies that h€lld u¥J:its €lfth€ Limit€€! Duratiofl: Bo¥J:d FuHd. 

Compare Ex. 31, with Ex. 8 at 003 7005 31. 

In total, just five words from Mr. Flannery's "suggested edits" to the "Actions Taken" 

paragraph were ultimately included in the letter sent to clients. Those words are in bold below. 

5 According to Ms. Fries' biography, she counsels investment advisers, investment companies, banks, and 
other providers of financial services regarding complex compliance issues resulting from the operation and 
integration of a variety of investment businesses. She holds herself out as being an expert in the areas of the 
securities laws and "analyzing complex issues and managing multi-faceted challenges toward practical 
resolutions." See <http://www.goodwinprocter.com/People/F /Fries-Elizabeth-Sheaaspx >. 
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C. The August 14,2007 Letter 

The genesis of the August 14 letter was an e-mail exchange that began on August 2, 

2007, in which Mr. Flannery asked senior members of the client relations team what clients were 

asking about following Standard and Poor's and Moody's unprecedented downgrading of a 

significant number of bonds backed by subprime mortgages: 

At this point I know we have had a number of interactions with clients and 
consultants. It is important to get frank and constructive feedback on what is 
working well and what we can do to improve things. I want to underscore that our 
role here is to do the best job possible. 

Please provide that feedback to me (and directly to individuals if appropriate) so I 
can help. In addition, anything you need from me (/haven't had any client calls) 
is on the table. 

Ex. 61 at SS 162489 (emphases added). The next day, Larry Carlson responded, stating that there 

had been feedback: 

Thanks Sean. There have been a few comments that we [SSgA] may be a little 
cavalier about the situation. A couple of [relationship managers] have mentioned 
that we feel that we do not necessarily need to apologize per se ... but should be 
saying up front that we realize that this is a serious situation, that we are 
disappointed in what has transpired and are doing everything we can to mitigate 
the damage and make sure that we rectify the situation. 
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Ex. 61 at SS 162488. Out of a desire to address some of the concerns articulated in 

Mr. Carlson's e-mail, Mr. Flannery volunteered to draft a letter to clients. He did so because he 

wanted to provide a real-time perspective "describing, as best we could, what was going on in 

the market" and address, in a sincere way, the frustrations some clients had expressed about 

SSgA. Ex. 2 at 602:11-22,604:13-605:17. Mr. Flannery told his boss, SSgA's Chief Executive 

Officer, William Hunt, that he wanted to send a letter because he felt it was important to provide 

clients with information and that, in his view, sending such a letter "was the right thing to do." 

Ex. 2 at 604:15-23. Mr. Hunt initially advised Mr. Flannery not to send the letter under his own 

name. See Ex. 2 at 609:2-611:18 ("Why would you raise your head up?"). Mr. Flannery, 

however, felt strongly about the issue, and Mr. Hunt ultimately agreed that sending the letter to 

clients made sense. In fact, Mr. Hunt later praised Mr. Flannery for the letter, calling it a "good 

communication." Ex. 58. 

Mr. Flannery created the original draft of the August 14 letter on August 4, 2007. See 

Ex. 22. In the Order Instituting, the SEC challenges one sentence of that six paragraph letter: 

"While we will continue to liquidate assets for our clients when they demand it, we believe that 

many judicious investors will hold the positions in anticipation of greater liquidity in the months 

to come." Order Instituting ,-r 40. The SEC also contends that the letter omitted the illiquid 

nature of the remaining investments in LDBF, and that LDBF used swaps and other investment 

vehicles tied to subprime. Id. 

1. The Many Judicious Investors Language Was Inserted by SSgA's 
Deputy General Counsel, Who Was Aware of the Relevant Facts 

As originally drafted by Mr. Flannery, the letter read: "While we will continue to 

liquidate assets for our clients when they demand it, our advice is to hold the positions for now." 

Ex. 22. It is undisputed that this statement reflected the investment team and Mr. Flannery's 
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good faith view of the long term fundamentals of the market and his belief that investors should 

hold their positions. See~ Ex. 3 at 456:23-457:9 (describing Mr. Flannery's view of the 

market); Ex. 1 at SS 3875767 (investment team's view). Through subsequent edits by others at 

SSgA, by August 7 that sentence became: "While we will continue to liquidate assets for our 

clients when they demand it, our advice is to hold the positions in anticipation of greater liquidity 

in the months to come." Ex. 23. 

On August 7, SSgA's Deputy General Counsel, Mark Duggan, further revised the sentence: 

---
L \:,. L \ -, < v <- -\- \,.,_,.. -\- fV' -,.._ 'f 

----- ~-

~<; "~' __ :::" •'-"'_ ~:'\ 
the year, we believe that liQuidity will slowl re-enter the market and the 
segment will regain its footing. While we wi I continue to liquidate assets for our 
cflents when they demand it, · · hold the positions in anticipation of 
greater liquidity in the months to come. 

Ex. 21. The SEC contends the "many judicious investors" language inserted by Mr. Duggan was 

misleading because three advisory groups within SSgA (i.e., internal consultants providing 

investment advice to clients) had previously recommended that their clients withdraw their 

investments from LDBF, and that Mr. Flannery was negligent in not raising that issue with Mr. 

Duggan. It is undisputed that Mr. Duggan was aware that at least one of the advisory groups had 

made a withdrawal recommendation weeks prior to inserting the "many judicious investors" 

language, and undisputed Mr. Flannery reasonably believed that Mr. Duggan had this knowledge 

well in advance of his insertion ofthe questioned language. See Ex. 3 at 525:3-526:21. 

One of those advisory groups was Global Asset Allocation ("GAA"). On August 6, 

2007, Mr. Duggan received a document prepared by SSgA's legal and client relations 

departments to help client relations personnel respond to client inquiries. See Ex. 60; see also 

Ex. 3 at 315:3-319:4. Mr. Flannery received a copy ofthis Frequently Asked Questions 
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("F AQ") document as well, and thus knew by August 6 that Mr. Duggan had received it. See 

Ex. 60; see also Ex. 2 at 969:13-970:6. Mr. Duggan testified that he reviewed the FAQs when 

he received them during the first week of August, that he discussed them with Ms. Fries prior to 

August 14, and that he participated in several meetings about them prior to that date. See Ex. 3 

at 237:14-17, 290:21-291:6 (testifying he discussed the F AQs in the context of the August 14 

letter), 313:3-314:10, see also id. at 311:1-5,315:3-319:14. The FAQs included the following 

information: 

31. What affect has this had on your Asset Allocation Funds? What is 
your GAA Team doing to address this? 

Our GAA team has reviewed the situation, relative to whether they 
should continue to hold various strategies (Active Core Bonds/ Limited 
Duration Bond Fund) and are recommending a move to passive fixed 
income. Their concern is that turmoil in the ABX segment of the market 
may continue for several months and they would like to limit, to the extent 
possible, any jitrther losses. 

Ex. 7 at SS 4379050 (emphasis added).6 It is thus undisputed that Mr. Duggan knew by August 

7 that at least one of the advisory groups within SSgA was recommending that clients withdraw 

from LDBF, and nonetheless chose to insert the "many judicious investors" Ianguage.7 

Moreover, Mr. Flannery was aware that Mr. Duggan had this knowledge well in advance of Mr. 

Duggan's edit to the letter. 8 

6 On July 26, 2007 Mr. Duggan had a conversation with Alistar Lowe, the head of GAA. Mr. Duggan testified 
that, based on that conversation, he "made an inference" that GAA believed that its clients should no longer 
continue to invest in actively managed bond funds, such as LDBF. Ex. 3 at 525:21-526:5. 
7 It is also undisputed that Ms. Fries specifically reviewed Mr. Duggan's "many judicious investors" language, 
reviewed and discussed the F AQs with Mr. Duggan, and did not recommend a change to that language in the 
letter. See Ex. 48; see also Ex. 3 at 487:1--8,489:1-15. 
8 Mr. Flannery (a) knew Mr. Duggan received the FAQs and that legal was involved in reviewing and 
approving those FAQs (see Ex. 60); (b) participated in a meeting with Mr. Duggan about the FAQs before 
August 14 (see Ex. 3 at 315:3-3 19:4); and (c) was there when Mr. Duggan spoke with Mr. Lowe on July 26 
concerning the fact that GAA was considering whether to recommend to its clients that they redeem their 
investments in LDBF ~ Ex. 18). 
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2. Mr. Flannery Did Not Act Negligently With Respect to the Alleged 
Omissions 

With respect to the alleged omissions in that letter (i.e., the illiquid nature of the 

remaining investments in LDBF, and that LDBF used swaps and other investment vehicles tied 

to subprime), there can be no serious contention that Mr. Flannery acted negligently. Mr. 

Flannery was included on the multiple drafts of the August 14 letter that were circulated to 

SSgA's senior client relations personnel, who knew what information had already been provided 

to clients. See.~, Exs. 25, 49, 51, 56. The drafts were also provided to Mr. Duggan, who Mr. 

Flannery reasonably believed was well versed in the facts. See. e.g., Exs. 25, 49, 51, 56. For 

example, at Mr. Flannery's request, Mr. Duggan attended the July 25 and August 8 Investment 

Committee meetings. See Exs. 1 8 (July 25 meeting), 13 (Aug. 8 meeting). At the July 25th 

Investment Committee meeting, the following topics were discussed: there were serious liquidity 

concerns in the market, there was a need to increase liquidity in LDBF, the market conditions 

were making it difficult to raise liquidity and properly price securities in LDBF, and SSgA's 

client relations team was anticipating redemptions in the range of25 to 50% from LDBF. See 

Exs. I 1, I 8. At the August 8 Investment Committee meeting, the Committee again discussed the 

illiquidity in the market, the issues caused by the illiquid market, how these issues were affecting 

LDBF, and how best to protect clients' interests. See Ex. I3. Mr. Duggan was present and 

participated in the discussions at both of those meetings. See Exs. 1 I, 13. As noted above, Mr. 

Flannery was also aware that Mr. Duggan received and reviewed the F AQs and that the client 

relations department received the F AQs and were using them with clients. That document 

discussed the illiquidity of the market and the impact that was having on the portfolio, and 

LDBF's use of swaps and other investment vehicles tied to subprime. See Ex. 60. Thus, as to 

each of the alleged omissions, Mr. Flannery reasonably believed that SSgA's counsel and client 
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relations department had the information necessary to determine whether or not any of that 

information should have been disclosed. 

Mr. Flannery also knew that some of this information was already available publicly. On 

July 25th, for example, an article from Money Management Letter, a publication targeted to 

institutional investors, was released. See Ex. 57. The publicly available atiicle featured LDBF 

among the "[l]osers in [the] subprime debacle," noting that the fund had lost between three and 

four percent during July. Id. The article also included information the SEC claims SSgA did not 

provide to clients, including that "[t]he fund is invested mostly in subprime mmigage-backed 

securities"; that "SSgA's Web site says the strategy also uses derivatives to eliminate interest 

rate risk"; and that "[s]ome of the firm's other active fixed-income and large-cap enhanced index 

strategies have some exposure to [LDBF]." ld. Mr. Flannery read this article on July 26 and 

forwarded it to Mr. Hunt who, in turn, forwarded it to Mr. Brown. See id. 

Ultimately, Mr. Duggan reviewed the August 14th letter at least six more times before it 

was disseminated to clients. See Exs. 48, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55. He reviewed it so many times that, 

in an e-mail to Mr. Flannery, he wrote: "How many times do we have to sign off???" Ex. 54 

(emphasis added). Mr. Shames also reviewed the draft August 14th letter after Mr. Duggan 

revised the "many judicious investors" language. See Ex. 3 at 264:20-21. 

When asked whether the legal team he assembled had all the facts needed to effectively 

advise the Company with respect to the letters, SSgA's General Counsel, Mr. Shames, testified: 

• Ex. 4 at 156:25-157:2: " ... I had confidence that [Ms. Fries] 
either had the information that she needed, or that she would have 
requested the information that she needed." 

• ld. at 157:5-8: " ... Mark Duggan had the experience and the 
expertise, and I had the confidence in that, that he would have 
undertaken what he needed to undertake, along with Ms. Fries, to 
provide the approval." 
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• Id. at 158:25-159:2: "I was confident that they team would 
undertake whatever actions the needed to undertake, in order to 
sign-off on the letter." 

• Id. at 160:18-22: "My expectation is that they could do or 
undertake whatever, ask any questions that they had and if they­
if they felt, because of their knowledge of the law that they needed 
to question things, it would be my expectation that they would." 

Like Mr. Shames, Mr. Flannery trusted in and relied upon Mr. Duggan and the SSgA 

legal departments' advice and abilities, and reasonably believed that they were apprised of the 

relevant facts. See Ex. 2 at 942:17-943:2. When Mr. Duggan inserted the "many judicious 

investors" language in the August 14th letter, Mr. Flannery believed that Mr. Duggan's change 

fully satisfied SSgA's legal obligations. As Mr. Flannery testified: "I'm an investment guy, not 

an attorney. I worked with Mark for many, many years. If he suggests an edit, I have reason to 

believe that there was a good reason for that." Ex. 2 at 943:21-944:4. For his part, Mr. Duggan 

testified that he would have been "remiss" to not take into account information he had previously 

received when reviewing the client letters. Ex. 3 at 401:21-402:7. 

In addition to following the advice ofSSgA's Deputy General Counsel concerning the 

"many judicious investors" language, Mr. Flannery actively solicited the input of the client 

relations department. For example, after incorporating Mr. Duggan's "many judicious investors" 

revision to the letter, Mr. Flannery circulated the draft letter and wrote: 

I do think we need to hear from relationship management as to how valuable this 
letter is (or is not) and to whom and under what circumstances we would send it. I 
will rely on [Ms. Reardon] and [Mr. Carlson] to advise re anyone else in SSgA that 
needs to review this letter or send it. 

Ex. 22. In fact, in addition to the three lawyers that reviewed the August 14 letter, at least seven 

senior executives reviewed the letter, including Mr. Hunt, Mr. Brown, Mr. Carlson, 

Ms. Reardon, and Hannah Grove (Director of Media Relations at State Street Bank and Trust, 

not SSgA). Mr. Hunt reviewed, commented on, and formally approved the letter. See Ex. 6 at 
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230:20-232:8. Mr. Brown, who was ultimately responsible for determining who would (and 

would not) receive this letter, reviewed and commented as well. See Ex. 59. Mr. Carlson 

(Managing Director of U.S. Relationship Management), who reported to Mr. Brown, not only 

reviewed the letter and determined who would receive it (see Ex. 9; Ex. 5 at 247: 19-25), he 

reported to Mr. Flannery that he was pleased with the content. In addition to the two most senior 

lawyers within SSgA (Messrs. Shames and Duggan) and SSgA's outside counsel (Ms. Fries), the 

following client relations people reviewed a draft of the August 14letter after they received the 

FAQ that disclosed GAA's recommendation to its clients: Mr. Brown, Mr. Carlson, Ms. 

Reardon, and Mr. Mavro. Neither they nor anyone else within the Company suggested that the 

letter include GAA's recommendation, or that the "many judicious investors" language was 

incompatible with the recommendations of GAA. 

D. The August 2 and August 14 Letters Were Part of a Larger Effort by SSgA 
to Provide Clients with Information 

The August 2 and August 14 letters were not sent in a vacuum. Rather, they were part of 

a larger communication initiative by SSgA during the mid-2007 crisis. The goal of that initiative 

was to keep clients informed of market developments and the performance ofLDBF. 

One of the tools SSgA created to enable the client relations department to provide clients 

with information was the F AQ document discussed above, which was approved by legal and 

distributed to the client relations department for use before the August 2 letter was sent to clients. 

See Exs. 14, 19. As the SEC states in its Order Instituting, the F AQs were "far more 

comprehensive" than the letters and "enabled" SSgA's "client service personnel to disclose 

material information to certain investors, including that the fund was concentrated in subprime 

investments and that State Street's largest internal advisory group had decided to redeem out of 

the Fund and the related funds." Order Instituting~ 36. By August 7, the FAQs contained the 
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very information that the SEC says was omitted from the August 14 letter. See generally Exs. 7 

(F AQs as of Aug. 1 ), 60 (as of Aug. 8). The SEC further states that "[i]n late July and early 

August, in response to requests from certain investors or their outside consultants, State Street 

also provided the Fund's holdings and disclosed the fact that State Street had decided to reprice 

some of the Fund's securities to reflect market prices that were lower than the vendor prices 

State Street had been using to arrive at the Fund's net asset value." Order Instituting~ 36. 

Indeed, literally hundreds of calls with clients took place during this period. See generally Exs. 

16, 17 (logging records of calls). 

As the SEC's Order Instituting and the FAQs plainly reflect, the information the SEC 

complains should have been disclosed was available and provided to certain clients.9 Yet, even 

though he reasonably believed this information was available to inves~ors-because SSgA 

indisputably provided it to some, and a late July newsletter disclosed supposedly undisclosed 

information about subprime exposure and leverage, the SEC has charged an "investment guy" 

who was not responsible for client communications and was not a lawyer, with a scienter-based 

charge in connection with a letter in which he contributed five innocuous words, and a 

negligence-based charge in connection with a sentence drafted by a lawyer. 

9 Pursuant to Company policy, the F AQs could only be used orally by client relations personnel in response to 
a question from an investor. There is no evidence that Mr. Flannery had anything to do with that limitation on 
use (because he did not). In any event, Mr. Duggan testified he considered whether it would violate securities 
laws to provide material information contained in the F AQs to some clients and not others. Mr. Duggan 
believed Ms. Fries considered whether using the FAQs to disseminate information to clients might violate 
securities laws. 
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II. ARGUMENT 

A. The Summary Judgment Standard 

The Court should grant summary disposition because, even assuming (for summary 

disposition purposes) the letters contained material misstatements or omissions, 10 the SEC cannot 

prove-and in some cases has not even pled-the required elements of its fraud charges against 

Mr. Flannery. See Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317,325 (1986) (defendant is entitled to 

summary judgment when "there is an absence of evidence to support [plaintiff's] case"). With 

respect to at least two required elements of each charge, "there is no genuine issue with regard to 

any material fact" and Mr. Flannery "is entitled to a summary disposition as a matter of law." 

See SEC Rule of Practice 250(b ). Despite two years of intense investigation, including fifty 

depositions and millions of pages collected, the SEC cannot make a "showing sufficient to 

establish the existence of [every] element essential to [its] case, and on which [it] will bear the 

burden of proof at trial." See Celotex Corp., 477 U.S. at 322. 

In particular, having charged Mr. Flannery only as a primary violator, the SEC cannot 

demonstrate that he played any meaningful role in crafting the August 2 letter. The undisputed 

facts also preclude the SEC from establishing Mr. Flannery acted negligently, recklessly, or with 

intent to defraud. To the contrary, he actively involved SSgA's expert in-house and outside 

lawyers at every turn, and did so in good faith. While he played a more substantial role in the 

August 14 letter, it is undisputed that the key language focused on by the SEC was inserted by 

SSgA's Deputy General Counsel. Finally, it is undisputed neither letter concerned the offer or 

sale of a security and that Mr. Flannery obtained no money or property by reason of either letter. 

10 Mr. Flannery disputes the notion that either letter contains material misstatements or omissions. 
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The SEC cannot simply rely on the allegations set forth in the Order Instituting at this 

stage; it must point to admissible evidence that it could use to satisfy its burden of proof. See. 

e.g., Eric R. Majors, SEC Rei. No. 409,2010 WL 4877354, at *2 (ALJ Dec. 1, 2010) (initial 

decision) (In opposing motion for summary disposition, the SEC "must set forth specific facts 

showing a genuine issue for a hearing and may not rest upon the mere allegations ... of its 

pleadings."). The SEC cannot do so, as the undisputed facts alone are dispositive. Thus, Mr. 

Flannery is entitled to summary disposition with respect to all charges against him. 

B. Mr. Flannery's Limited Involvement With the 
August 2 Letter Precludes Liability 

1. With Respect to Its§ lO(b)/Rule lOb-5 Charge, the SEC Cannot 
Demonstrate That Mr. Flannery Made a Statement or That He Did So 
With Scienter 

As set forth above, the SEC charges a violation of§ 1 O(b) and Rule 1 Ob-5 only with 

respect to the August 2 letter. Those claims fail because, on the undisputed facts, Mr. Flannery's 

role was too insignificant for primary liability to attach and the SEC simply cannot prove that he 

acted recklessly or with conscious intent to defraud. 

a. Mr. Flannery Made No Statement 

The SEC cannot prevail on its § 1 O(b )/Rule I Ob-5 claim without proving Mr. Flannery 

personally either made an untrue statement of material fact or omitted a fact he was obligated to 

disclose-in other words, that he committed a primary violation. See SEC v. Tambone, 417 F. 

Supp. 2d 127, 131-35 (D. Mass. 2006) (citing inter alia Aaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 680, 695 

(1980); Wrightv. Ernst& Young. LLP, 152 F.3d 169,175 (2d Cir. 1998)). At a minimum, that 

means that the SEC must establish "substantial participation or intricate involvement in the 

preparation of fraudulent statements" by Mr. Flannery himself. See SEC v. Tambone, 597 F.3d 

436,447 (1st Cir. 2010) (en bane) (quoting Howard v. Everex Sys., Inc., 228 F.3d 1057, 1061 
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n.5 (9th Cir. 2000)). Indeed, this Court should require the SEC to prove even more: that Mr. 

Flannery actually "created" the misstatements of which the SEC complains or at least "caused 

the[ir] existence." See Tambone, 597 F.3d at 447; Wright, 152 F.3d at I 75 (employing "bright 

line" test for primary liability); SEC v. Wolfson, 539 F.3d 1249, 1259 n.l6 (lOth Cir. 2008) 

(employing "creation" test for primary liability). 

It is undisputed that Mr. Flannery did not commission, draft, or sign the August 2 letter. 

It is undisputed that he was one of eight people asked to comment on the letter and that his 

involvement was limited to a single set of"suggested edits" that consisted of deleting and 

replacing 34 words (in a~ I ,000-word draft) and asking that a single fact be re-checked. With 

respect to the only portion of the letter that the SEC cites in the Order Instituting, Mr. Flannery 

proposed replacing exactly ten words in Adele Kohler's draft with eight slightly different ones: 

Additionallv. the downdraft in valuations ~hashad a significant impact on the 
risk profile of our portfolios, tmti thus ~~·c have prompting us to taken steps to 
reduce risk across the affected portfolios. Within the Limited Duration Bond 
Fund we have reduced exposure to a significant portion o.ftriple B securities, we 
have sold a large amount of our triple A cash positions and will be rctiueing 
additional triple A exposure as some total return swaps rolled off at month end 
These actions wi#=simultaneously serve to reduce risk in other SSgA strategies 
that hold units o.f the Limited Duration Bond Fund 11 

As noted above, only five of those words appeared in the final letter. Mr. Flannery's "suggested 

edits" made no substantive changes to Ms. Kohler's draft. Other than to clarify that only "some" 

swaps had rolled off, they were purely stylistic. If anything, Mr. Flannery's "suggested edits" made 

the draft more accurate, not less, because the actions Ms. Kohler described (e.g., the sale ofBBB and 

AA positions) already had happened or would have happened by the time the letter was to be sent. 

11 Blue underlined text signifies words Mr. Flannery suggested adding. signifies words 
that appeared in the draft when it reached Mr. Flannery and that he suggested deleting. Mr. Flannery left all 
other text unchanged. 
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In addition to the General Counsel, Mr. Flannery sent his "suggested edits" to Ms. Kohler 

(who authored the initial draft of the letter and could assess his suggestions against the 

information available to her and what she envisioned for the letter); Mr. Wands (the Director of 

Bond funds within SSgA, who was involved day-to-day with respect to LDBF and had 

substantial subject matter expertise); and the three senior-most members of the client relations 

department, which was responsible for monitoring the information provided to clients and 

determining what information clients needed. Under those circumstances, his transparency with 

respect to his "suggested edits" simply cannot be negligent, let alone reckless or fraudulent. 

In any event, it is undisputed that, after Mr. Flannery offered his "suggested edits," others 

at SSgA-including its General Counsel-reviewed and substantially rewrote the text: 

Additionally, the downdraft in valuations hashadhas had a significant impact on 
the risk profile of our portfolios, prompting us to take steps to seek to reduce risk 
across the affected portfolios. W#hi:#To date. in the Limited Duration Bond 
~Strategy. we have reduced OXJW3SW'S t§ a significant portion oft:·ipk: Bour 
EBB-rated securitieS;' and we have sold a ~significant amount of our~ 
MAA-rated cash positions~,__Additionalili._ triple AAAA-rated exposure has 
been reduced as some total return swaps rolled off at month end. Throughout this 
period. the Strategv has maintained and continues to be AA in average credit 
qualitv according to SSgA 's internal portfolio analvtics. These!' actions we have 
taken to date in the Limited Duration Bond Strategv simultaneously SC'!~tF## 
reduced risk in other SSgA active fixed income and active derivative-based 

t · l I I~ • .t' 7 T • · ~ T\ · D ~ D ~ 12 stra egzes t,1at ,1§cu: wuts &J tws unutca: vuratt§Jt v@nor 14mu. 

To the extent the SEC complains about the "continues to be AA in average credit quality" 

statement, that statement was inserted by someone else after Mr. Flannery made his comments. 

To the extent the SEC complains about risk reduction statements more generally, those were in 

Ms. Kohler's draft before it reached Mr. Flannery-he simply passed along her statements, while 

changing some verb tenses to (accurately) reflect that the transactions being described already 

12 Blue underlined text signifies words added by others that did not appear in Mr. Flannery's "suggested edits" 
version. signifies words that appeared in Mr. Flannery's "suggested edits" version but 
were subsequently removed by others. The remaining text was unchanged. 
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had occurred. 13 Earlier this year, the en bane First Circuit flatly rejected the SEC's attempts to 

"imply that 'X' has made a false statement [because] he passed along what someone else wrote 

[because to do so] would flout a core principle that underpins the Central Bank decision-

[dividing primary and secondary liability under the securities laws]." Tambone, 597 F.3d at 446 

(citing Cent. Bank of Denver v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, 511 U.S. 164, 173 (1994)). To 

the extent the SEC complains about facts omitted from the letter, it is legally untenable to lay 

those at Mr. Flannery's feet given his minimal involvement in the letter's preparation, and in 

l . . . II 14 c 1ent commumcatwns more genera y. 

The "substantial participation" test for dividing primary and secondary liability is the 

most liberal the SEC could ask this Court to apply, and even it requires far more than the SEC 

can prove here. Merely contributing revisions to a communication cannot establish primary 

liability unless the defendant played a "significant role" in the overall drafting process, and 

participated in "extensive review and discussions." See SEC v. Fraser, 2009 WL 2450508, at *8 

13 Mr. Flannery does not concede that either statement was false or misleading. To the contrary, if any of the 
SEC's claims conceming the August 2 letter survives summary disposition, the SEC will be unable to prove at 
trial that LDBF' s overall average credit quality dipped below AA or that risk was not actually reduced by the 
transactions described in the letter. 
14 To the extent it relies on an omission, the SEC would have to demonstrate both that the omitted fact was 
material under the circumstances and that Mr. Flannery had a duty to speak on that subject. See. e.g., Basic. 
Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 239 n. I 7 (1988) ("To be actionable, of course, a statement must also be 
misleading. Silence, absent a duty to disclose, is not misleading under Rule !Ob-5."); id. at 23 I-32 (Even 
assuming a duty to disclose, the securities laws require dissemination only of those facts that would have been 
substantially likely to have struck a reasonable investor as "having significantly altered the total mix of 
infmmation made available.") (internal quotation marks omitted); Chiarella v. United States, 445 U.S. 222, 
230-33, 235 (1980) (holding that silence, absent a duty to speak, is not misleading and that "a duty to disclose 
under§ I O(b) does not arise from the mere possession of nonpublic market information"). While a duty to 
disclose can arise "if it is necessary to prevent a voluntary statement from being misleading," In re K-tel Int'I 
Sec. Litig., 300 F.3d 88 I, 904 (8th Cir. 2002), such a duty applies only to those individuals to whom the 
voluntary statement is publicly attributable, Tambone, 4I 7 F. Supp. 2d at 135 (citing SEC v. Druffher, 353 F. 
Supp. 2d I4I, 148 (D. Mass. 2005), aff'd sub nom., SEC v. Ficken, 546 F.3d 45 (1st Cir. 2008); SEC v. 
PIMCO Advisors Fund Mgmt. LLC, 34I F. Supp. 2d 454,467 (S.D.N.Y. 2004)). The August 2 letter was not 
attributed to Mr. Flannery, he was not generally responsible for client communications, and he was not aware 
of what information previously had or had not been provided to clients. 
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(D. Ariz. Aug. 11, 2009) (quoting In re Software Toolworks. Inc., 50 F.3d 615,628 n.3 (9th Cir. 

I994)). It is undisputed that Mr. Flannery played no such role. Of his "suggested edits" to the 

section at issue, exactly five words made it into the final version, and none of them altered the 

letter's substance. Thus, he did not "cause the existence" of any statement or omission in the 

August 2 Jetter. See Tambone, 597 F.3d at 447. 

To the extent the Court decides to apply the stricter "bright line" or "creation" test, the 

result is even clearer. Based on the undisputed facts, Mr. Flannery simply made no statement on 

August 2, so no § 1 O(b )/Rule I Ob-5 liability can arise. See. e.g., Wright, I 52 F .3d at I75 ("A 

defendant must actually make a false or misleading statement in order to be held primarily liable 

under § I O(b ). Anything short of such conduct is merely aiding and abetting ... no matter how 

substantial that aid may be."). Mr. Flannery is therefore entitled to judgment as a matter of law 

on the § I O(b )/Rule 1 Ob-5 charge. 

b. Mr. Flannery's Lack of Motive, and the Extensive Involvement 
of Knowledgeable Lawyers, Negate Any Possibility That the 
SEC Could Prove Mr. Flannery Acted With Scienter 

The SEC's § 1 O(b )/Rule I Ob-5 charge fails for a second reason, too: the SEC cannot 

demonstrate that Mr. Flannery acted with sdenter-"an intention to deceive, manipulate, or 

defraud." See Dolphin & Bradbury. Inc. v. SEC, 512 F.3d 634,639 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (explaining 

that "Section 17(a)(l) of the Securities Act, section 1 O(b) of the Exchange Act, and Rule I Ob-5 

require proof of scienter") (citing Aaron, 446 U.S. at 697; Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 

185, 193 (1976)); Druffner, 517 F. Supp. 2d at 508. There simply is no evidence even suggesting 

that Mr. Flannery either harbored a "conscious intent to defraud" or acted with a "high degree of 

recklessness" at any time. See Ficken, 546 F.3d at 47; SEC v. Fife, 311 F.3d 1, 9 (1st Cir. 2002), 

cert. denied, 538 U.S. 1031 (2003). The degree of recklessness the SEC would need to prove is 
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"a highly unreasonable omission, involving not merely simple, or even inexcusable negligence, but 

an extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care ... which present[ ed] a danger of 

misleading buyers or sellers that [was] either known to [Mr. Flannery] or [was] so obvious [that he] 

must have been aware of it." See Ficken, 546 F.3d at 47-48 (quoting Fife, 311 F.3d at 9-10) 

(emphasis added); accord, e.g., Ezra Charitable Trust v. Tyco Int'L Ltd., 466 F.3d 1, 12 n.IO (1st 

Cir. 2006) (Inexcusable negligence is "well short" of the required showing.); Wells v. Monarch 

Capital Corp., No. 97-1221, 1997 U.S. App. LEXIS 30031, at *19 (1st Cir. Oct. 29, 1997) (per 

curiam) (Even "carelessness approaching indifference" may not be sufficient to establish 

scienter.) (quoting Hoffman v. Estabrook & Co., 587 F.2d 509,516 (1st Cir. 1978)). 

The SEC has not even alleged that Mr. Flannery acted with a conscious intent to defraud or a 

high degree of recklessness with respect to the August 2 letter. 15 That is not surprising, he had no 

motive to mislead anyone. His compensation was not tied to LDBF, and there is no evidence that he 

did anything other than try to make the letter grammatically correct and more accurate. 

The extensive involvement ofSSgA's counsel in the letter drafting process underscores Mr. 

Flannery's lack of bad faith or recklessness. As noted above, when Mr. Flannery learned SSgA 

was preparing a client letter, he requested that SSgA's legal department review the letter before it 

was distributed. It is undisputed that Mr. Flannery first received a draft of the August 2nd letter by 

way of an e-mail directed to Mr. Shames (SSgA's General Counsel) and eight others, with copies to 

Mr. Flannery and one other person, in which Ms. Kohler specifically asked Mr. Shames for his 

opinion as to the legality of its contents. It is also undisputed Mr. Flannery circulated his minimal 

15 The SEC's rote, boilerplate recitation that Mr. Flannery violated every section and rule at issue "willfully," 
see Order Instituting~~ 42-44, is no substitute for actual allegations concerning Mr. Flannery's supposed state 
of mind. Indeed, the SEC has reflexively written "willfully" even where the charges at issue, such as those 
under§§ 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3), require negligence. Nowhere in the Order Instituting does the SEC actually 
allege that Mr. Flannery ever harbored an intent to defraud any investor or acted recklessly--or even 
negligently-to say nothing of substantiating such allegations. 
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"suggested edits" back to that same group, including Mr. Shames. It is further undisputed that, 

between that time and the time that the letter went out to clients, no fewer than five different lawyers 

reviewed it: Mr. Shames, Ms. Fries (a "securities law expert," according to Mr. Shames, and a 

partner at Goodwin Procter LLP), Ms. Luster, Mr. Ciotti, and Mr. Cullinane. 

The involvement of these experienced attorneys in reviewing and approving the August 2 

letter precludes the SEC from proving that Mr. Flannery acted with any bad intent. He reasonably 

believed that they had considered the relevant issues and approved the letters. Numerous courts­

and even the SEC itself-have recognized that good faith involvement of counsel or other outside 

professionals negates allegations of scienter. See. e.g., SEC v. Selden, C.A. No. 05-11805-NMG, 

2009 U.S. Dist. LEX IS 59214, at * 16 (D. Mass. June 24, 2009) ("reliance on advice of counsel is 

'evidence of good faith, a relevant consideration in evaluating a defendant's scienter'") (quoting 

Howard v. SEC, 376 F.3d 1136, 1147 (D.C. Cir. 2004)); SEC v. Snyder, 292 F. App'x 391, 406 

(5th Cir. 2008) ("reliance on counsel's advice is ... 'a means of demonstrating good faith and 

represents possible evidence of an absence of any intent to defraud"') (quoting United States v. 

Peterson, 101 F.3d 375,381 (5th Cir. 1996)); SEC v. Caserta, 75 F. Supp. 2d 79, 94-95 

(E.D .N.Y. 1999) ("Good faith reliance on the advice of an accountant or an attorney has been 

recognized as a viable defense to scienter in securities fraud cases.") (collecting cases); In re 

Carlson, 46 S.E.C. 1125, 1133 (I 977) (declining to impose any penalty beyond censure for the 

defendant's failure to, inter alia, register under the Securities Act because "[i]t was enough that 

persons [including an attorney] whom [the defendant] reasonably regarded as more sophisticated 

in these matters than he was himself assured him that registration was not required"); Report of 

Investigation ofMotorola, Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 46898,2002 WL 31650174 (Nov. 25, 

2002) (declining to take action, despite evidence establishing a violation of an applicable 
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regulation barring selective disclosure, because "it appear[ ed] that Motorola acted based on 

advice of counsel that, although erroneous, was sought and given in good faith"). 

Such reliance on the involvement of counsel serves as an appropriate basis on which to grant 

Mr. Flannery summary disposition ofthe SEC's § lO(b)/Rule lOb-5 charge. See, e.g., In re 

Reliance Sec. Litig., 135 F. Supp. 2d 480,508-09 (D. Del. 2001) (granting summary judgment 

on, inter alia, § 1 O(b) claim in part because defendant chief financial officer "only signed the 

document [at issue] at the request of [company] counsel, and ... did so after checking with 

management and [outside auditors] to ensure that they were comfortable with the analysis and 

projections in the document"); Mathews v. Centex Telemgmt.. Inc., No. C-92-1837-CAL, 1994 

WL 269734, at *7 (N.D. Cal. June 8, 1994) (granting summary judgment on§ lO(b)/Rule 10b-5 

claim on the basis of, inter alia, the defendants' good faith reliance on an outside auditor); 

Newton v. Uniwest Fin. Corp., 802 F. Supp. 361, 367-68 (D. Nev. 1990) (granting summary 

judgment on§ 1 O(b)/Rule 1 Ob-5 claim on the basis of, inter alia, the defendant's good faith 

reliance on company lawyers and accountants), affd, 967 F.2d 340 (9th Cir. 1992); Steinberg v. 

Carey, 439 F. Supp. 1233, 1241 & n.27 (S.D.N.Y. 1977) (granting summary judgment to several 

defendants on § 1 O(b )/Rule I Ob-5 claims because they had relied upon the advice of "highly 

specialized" colleagues, including counsel and management, in approving the statement at issue). 

There is no evidence that Mr. Flannery acted with any intent to defraud or with recklessness. Based 

on the undisputed facts, Mr. Flannery is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 

C. With Respect to its§ 17(a) Charges, the SEC Cannot Prove Liability and Has 
Failed to State a Claim 

I. Mr. Flannery Made No Statement 

Like the§ I O(b)/Rule I Ob-5 claim, the § I7(a) claims charge primary liability, rather than 

aiding and abetting. Thus, they, too, require the SEC to demonstrate that Mr. Flannery actually 
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made a statement. See SEC v. Rocklage, 470 F.3d I, 5 n. I (1st Cir. 2006); SEC v. Monarch 

Funding Corp., 192 F.3d 295,308 (2d Cir. 1999); SEC v. Czarnik, 2010 WL 4860678, at *3 

(S.D.N.Y. Nov. 29, 201 0). For the reasons discussed above (see section II.B.l.(a)), it is 

undisputed that he made no such statement, so these claims too must fail. 

2. There Was No Offer or Sale of a Security 

The SEC does not even plead, much less have a means of proving, that the August 2 

letter was written in connection with "the offer or sale of any securities." See 15 U.S.C. 

§ 77q(a). Indeed, the Order Instituting suggests the opposite-that the purpose of the letter was 

to keep SSgA 's clients from redeeming LDBF holdings they already owned. This failure alone 

is sufficient to entitle Mr. Flannery to judgment on all of the SEC's § 17(a) claims. See 

Chemical Bank v. Arthur Andersen & Co., 726 F.2d 930, 945 (2d Cir. 1984) (dismissing§ 17(a) 

claims after determining that the alleged misstatements were not "in the offer or sale of a 

security."), cert denied, 469 U.S. 884 (1984); SEC v. Brown, 2010 WL 3786563, at *II (D.D.C. 

Sept. 27, 201 0) (dismissing§ 17(a) charges because the SEC fails to state a claim under§ 17(a) 

"when it fails to allege that an offer or sale of securities ever occurred.") 

Section I7(a) claims usually are limited to misleading statements or omissions in a 

prospectus, registration statement or other offering document. See, e.g., SEC v. Leffers, 289 F. 

App'x. 449, 451 (2d Cir. 2008) (Section I7(a) "typically involves omissions and misstatements 

made in securities registration statements."); SEC v. Softpoint, Inc., 958 F. Supp. 846,861 

(S.D.N. Y. I997) (limiting § 17(a) claims to offering documents and unregistered offerings, and 

collecting cases applying same). That is not by accident. While the definitions of"offer" and 

"sale" have been interpreted to cover a range of conduct, all of that conduct must be related to an 

actual or attempted securities transaction. See Rubin v. United States, 449 U.S. 424,429 (198I) 

("The term 'sale' or 'sell' shall include every contract of sale or disposition of a security or 
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interest in a security, for value. The term ... 'offer' shall include every attempt or offer to 

dispose of, or solicitation of an offer to buy, a security or interest in a security, for value.") 

(quoting§ 2(3) of the Securities Act; emphasis supplied by the Supreme Court); Chemical Bank, 

726 F.2d at 939-40 (quoting same). It is hardly surprising that the "offer or sale" element has 

not been stretched to cover conduct outside of that realm such as the conduct alleged here. Were 

that not the case, § 17(a) would be the preferred enforcement tool over§ 1 O(b) and Rule 1 Ob-5, 

due to the less stringent mens rea requirement under§§ 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3). Because no offer 

or sale has been alleged, and none can be shown, the SEC's § 17(a) claims must fail. See. e.g., 

Brown, 2010 WL 3786563, at * 11 ("The SEC has failed to cite, and this Court has failed to 

identify, any precedent holding that a complaint may properly state a claim under§ 17( a) when 

it fails to allege that an offer or sale of securities ever occurred."). 

3. Mr. Flannery Was Not an Offeror or Seller 

The SEC cannot prove-and has not even alleged-that Mr. Flannery was an offeror or seller 

of securities under§ 17(a). Mr. Flannery was responsible for overseeing the people who managed 

SSgA's assets under management; not for selling securities to prospective or existing clients. 

Because he did not engage in solicitation or selling of securities, Mr. Flannery is not an offeror or 

seller for purposes of§ 17(a). See Meadows v. SEC, 119 F. 3d 1219, 1225 (5th Cir. 1997)(citing 

Pinter v. Dahl, 486 U.S. 622, 643 (1988)). This, too, dooms the SEC's § 17(a) claims in their 

entirety. See Ronzani v. Sanofi. S.A., 899 F.2d 195, 198 (2d Cir. 1990) (plaintiff"did not allege a 

valid claim under§ 17(a)" because the complaint "does not allege that [defendant] was a seller or 

offeror of securities") (citing Aaron, 446 U.S. at 687); Fund ofFunds. Ltd. v. Arthur Andersen & 

Co., 545 F. Supp. 1314, 1353 (S.D.N.Y. 1982) (noting that "Federal courts at all levels have agreed 

with [defendant] that§ 17(a) is limited in its application to offerors or sellers" and dismissing§ 

17(a)(3) claim because "there is no basis in this record for finding [the defendant] to be a seller."). 
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4. Mr. Flannery Did Not Act with Scienter or Negligently 

Like its§ 1 O(b)/Rule IOb-5 charge, the SEC's § 17(a)(l) charge requires proof that Mr. 

Flannery acted with scienter. See Rocklage, 470 F.3d at 5 n.l; Monarch Funding Corp., 192 F.3d at 

308; Czarnik, 2010 WL 4860678, at *3. For the reasons set forth above (see section II .B) concerning 

attorney involvement, such proof does not exist. Moreover, Mr. Flannery acted reasonably in 

circulating his "suggested edits" to a broad group of people. Specifically, Ms. Kohler drafted the 

letter and believed it was accurate. Mr. Flannery reviewed that letter and made minor "suggested 

edits." He circulated those edits to Ms. Kohler, three senior members of the client relations team, 

Mr. Wands (who had subject matter expertise and was deeply involved with LDBF and the market 

on a daily basis), and SSgA's General Counsel. Indeed, Mr. Flannery acted reasonably by 

suggesting minimal edits that he believed made the letter more accurate, and circulating those 

suggestions to this broad group, including counsel. There is no evidence of scienter, and this Court 

should summarily dispose of the§ I 7(a)(I) claim. 

For purposes of its §§ 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) claims, the SEC must establish Mr. Flannery 

acted negligently. As a matter oflaw, however, Mr. Flannery acted reasonably in offering minor 

edits and circulating them to SSgA's General Counsel, key members ofthe client relations 

department, and a member of the investment team close to the day-to-day activities in LDBF and the 

market. See, e.g., In the Matter of Albert Glenn Yesner. CPA, Release No. I 84, 75 SEC Docket 

156 (ALJ May 22, 200 I) (initial decision) ("With respect to the non-scienter primary violations 

[defendant] is alleged to have caused, a negligence standard will be applied, and [his] conduct 

will be measured by reasonableness ... The reasonableness standard ... enunciates a standard of 

care being that of a reasonable man under like circumstances.") (citations omitted). 
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5. Mr. Flannery Did Not Obtain Money or Property From the Letters 

While § 17(a)(2) essentially mirrors Rule 1 Ob-5(b) in most respects, it differs not only in 

its substitution of negligence for scienter but also in its requirement that the SEC allege and 

prove that the "defendant actually obtained money or property by means of the untrue 

statements." Monarch Funding Corp., 192 F.3d at 308 (internal quotation marks and citations 

omitted). The SEC has made no such allegation and it could not prove such an allegation even if 

it had done so. There is no evidence in the two-year record assembled by the SEC even 

suggesting that Mr. Flannery obtained money or property by means of any alleged misstatement, 

or that his compensation was tied to asset levels in LDBF. Accordingly, Mr. Flannery is entitled 

to judgment on the§ 17(a)(2) claims for this reason, too. 

6. The SEC Has Charged No Fraudulent or Deceptive Practice 

The SEC also has failed to allege and cannot prove that Mr. Flannery, in the offer or sale 

of a security, "engage[ d] in any transaction, practice, or course of business which operate[ d] or 

would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser." See 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(3). As is the 

case with Rule 1 Ob-5( c), "the alleged conduct must be more than a reiteration of the 

misrepresentations underlying the [§ 17(a)(2)] misstatement claims." Brown, 2010 WL 

3786563, at *18 (quoting In re Alstom SA, 406 F. Supp. 2d 433,475 (S.D.N.Y. 2005)); accord 

United States v. Naftalin, 441 U.S. 768,774 (1979) ("[E]ach subsection of Section 17(a) 

proscribes a distinct category of misconduct."); see also Fund of Funds, 545 F. Supp. at 1353 

(equating the requirements of Rule 10b-5(c) with§ 17(a)(3) claim); SEC v. Fitzgerald, 135 F. 

Supp. 2d 992, 1029 (N.D. Cal. 2001) (same). Here, the SEC has not even alleged any fraudulent 

or deceptive conduct by Mr. Flannery other than the two letters themselves. Thus, its§ 17(a)(3) 

claims, along with any portion of its Rule 1 Ob-5 claim that is based on Rule 1 Ob-5( c), must fail. 

See, e.g., Brown. 2010 WL 3786563, at *18. 
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D. There is No Liability Under the August 14 Letter 

With respect to the August 14 letter, the SEC charges violations of§§ 17(a)(2) and (3). 

While Mr. Flannery did sign the letter, that letter did not arise in the context of an offer or sale of 

securities. Nor was Mr. Flannery an offeror or seller. Finally, as with the August 2 letter, the 

SEC has made no allegation that Mr. Flannery obtained money or property through the alleged 

violation, or that he engaged in any fraudulent or deceptive practice. Thus, for the reasons stated 

above (see section II.C.5), the SEC's claims concerning the August 14 letter must fail. 

The SEC also cannot prove negligence with respect to this letter. It is undisputed that Mr. 

Duggan, whom Mr. Shames called SSgA's internal securities law "expert," reviewed the letter 

multiple times before it went out to clients. As even the Order Instituting acknowledges, Mr. 

Duggan inserted the very statement about which the SEC complains-the "many judicious 

investors" statement-into the final letter. As set forth above, it is also undisputed that Mr. Duggan 

was aware of GAA' s recommendation to its investors that they withdraw their investments from 

LDBF, and that he reviewed the letter at least six more times after he redrafted the language and 

before the letter was sent to clients. Mr. Flannery reasonably believed that Mr. Duggan had all of the 

relevant facts he needed to review and approve the letter. Indeed, Mr. Duggan testified that he 

believed he had all of the information necessary to advise SSgA and that there was nothing about the 

letter that he would change even knowing what he knows now. See Ex. 3 at 47:25-51:24. Finally, 

Mr. Duggan discussed the letter with SSgA's outside securities law expert, Ms. Fries, who similarly 

was aware ofthe redemptions and the other relevant facts. 

The SEC also alleges Mr. Flannery was negligent because the August 14 letter omitted "the 

illiquid nature of the remaining investments in the Fund and that the Fund's exposure to subprime 

was actually magnified through the use of credit default swaps, total return swaps, and repurchases 
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tied to subprime investments." Order Instituting~ 40. That allegation, however, fundamentally 

misstates the undisputed evidence in this case. In fact, Mr. Flannery reasonably believed that both 

the legal and client relations departments, and LDBF clients, were aware of this information, and 

determined that the information need not be included in that particular letter (e.g., because it was 

already known to clients): 

• On July 26, Mr. Flannery reviewed the publicly availably Money Management Letter 
article that featured LDBF, which said that "[t]he fund is invested mostly in subprime 
mortgage-backed securities"; that "SSgA's Web site says the strategy also uses 
derivatives to eliminate interest rate risk"; and that "[s]ome of the firm's other active 
fixed-income and large-cap enhanced index strategies have some exposure to [LDBF]." 

• Months earlier, Mr. Flannery shared specific holdings information compiled by Patrick 
Armstrong with Mr. Brown, the Chief Marketing Officer. See SS 9186515-30; see also 
SS 574215 (providing detailed holdings information in July to the Executive 
Management Group, which included Mr. Brown); SEC Exhibit 620 (same). 

• In a telling e-mail exchange Mr. Flannery had with Paul Greff and Ms. Kohler in response 
to questions clients were asking, Mr. Flannery said "I have already asked the active teams 
to provide more info [regarding] a number of questions and asked that they be ready by this 
morning." SS 4004197. Included among the questions asked were: (a) what percentage of 
the fund was invested in subprime and had those investments changed from June to July; 
(b) what sectors within subprime is the fund currently invested; (c) what was the difference 
between the return ofthe swaps and the cash during the month of July; (d) what is the 
remaining position percentage and credit quality invested in ABX; (e) how much of July's 
underperformance was due to ABX and how much was due to swaps; and (f) what has 
been the historic amount of ABS (or subprime) held. See SS 4004198. Those questions 
were answered the very morning they were raised. See SS 4004197-98. Indeed, Mr. Greff 
responded that "[ w ]e have detailed performance attribution for the above funds for the 
month of' July and "[t]his data should answer 99% of the questions" being asked by 
investors. SS 4004197. 

The record is replete with evidence that, from Mr. Flannery's perspective, disclosure 

obligations were being met, and his team was doing its part to make sure that the relationship 

team had any information it needed. Indeed, the SEC concedes in its Order Instituting that the 

client relations department had the information it complains was not disclosed in the letter. 

Specifically, the SEC acknowledges that the F AQs, which were provided to every person in the 
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client relations department, contained the information the SEC says should have been disclosed 

and that, in fact, the information was disclosed to certain clients. See Order Instituting~~ 36, 40. 

The SEC's complaint is that the information was not disclosed to all investors in a 

uniform manner. 16 Stated simply, it was not within the scope of Mr. Flannery's job responsibilities 

to determine who received infonnation and in what form. It is undisputed that this was the role of the 

client relations department. Mr. Flannery reasonably believed that once the information was 

provided to the client relations department-which the SEC necessarily concedes happened with the 

FAQs-it was client relations' responsibility, working in conjunction with legal, to detennine how to 

deliver that information to clients. To the extent there was a selective disclosure problem, in that 

certain clients were receiving information that others were not, it was legal's job to identify that 

problem and work with client relations to resolve it. 

To prove that Mr. Flannery acted negligently, the SEC must show that it was unreasonable 

for Mr. Flannery to rely on the company's expert securities lawyer, with whom he had worked for 

years and whom he believed was in possession of the relevant facts, for guidance as to whether any 

additional facts should have been disclosed in the August 14th letter. In other words, the SEC must 

prove that Mr. Flannery should have recognized that the letter might mislead investors when Mr. 

Duggan himself did not. Moreover, the SEC must also show that he was unreasonable in relying 

SSgA's client relations department-the very people within the Company whose job it was to know 

what clients had and had not been told already. Clearly, the SEC will not be able to CatTy that 

burden. Accordingly, Mr. Flannery is entitled to summary disposition of the SEC's §§ 17(a)2 and 

17(a)(3) claims. 

16 Underlying the SEC's allegation against Mr. Flannery is dissatisfaction with SSgA's business model. The 
SEC would like the letters to be self-contained units with registration-like detail. These letters, however, 
supplemented infonnation that SSgA already made available to investors and must be viewed in that light. 
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III. CONCLUSION 

The undisputed facts clearly show that: (1) Mr. Flannery had insufficient involvement 

with the August 2nd letter for primary liability to attach; (2) Mr. Flannery could not have acted 

recklessly or negligently in connection with either letter because he actively involved, and relied 

in good faith on the advice of, knowledgeable, expert counsel; (3) Mr. Flannery was not 

negligent with respect to the August 14 letter because he followed the advice of SSgA counsel in 

connection with the letter, and reasonably believed that every allegedly omitted fact had in fact 

been disclosed; and ( 4) the SEC's § 17(a) claims fail because there is no evidence supporting 

several required elements of those claims. For these reasons, Mr. Flannery is entitled to 

summary disposition of all claims against him. 

Dated: December 23,2010 Respectfully Submitted, 
Put.f ,q. VII fpv,._.r~>~ 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Before the 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

In the Matter of: 

JOHN P. FLANNERY and 
JAMES D. HOPKINS 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) _____________________ ) 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
FILE NO. 3-14081 

AFFIDAVIT OF PETER M. ACTON, JR. IN SUPPORT OF JOHN ("SEAN") 
PATRICK FLANNERY'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY DISPOSITION 

I, Peter M. Acton, Jr., do hereby state as follows: 

I am an attorney admitted to practice in Massachusetts. I am an associate in the law 

firm of McDermott Will & Emery LLP and represent John P. ("Sean") Flannery in this 

matter. I am submitting this affidavit based upon by own personal knowledge in support 

of Mr. Flannery's Motion for Summary Disposition, which is being filed herewith. 

I. Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 is a true and accurate copy of SEC Exhibit 

153, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

2. Attached hereto as Exhibit 2 is a true and accurate copy of the relevant 

portions of Sean Flannery's transcript before the Securities Exchange Commission, as 

produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

3. Attached hereto as Exhibit 3 is a true and accurate copy of the relevant 

portions of Mark J. Duggan's transcript before the Securities Exchange Commission, as 

produced from the SEC's investigative file. 
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4. Attached hereto as Exhibit 4 is a true and accurate copy of the relevant 

portions of Mitchell H. Shames' transcript before the Securities Exchange Commission, as 

produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

5. Attached hereto as Exhibit 5 is a true and accurate copy of the relevant 

portions of La\\-Tence J. Carlson's transcript before the Securities Exchange Commission, 

as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit 6 is a true and accurate copy of the relevant 

portions of William W. Hunt's transcript before the Securities Exchange Commission, as 

produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

7. Attached hereto as Exhibit 7 is a true and accurate copy of SEC Exhibit 14, 

as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

8. Attached hereto as Exhibit 8 is a true and accurate copy of SEC Exhibit 16, 

as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

9. Attached hereto as Exhibit 9 is a true and accurate copy of SEC Exhibit 80, 

as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

10. Attached hereto as Exhibit 10 is a true and accurate copy SEC Exhibit 114, 

as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

11. Attached hereto as Exhibit 11 is a true and accurate copy of SEC Exhibit 

116, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

12. Attached hereto as Exhibit 12 is a true and accurate copy of the relevant 

portions of SEC Exhibit 235, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

13. Attached hereto as Exhibit 13 is a true and accurate copy of SEC Exhibit 

262, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

OM !JS ~7341942-2 (184245 0011 



14. Attached hereto as Exhibit 14 is a true and accurate copy of SEC Exhibit 

318, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

15. Attached hereto as Exhibit 15 is a true and accurate copy of SEC Exhibit 

405, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

16. Attached hereto as Exhibit 16 is a true and accurate copy of the relevant 

portions of SEC Exhibit 411, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

17. Attached hereto as Exhibit 17 is a true and accurate copy of the relevant 

portions of SEC Exhibit 412, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

18. Attached hereto as Exhibit 18 is a true and accurate copy of SEC Exhibit 

460, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

19. Attached hereto as Exhibit 19 is a true and accurate copy of SEC Exhibit 

558, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

20. Attached hereto as Exhibit 20 is a true and accurate copy of SEC Exhibit 

568, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

21. Attached hereto as Exhibit 21 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 118350, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

22. Attached hereto as Exhibit 22 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered FLANO 1597-99, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

23. Attached hereto as Exhibit 23 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SSP 58309, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

24. Attached hereto as Exhibit 24 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 118389, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 
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25. Attached hereto as Exhibit 25 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 103652-53, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

26. Attached hereto as Exhibit 26 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 000120201, as produced from the SEC's investigative tile. 

27. Attached hereto as Exhibit 27 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 120127, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

28. Attached hereto as Exhibit 28 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 120219, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

29. Attached hereto as Exhibit 29 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 119624-26, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

30. Attached hereto as Exhibit 30 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC I 03835, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

31. Attached hereto as Exhibit 31 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 119619-21, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

32. Attached hereto as Exhibit 32 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 103811-12, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

3 3. Attached hereto as Exhibit 33 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 103817-18, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

34. Attached hereto as Exhibit 34 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 119627-31, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

35. Attached hereto as Exhibit 35 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 103873, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 
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36. Attached hereto as Exhibit 36 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 119675-76, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

3 7. Attached hereto as Exhibit 37 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 119215-18, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

38. Attached hereto as Exhibit 38 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 119638-41, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

39. Attached hereto as Exhibit 39 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 119624-26, as produced from the SEC's investigative. 

40. Attached hereto as Exhibit 40 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC I 03874, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

41. Attached hereto as Exhibit 41 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 103835, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

42. Attached hereto as Exhibit 42 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 119619-21, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

43. Attached hereto as Exhibit 43 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 119675-76, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

44. Attached hereto as Exhibit 44 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 103875-76, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

45. Attached hereto as Exhibit 45 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 119659-61, as produced from the SEC's investigative tile. 

46. Attached hereto as Exhibit 46 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 103873, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 
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47. Attached hereto as Exhibit 47 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 1192 I 5- I 8, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

48. Attached hereto as Exhibit 48 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 118346-50, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

49. Attached hereto as Exhibit 49 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 118355-58, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

50. Attached hereto as Exhibit 50 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 118346-50, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

51. Attached hereto as Exhibit 51 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 118351-54, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

52. Attached hereto as Exhibit 52 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 103659-60, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

53. Attached hereto as Exhibit 53 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 103661-63, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

54. Attached hereto as Exhibit 54 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 118389-98, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

55. Attached hereto as Exhibit 55 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 103667-70, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

56. Attached hereto as Exhibit 56 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS-SEC 132851-55, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

57. Attached hereto as Exhibit 57 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS 3837013, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 
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58. Attached hereto as Exhibit 58 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS 446276, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

59. · Attached hereto as Exhibit 59 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SS 7128506-09, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

60. Attached hereto as Exhibit 60 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SEC Ex. 662, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 

61. Attached hereto as Exhibit 61 is a true and accurate copy of a document 

bates numbered SEC Ex. 308, as produced from the SEC's investigative file. 
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1 product engineer in fixed income. 

2 Q But was he the product engineer responsible for 

3 LOBF? 

4 A He was responsible for that, but I don't know that 

5 he was exclusively responsible for it. 

6 Q Okay. If we can focus on just 2007, in that 

7 timeframe. Do you believe that it would be appropriate for 

8 SSgA to describe LDBF as an enhanced cash strategy during 

9 that time period? 

10 MR. PEARLSTEIN: Are you asking him, as he sits 

11 here today? 

12 MR. BAKER: Sure. 

13 THE WITNESS: Well, certainly knowing what I know 

14 today about the dislocation in the market, I would say, no. 

15 BY MR. BAKER: 

16 Q And so at what point in time, in 2007, would it 

17 have ceased to be acceptable for you, at least, to refer to 

18 the LDBF strategy as enhanced cash? 

19 MR. PEARLSTEIN: When you say, "You," you mean 

20 "SSgA" as opposed to him, because I don't think you have 

21 established that he ever described it, personally, as 

22 enhanced cash. 

23 BY MR. BAKER: 

24 Q Well, you were the CIO in 2007 of the structure 

LDBF was included in; is that correct? 

Page 

1 A Yes. 

2 Q So in your view, at what point in time would it 

3 have no longer been acceptable to refer to LDBF as enhanced 

4 cash? 

5 MR. WOLKOFF: I am going to object to the line of 

6 questioning, because you are taking in isolation a possible 

7 reference to the Limited Duration Bond Fund and isolating it 

8 from other disclosures and descriptions, and just focusing on 

9 one phrase. But, obviously, he can go ahead and answer it, 

10 but I want that clear that you are focusing on one item that 

11 may or may not have been said, but there is a context in 

12 which there was a fuller disclosure. 

13 MR. PEARLSTEIN: You can go ahead and answer. 

14 THE WITNESS: Would you repeat the question, 

15 please? 

16 MR. BAKER: Can you repeat it back? 

17 (The reporter read back the record.) 

18 BY MR. BAKER: 

19 Q Do you get the question? 

20 A Yes, I get the question, but what I'm struggling 

21 with is that I don't-- I think I explained that I don't know 

22 that they would have called it an enhanced cash strategy in 

23 the first place. So when I hear the question, so maybe we 

"1 need to-- I'm not sure how to respond to it. I guess, given 

that. 
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Q All right. Recognizing that you don't recall, or 

2 do you recall ever referring to LDBF as enhanced cash? 

3 A I don't recall that, no. 

4 Q So recognizing that as a fact, in your view, at 

5 what point in time would it no longer have been appropriate 

6 to refer to LDBF as enhanced cash? 

7 MR. PEARLSTEIN: Objection, you can answer. 

8 

9 

10 

11 

MR. WOLKOFF: I have the same objection. 

MR. PEARLSTEIN: You can go ahead and answer. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

I will say as the markets seized, began to seize 

12 up. 

13 BY MR. BAKER: 

14 Q So is that, when is that, can you put a month on 

15 that? 

16 A Well, I would say, July of '07. We had some 

17 indications in June, but July is when, I think, things really 

18 got very difficult. 

19 Q July, 2007? 

A That's correct. 20 

21 Q So when you first became aware of the LDBF 

22 strategy, and I think you testified that you thought it was 

23 near inception; is that correct? 

24 A Yes. 

25 Q Okay. When you first became aware of the LDBF 

Page 

1 strategy, what did you know about the types of investments 

2 that LDBF was invested in? 

3 A I don't know that I really knew anything other than 

4 high quality and short-term at that time, I wouldn't have 

5 necessarily known the specifics. 

6 Q How about general sectors, did you have any 

7 understanding when the fund was, first started trading, first 

8 became available to investors? 

A Securitized assets. 9 
10 Q Let's go to 2007 then. In the beginning of 2007, 

11 what did you know about the types of investments that LDBF 

12 was invested in? 

13 A I knew it was invested in securitized assets. 

14 Q Did you know what types of securitized assets LDBF 

15 was invested in, in early 2007? 

16 A I knew it was focused more toward housing-related 

17 assets, but the specific asset allocation within any of the 

18 funds, given my role, isn't one that I would necessarily be 

19 aware of in detail. 

20 Q How did you know that the fund was, I think your 

21 words were, "Focused on housing-related assets," how did 

22 know that in early 2007? 

23 MR. WOLKOFF: "Focused more toward." 

24 

25 

MR. BAKER: "Focused more toward." 

BY MR. BAKER: 
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MR. PEARLSTEIN: It was early. 

THE WITNESS: Early in the first quarter? 

I'm sorry. 

MR. BAKER: Can you read it back, please? 

(The reporter read back the record.) 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

MR. WOLKOFF: Subprime asset-backed securities? 

THE WITNESS: Okay. So the question was --

BY MR. BAKER: 

9 Q Let me just strike that; I will read it over, okay? 

10 A Okay. 

11 Q And I think the court reporter read it correctly, 

12 but, in the first quarter of 2007, did you have an 

13 understanding of what the percentage of LDBF was invested 

14 subprime mortgage-backed securities? 

15 A I suspect that, at least by the end of the first 

16 quarter, I was aware of the concentration in sub prime 

17 asset-backed securities. 

18 Q And what was your -- did you have a general 

19 understanding of what that concentration was, in percentage 

20 terms? 

21 A High. I don't recall specifically, no. 

22 Q How about a ballpark, more than a certain percent? 

23 MR. PEARLSTEIN: Do you want him to speculate at 

24 this point? 

MR. BAKER: No, I don't want him to speculate. 

BY MR. BAKER: 

2 Q I'm wondering if you can say it was definitely more 

3 than a certain percent? 

4 A I don't think I can say that it was definitely more 

5 than a certain percent. I know that it was emphasized in the 

6 portfolio. 

7 Q And did SSgA communicate, let's say, in the first 
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8 quarter of 2007, did SSgA communicate to LDBF investors about 

9 what the exposure was in LDBF to home equity? 

10 A I believe they did. 

11 Q Okay. And what was that communication? 

12 A I believe that Jim Hopkins, you know, created, as 

13 we would every quarter. a communication on LDBF, there may 

14 have been others. 

15 Q And do you have a recollection of that 

16 communication on LDBF? And when we say, "LDBF," I will use 

17 it sometimes too, it's the same as LDBF, in terms of the 

18 spelling, all caps, L-D-8-F. What is your understanding of 

19 any sort of communication Mr. Hopkins created about LDBF's 

20 exposure to home equity in the first quarter of 2007? 

21 A Well, there had been sharp underperformance. and so 

22 it required some explanation of both what happened and our 

23 analytical view toward the sector and the strategy. 

Q Can you actually recall a communication that Mr. 

Hopkins created in the first quarter of 2007, about exposure 
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to home equity in LDBF? 

2 A I can't see it in my mind, but I believe he 

3 authored one during that period. 

4 Q And who is the audience of this communication? 

A I would assume clients. 

Q Is it a written communication? 

A There was a written communication. 

5 

6 

7 

8 Q Again, in the first quarter of 2007, about LDBF? 

9 A I believe so. Again, I don't know for certain, but 

10 I'm pretty sure he wrote about that. 

11 Q Okay. And you're pretty sure that he wrote about 

12 LDBF's exposure to home equity in the first quarter of 2007, 

13 in something that went to clients? 

14 A I don't remember specifics of what he wrote, but to 

15 the extent he described what had happened, I would take that 

16 to mean that he described something about the home equity 

17 loan market, and why that hadn't affected the portfolio. 

18 Q Did you direct that a communication go to clients 

19 in the first quarter of 2007 about exposure of LDBF to home 

20 equity? 

21 A I don't remember directing that, but we always 

22 tried to communicate well with our clients. 

23 Q Well, did you have any role in deciding whether or 

a communication would go to clients in LDBF, in the first 

of 2007, about exposure to home equity? 
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A I probably took part in discussions about that. 

2 Q You say "probably," do you know that one way or the 

3 other? 

4 A I mean, ultimately, it would have been an issue 

5 decided by client service, and, you know, perhaps the legal 

6 team or compliance in that team, in terms of "to whom and 

7 the information was distributed," so I may have been in 

8 discussions about that, but I would not have directed that. 

9 Q The client team wasn't a team that reported to you; 

10 is that correct? 

11 A That's correct. 

12 Q They had their own reporting structure? 

13 A That's right. 

14 Q And legal didn't report to you? 

15 A That's right. 

16 Q Okay. So in this first quarter of 2007 timeframe, 

17 what role would you have in deciding what clients would 

18 actually get, in terms of documents or information about 

19 LDBF? 

20 MR. PEARLSTEIN: Are you asking what role did he 

21 have? 

22 MR. BAKER: I'm trying to understand if he had any 

23 role, first of all. 

24 BY MR. BAKER: 

25 Q So I understand there is client reporting, they 
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1 don't report to you, legal doesn't report to you, and that 

2 they would, I think you said they would have directed that 

1 review, at least quarterly, those portfolios with them. 

2 typically, it might be Mike Wands or other senior members of 

! 3 communication, if any, to clients. What sort of input would 3 the team. 
I i 4 you have? 4 Q Okay. So when you said "breach of guidelines," are 

I 5 A The investment teams would be responsible for 5 you referring to guidelines at a fund level, or guidelines at 

j 6 creating the content, subject to review by others, but the 6 a client level, or something else? 

I 7 informational content of such a communication, it was not the 7 A Guidelines at a fund level. Now, let me be 
I 
1 8 responsibility of the investment team to determine to whom, 8 specific. If it is a separate account, then it's a client 

j 9 if anyone, those, whatever they might be, those reports or 9 account, so it's the client level. 

!10 commentaries, might be distributed. 10 Q It is the same thing? 

111 Q Did LDBF use leverage? : 11 A Right. 

i 12 A Yes. f 12 Q And LDBF was not a separate account; is that 

!13 Q At what point in time? /13 correct? 

!14 A I believe LDBF used leverage since inception. ~1: 14 A That's correct. 

j15 Q And, let's say, in 2007, the first quarter, what 15 Q So there were clients that were invested in the 

I 16 did you know about how LDBF was using leverage? 116 strategy? 

/17 A I was aware that there was exposure to swaps of l17 A So in that case, the applicable guidelines would be 

1 18 different types. And that's, I guess, primarily what I think 118 the fund declaration. 

1

119 of. 19 Q Did you come to learn more in 2007, I guess after 

1 20 Q Can you think of anything else that you knew in the i 20 the first quarter, about how LDBF was using leverage? I 
121 first quarter of 2007, with regard to how LDBF was using 121 A Yes. 1 

1

22 leverage? i 22 Q What did you learn? I 

1 23 A No, I guess, not specifically. The portfolio ! 23 A I just, as we looked at the performance issues, you I 
I ~4 construction in individual strategies was something that, you f24 know, we would see the contributions to perform at different I 
L25 know, was not something that would come across my desk j25 types of trades they had on. I don't have specific I 
! -----· Page 871 Page 891 
I 1 necessarily, you know, unless there was a breach of / 1 recollections of individual trades, you know, at this point. 

2 guidelines. I 2 Q You would actually get that information, though? 

3 Q When you say "breach of guidelines," what do you 

1 

3 A The only reason I got that information was because 

4 mean? 4 we had an unusual set of circumstances, and I was looking 

5 A If a review of a portfolio found that there was 1 5 into it directly. Normally, as I mentioned, this information 

6 some type of breach in investment guidelines, I would likely I 6 would not, in the course of things, reach me, given my role. 
I 

7 hear about it from compliance, my risk management team, and! 7 Q And what was this information, can you describe it 

8 it was a standing question that I asked all of my direct i 8 a little bit more specifically? 

9 reports in our one-on-one meetings. I 9 A I guess I'm trying to respond to the information 

10 Q Did you have one-on-one meetings with the LDBF l1o you asked me about, you asked me about leverage, I believe. 

11 portfolio managers on a regular basis? /11 Q Yes, and we will come back to that. But you said 

12 A No. I would have one-on-one meetings with Paul 112 you would review some sort of information concerning trades, 

13 Greff. . . 113 what was that information? 

14 Q How about the one-on-one meetmgs, d1d those l 14 A What I'm saying is that, as this liquidity crisis 

15 meetings go below Paul Greff, in terms of the bond funds, do !15 deepened, we went into much, you know, I got involved in much 

16 

17 

you know? 

A Oh, yes, I mean, he had a responsibility to have 

18 those meetings, just as I did, with his own direct reports. 

19 And there were monthly and quarterly portfolio reviews with 

20 the risk management team and a member of compliance. 

21 Q Those would be the only two groups involved in 

22 these monthly or quarterly portfolio management meetings, 

23 risk management and compliance? 

~1 A Well, it would be the portfolio managers and Paul 

, Greff, if he were there, and, you know, he was required to 
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16 greater level of detail than I would under normal 

17 circumstances. Typically, I wouldn't be aware of specific 

18 trades in any of the equity, currency, or other portfolios, 

19 you know, teams that reported up into me, that --I had the 

20 whole staff of investment people whose job it was to look at 

21 those specifics. 

22 Q But at some point in time, with regard to LDBF, did 

23 you start to become aware of specific trades? 

24 A Yes. 

25 Q When was that? 
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MR. PEARLSTEIN: Objection. You can answer. 

THE WITNESS: I don't know. 

BY MR. BAKER: 

Q Let's move on to the August 2 letter which appears 

5 at the bottom of page 2 of the exhibit and runs on through 

6 the top of page 4. And you've had a chance to review that 

7 letter as well; is that correct? 

8 A I have. 

9 Q Now, this is a form letter, obviously, but have you 

10 seen any version of this letter? 

11 A I don't believe I've seen a version of this letter. 

12 Q Okay. Did you see a draft of this letter before it 

13 went out? 

A I don't recall seeing one. 14 

15 Q Did you have any communications with anyone 

16 concerning this letter or some version of it before it went 

17 out? Even if you didn't see the letter, did you have any 

18 communications about the letter? 

19 A I don't recall any specific conversations about 

20 that, no. 

21 Q How about anything at all? 

22 A I mean to the extent this covers some information 

23 that was covered elsewhere, I may have had conversations 

24 with -- about that. But I don't recall one specifically 

relating to this letter. 
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Q Well, do you know if you were asked for input on 

2 this letter? 

3 A I don't recall. 

4 Q Do you know of anyone who was asked for their input 

5 on this letter? 

6 A No, I don't recall. 

7 Q Do you know who drafted the letter? 

8 A No. 

9 Q Do you know who decided that SSgA would create the 

10 letter? 

11 A I'm not certain. 

12 Q Well, did you have any discussions with anyone 

13 about who had decided that the letter would go out in early 

14 August 2007 concerning the affected funds? 

15 A I have vague recollections of the desire to send 

16 out a letter to clients somewhere in this time frame. 

17 Q And what do you recall about that? 

18 A Just that there was a need to provide information 

19 to clients. 

20 Q Anything else? 

21 A Not that I can recall. 

22 Q How about what information, there was a need to 

23 provide information to clients? 

24 A No, I guess I don't have a recollection of--

; 25 Q Well, did you have any communications with anyone 
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1 in July or August 2007 about whether to notify clients about 

2 the total subprime exposure in the Limited Duration Bond Fund 

3 or the funds invested in that fund? 

4 A I recall that there were questions being asked 

5 about the total subprime exposure in those funds. 

6 Q What do you recall about that? 

7 A That we needed to calculate the exposure across the 

8 funds to subprime. 

9 Q And how about the specific issue of whether SSgA 

10 should or should not notify clients of the\ affected funds of 

11 their subprime exposure. any communications with anyone about 

12 that? Again, in this July/August time frame. 

13 A No. I think the nature of what would be disclosed 

14 would have been determined by compliance and legal. 

15 Q Does that mean you don't recall having any 

16 conversations about whether to communicate to clients the 

17 total subprime exposure and the affected funds in the 

18 July/August time frame? 

19 A I don't recall a conversation like that. 

20 Q Okay. And how about the leverage used by the 

21 Limited Duration Bond Fund and the affected funds? Any 

22 communications with anyone in the July/August 2007 time frame 

23 about whether SSgA should or shouldn't communicate that to 

A There were discussions about the means by which we 
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-- the different means by which we would define 

, ... Vt::Jage, and provide information. 

Q How about on the issue of whether to provide any 

4 information to clients about leverage, to all clients? Did 

5 that come up? 

6 A I don't remember a conversation about that. 

7 Q So the only thing you can remember about leverage-

S related conversations is just how to describe leverage if the 

9 question came up? 

10 A No. I remember discussions about how we should--

11 the different means of calculating and providing the 

12 information. 

13 Q And what do you mean by providing information? 

14 A Creating that information internally. I didn't 

15 know how that would be used. 

16 Q Okay. So you were involved in, I guess, how to 

17 describe it, but not whether it actually went to any clients? 

18 A That's correct. 

19 Q Okay. And on the issue of raising liquidity by 

20 month end July 2007 in anticipation of redemptions, did you 

21 have any communications with anyone about whether that 

22 subject should go out to all clients in the affected funds, 

23 any communications with anyone in the July/August 2007 time 

24 frame? 

25 A I don't recall a conversation about that, no. 
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Q Okay. And on the issue of the fact that the 

2 fiduciary groups, OFA, CAM, and GAA, either liquidated, 

3 decided to liquidate, or decided to recommend liquidation of 

4 the Limited Duration Bond Fund and the affected funds, any 

5 communications with anyone in July or August of 2007 

6 concerning whether SSgA should communicate that fact to 

7 clients? 

8 A No. I believe, as I mentioned, I believe that was 

9 a compliance and legal issue. 

10 Q Let's go on to the August 6th letter, which appears 

11 on page 4, top of page 5 of this exhibit. You've had an 

12 opportunity to read that letter; is that correct? 

13 A I have. 

14 Q Okay. Now, did you-- again, this is another form 

15 letter, but did you see a version of this letter prior to 

16 your testimony today? 

17 A I don't believe I did, no. 

18 Q So were you asked to comment or asked to provide 

19 input on a communication at least similar to the one we see 

20 here for the August 6th letter? 

21 A I don't recall being asked to comment on anything 

22 about this letter. This letter has some information that 

23 appears to be derivative from prior conversations -- from 

24 prior communications, rather. 

Q So you were aware of the issue, but you weren't 
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aware of what was being communicated to clients about it; is 

that correct? 

A Yeah. I was not-- I don't recall ever seeing the 

form letter that went out. 

Q All right. Well, did you know that clients were 

going to get some sort of a form letter about creating, I 

7 think you called it in your prior testimony, sister funds? 

8 A I knew that was going to be communicated. I don't 

9 know that I knew the form by which it would be communicated. 

1 0 Q And were you asked for your input on the 

11 communication, the sister funds issue? 

12 A I was involved in conversations about the creation 

13 of those sister funds. 
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1 believe in this asset class, in the Limited Duration Bond 

2 strategy, but need to manage the underlying assets directly 

3 because of their own respective daily liquidity requirements 

4 and their desire not to be negatively impacted by the 

5 liquidity decisions of others." 

6 Can you just explain the "desire not to be 

7 negatively impacted by the liquidity decisions of others," 

8 what that means? 

9 A Yes. The idea would be by taking the assets in 

10 kind into another portfolio, they could then manage purely to 

11 the liquidity needs of that particular portfolio instead of 

12 being affected by liquidity demands at the core portfolio 

13 itself. 

14 Q Okay. And can you just explain why somebody in a 

15 commingled fund during this July/August 2007 time frame migh: 

16 prefer to be in a fund that they aren't affected by liquidity 

17 decisions of others? 

18 A Where they are not affected by? 

19 Q Might prefer to be in a fund where they're not 

20 affected by. 

21 A Yes. The idea would be many clients'-- I believe 

22 many clients' and our view was that these assets were 

23 continuing to pay, they were continuing to generate cash 

24 flows, and the market conditions were stressed. So that 

if-- our belief was if you held on to them, there was a good 
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chance of a better outcome. 

2 Q And just the flip side of that coin, that if you 

3 have to sell in order to meet liquidity, what does that mean? 

4 A Well, you know, there's no perfect foresight, but 

5 generally the maxim would be that you would try to avoid 

6 selling when the market was starved for liquidity. And 

7 clearly the market could deteriorate more, and it could end 

8 up that that was a wise decision after all. But our view 

9 going forward would be that, in this case, was we thought it 

1 0 was better to offer the option to not be forced into creating 

11 liquidity. 

12 Q Okay. Well, is there an issue about a fear that 

13 the price of the fund might drop strictly as a result of 

14 Q But not about how to communicate that to clients? 14 needing to sell assets and not because of the fundamentals of 

15 A Not that I recall, no. 15 the assets in an illiquid market? 

16 Q There is a sentence here, it's right before the 16 A May I have that question again, please? 

17 bolded section, if you can see the bolded second near the 17 MR. BAKER: Read it back, Jim. 

18 bottom of page 4, that just describes the fact that these 18 (The reporter read back the record.) 

19 sister funds will be created. Who decided that that would 19 THE WITNESS: Now, they -- yes. I mean potentially 

20 happen? 20 it could be a problem. Again, no one could know for certain, 

21 A I don't know who ultimately took the-- took the 21 but generally our preference is-- would be to not to be 

22 decision to create the two types of funds. 22 forced to sell when we felt that there was a chaotic and 

23 Q Okay. And in this section I was referring to, it 23 illiquid market. 

24 says -- let me just read the whole sentence for completeness. 24 BY MR. BAKER: 

1 
25 "The SSgA funds are taking this step because they continue to 25 Q Okay. Let's move on to the August 14th letter, 
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A I really don't have much recollection of- I 

2 remember a meeting with Bill to discuss the letter, but I 

3 don't know if it was before or after the letter was drafted. 

4 Q Do you know if it was before or after the letter 

5 was sent to clients? 

6 A I had a discussion with Bill before the letter was 

7 written. 

8 Q Was there one conversation before the letter was 

9 written or more than one about sending the letter? 

10 A I'm not certain. 

11 Q Okay. Well, what do you remember about the 

12 conversation you had with Mr. Hunt prior to you writing the 

13 letter, the August 2007 letter sent under your name? 

14 MR. PEARLSTEIN: Do you mean prior to sending it 

15 out? 

16 MR. BAKER: I think prior to drafting it is my 

17 question. That's his testimony. 

18 THE WITNESS: Yes. I recall meeting in his office 

19 and telling him that I thought that-- that I thought we 

20 should send out a letter. I thought I should send out a 

21 letter describing, as best we could, what was going on in the 

22 market. 

23 BY MR. BAKER: 

24 Q Anyone else in his office at that meeting? 

25 A Not that I recall. 

1 

2 
3 

Q When was the meeting? 

A I'm not certain. 

Q Did you take any notes during the meeting? 

4 A I may have. I don't have my notes, so -- it may be 

5 in f'!lY notes. 

6 Q Okay. You don't recall one way or the other, 

7 though? 

8 A I don't recall taking notes. 

i 603 

9 Q How about memorializing the meeting other than in 

10 notes? Did you do that? 

11 A It was frequently my practice to do that. I don't 

12 know that I did in this case. 

13 Q And what was your practice specifically? 
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letter or were there other topics that came up in the meeting 

2 as well? 

3 A I don't recall. If it were a regularly scheduled 

4 meeting, we would have gone through some other things. If it 

5 was about this, it would have just been about this. I don't 

6 know. 

7 Q Okay. At least you can't think of any other topics 

8 that came up at the meeting? 

9 A I can't, no. 

10 Q Okay. So did you raise the issue about sending a 

11 letter under your name or did he raise that at this meeting? 

12 A I raised that issue. 

13 Q And what specifically, in as much detail as you can 

14 recall, did you say about that? 

15 A I said that our client service people were 

16 reporting that our clients were looking for more information, 

17 and I felt it was important to -- to provide them with some 

18 sort of information. 

19 Q Anything else about what you told Mr. Hunt that you 

20 can remember? 

21 A I told him that I wanted -- you know, that I was 

22 willing to send that out under my name, and I thought it was 

23 the right thing to do. 

24 Q Anything else you can remember about what you told 

him? 
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A About what I told him. No. 

2 Q And you said your client service people were 

3 looking for more information. What were they looking for? 

4 A Well, just in general the client service people 

5 were frustrated that there were a lot of delays in providing 

6 information to the clients. 

7 Q Were they specific, the client service people, in 

8 what types of information they wanted to have included in the 

9 letter? 

10 A They may have been. I don't really recall. 

11 Q Tell me more about these delays that caused 

12 frustration. 

13 A I think there was an effort to make sure -- very 

14 A I usually just took handwritten notes. /14 chaotic market conditions, things changing very rapidly, and 

15 Q Okay. But other than notes, I mean did you go back !15 just there hadn't been a lot of information that had been 

16 and type in anywhere, "This is what happened in the meeting"?l16 sent out, and the client service people were getting a lot of 

17 A I don't recall doing that. 1 17 questions. 

18 Q And did you have this meeting with Mr. Hunt as a 118 Q I guess stepping out, and we'll come back to this 

19 previously scheduled meeting or did you just go to his 

20 office? 

21 A I don't know whether it was a regularly scheduled 

22 meeting or separate one. 

23 Q How long was the meeting? 

24 A Don't know. 

25 Q And was the meeting only about whether to send a 
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19 conversation, but the late July '07 letter that we see on 

20 page 2, I have a question about it. But do you recall 

21 frustration concerning the time that it took to get that 

22 letter out to clients? 

23 A Yes. 

24 Q What do you recall about that? 

25 A Just that the -- historically our practice was to 
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1 get information out to clients, you know, whenever they 

2 requested it. as soon as we could possibly do it, and it 

3 seemed like this process had gotten encumbered and wasn't 

4 moving very quickly. 

5 Q And tell me more about that. the process being 

6 encumbered and not moving quickly; why was that happening, in 

7 your view at the time? 

8 A I don't know. The decision-making process for 

9 actually sending something out certainly wasn't ultimately up 

10 to me. So I got the sense that these conversations were 

11 going on between Marc Brown and Bill Hunt and perhaps legal. 

12 Q Well, in what sense did you get, even if you 

13 weren't directly involved in some of the communications, what 

14 was your sense about the reasons why the process was 

15 encumbered with regard to the late July letter in getting 

16 that out? 

17 A What I recall -- I shouldn't say what I recall. 

18 What I believe, it had to do with getting Bill's sign-off to 

19 send something out. 

20 Q Okay. So Mr. Hunt needed to sign off on -we'll 

21 flip back to your letter in a minute. But he needed to sign 

22 off on the July 27, '07 form letter that we see in Exhibit 

23 251? 

24 A I don't know if he needed to, but in that 

. 25 situation, at least, that was part of the process. 

1 A Well, to the extent there's a reconciliation 

2 problem, it would by definition extend to performance. 

3 Q Well, can you provide any more, I guess, substance 

4 on what this issue was other than what you already have? 

5 A I think toward the end of July, or maybe it was 

6 August, again, I'm not certain this was before this letter, 

7 there -- we had a lot of turnover in operations, and there 

8 was - there were getting to be some backups in 

9 reconciliation of positions, custody versus the portfolio 

10 management systems. 

11 Q Are there any other impressions that you had in 

12 this July time frame, other than Mr. Hunt being- having to 

13 sign off on the letter and some operations-related issues, as 

14 to why the letter was held up? 

15 A I wasn't privy to, you know, who, again, from a 

16 legal or a compliance standpoint, what -- what may have gone 

17 through that level. So there rnay have been something there. 

18 I don't know. 

I
. 19 Q Okay. Anything else? 

20 A Not that I can think of. 

21 Q Did you have any communications with anyone in 

22 particular about this whole issue of a letter being held up 

23 in July? 

24 A Are we talking about this July 27th letter? 

25 Q Yes . 
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Q Okay. So that was one reason why it was held up 1 A I may have. I don't have a recollection. 

2 for some time? 

3 A That's only the impression I get from just what 

4 was --what was going on around me. 

5 Q Okay. What other impressions did you have about 

6 the delay or the encumbrance of getting a letter out in July? 

7 A I'm not certain about the time frame, but I think 

8 there may have been some systems issues with respect to 

9 operations providing some of the data. 

10 Q Is that that Onyx thing you were referring to 

11 earlier about getting the communications out? 

12 A No. That would have been more related to the 

13 accounting side of things. 

14 Q What do you mean? 

15 A They-- at some point, I'm not sure it was July, it 

16 could have been after that, I think there was some-- some 

17 systems-related problems in getting out some of the 

18 

19 

information. 

Q Are you talking like numerical data about how the 

20 fund performed or are you talking about something else? I'm 

21 just not following. 

22 A It could have been -- could have been performance-

23 related or relating to -- what's the word I'm looking for? 

24 Reconciliation between the systems. 

25 Q And are these performance-related systems? 
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2 Q Okay. So let's go back to the meeting that you had 

3 with Mr. Hunt where you were in his office and you're talking 

4 about whether to draft a letter and the letter hasn't been 

5 drafted yet; is that correct? 

6 A That's correct. 

7 Q And it's a letter that's going to go out 

8 potentially under your name? 

9 A Yes. 

10 Q Okay. And you just described what you said to Mr. 

11 Hunt. What did he say in response? 

12 

13 

14 

A His first response was that he didn't think it was 

a good idea. 

Q Did he just say that or did he elaborate? 

15 A Well, I mean he couldn't -- he was questioning why 

16 I would want to send out a letter like that. 

17 Q Okay. Can you be a little more specific? Was his 

18 issue that the letter maybe shouldn't go under your name or 

19 there shouldn't be a letter at all or something other than 

20 that? 

21 A I don't recall a question of-- I told him I wanted 

22 to send it out under my name. 

23 Q Okay. 

24 A I think he was not certain that-- that it made 

out this letter. 
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Q Any letter about the substantive content that you 

2 wanted to send? 

3 A I think we were talking about the letter that I 

4 wanted to write. 

5 Q Okay. So his issue was a letter, not it going out 
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1 if you will. You start drafting a letter. How do you do 

2 that? What information are you looking for? Are you 

3 reaching out to people for information? What happens? 

4 A Well, as I mentioned, you know, we had pulled 

5 together a lot of information already with the investment 

6 under your name being an issue? ' 6 team, with our research analysts, with product engineering, 

7 A Well, I do think he wondered why I would be willing 7 with our economists. So this was an ongoing conversation. So 

8 to send out a letter. 8 there was a lot of fresh information there. And what I 

9 Q Okay. Did Mr. Hunt elaborate at all? 9 wanted to do was -- so I drew from all those - all those 

10 A He said something to the effect of, you know, "Why 10 sources, and, again, I may have had-- I don't recall this 

11 would you raise your head up?" In other words, that it would 11 happening, but it could be that maybe Patricia Hudson or one 

12 likely make more things - the impression at least I got from 12 of our writers might have gone through and edited the letter, 

13 what he said was that it was risky for me to do that. 13 although I don't remember her specifically doing that in this 

14 Q To send a letter under your name? 14 case. 

15 A Yes. 15 Q Okay. And what other conversations did you have 

16 Q And did he elaborate at all on that? 16 with Mr. Hunt about this letter before it went out, other 

17 A I -- I don't recall that. And he did ultimately 17 than that first meeting before you started drafting it? 

18 agree to it. 18 A I think after it went through legal and after 

19 Q Well, did he agree to it at this meeting or after 19 whatever the final edits were, I think we may have talked 

20 the meeting? 20 about it before it actually got released to client service. 

21 A I think he agreed at that meeting. 21 Q And what did you talk about? 

22 Q Okay. So what was your response? I mean he raises 22 A I'm just-- I don't remember a conversation about 

I
. 23 this as an issue, "Why do you want to put yourself out 23 it, but I suspect we went through the final version before it 

1
24 there," and then what do you say? 24 went out. 

~ A My response is that I think we owed our clients an 25 Q So your testimony is you think you had a 
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I 
1 explanation of what was going on. Our practice had always 1 conversation with Mr. Hunt about something close to a final 

2 been to be very forthcoming, and, you know, the market was in 2 version of the letter, but you just don't remember the 

I 3 disarray. We needed to - my view was we needed to explain 3 conversation? 

' 4 as best we could what was going on in this marketplace. 4 A That's correct. 

5 Q Well, and how about on the issue of whether the 5 Q Okay. Now, earlier on when you first looked at 

6 letter should go under your name or just the "Dear valued 

7 client" signed by SSgA type letter that came out July 27th? 

8 Did you provide any reasoning on why it should go under your 

9 name instead of just the SSgA? 

1 0 A I just - I just felt that it was appropriate and, 

11 you know, I was willing to put my name on it. 

12 Q Anything else you told him about that? 

13 A Not that I recall. 

14 Q And what was his response? 

15 A Well, you know, I think he was a little chagrined. 

16 I don't think he really understood why I would want to do 

17 that or be willing to do that, but he did ultimately agree to 

18 let me do it. 

19 Q And you think he agreed in that meeting? 

20 A I think so. I'm not sure. 

21 Q Okay. So what's the next step you took with regard 

22 to this letter after the meeting with Mr. Hunt? 

23 A I'm assuming I began to draft it. I may have begun 

24 to draft it beforehand. I don't know. 

25 Q Okay. And just, you know, paint a picture for us, 
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6 this letter, you testified that some groups like the 

7 performance group might have provided some information. 

8 Looking at this letter, can you just kind of walk me through 

9 and point out, well, you know, this sentence or this piece of 

10 the letter was provided by X, Y, Z? 

11 A Well, when I mentioned the performance group having 

12 input, I think I was referring to another letter in which--

13 in which performance was - specific performance was 

14 indicated. 

15 Q Okay. Well, let me broaden the question. With 

16 regard to this August 14th letter, is there anything in here 

17 that you can identify as, you know, a sentence, a phrase, 

18 anything that wasn't from you, but it was something that was 

19 drafted or created by somebody else within SSgA? 

20 A Well, so, for example, I'm sure I didn't do the 

21 calculation of how many quarters the strategy had 

22 outperformed. 

23 Q The 15 out of 21 quarters? 

24 A Right. 

25 Q Okay. 
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1 (SEC Exhibit No. 677 was marked for 

2 identification.) 

3 BY MR. BAKER: 

4 Q All right. You've just had placed before you a new 

5 exhibit that was just marked as Exhibit 677, and it's Bates 

6 numbered SS 7858734 through 7858737, and this is an e-mail 

7 from Patricia Hudson on July 12th, 2007 to Staci Reardon, 

8 Larry Carlson, Maureen Fitzgerald, copied to you, Adele 

9 Kohler, Frank Gianatasio, Michael Thompson, Michael Wands, 

10 and the subject is "Client letter on subprime woes and/or Fl 

11 portfolios." There's an attachment which on the front page 

12 of the letter it says it's called "5-subprime CAR alert for 

13 June '07 ph v4.doc.zip." And I'll just read a portion of the 

14 e-mail and follow up with a question on that. 

15 It says, "Staci, Larry, and Maureen: Attached is 

16 an updated version of the client letter discussing our active 

17 fixed income portfolios in light of the sub prime problems. 

18 This version has been reviewed by Sean, Adele, Frank 

19 Gianatasio, Mike Wands, and Mike Thompson." And it goes on. 

20 With regard to that statement she makes here, "This 

21 version has been reviewed by Sean, Adele, Frank Gianatasio," 

22 Wands, and Thompson, do you understand that the Sean here is 

23 you? 

24 A Yes, I would assume that's me. 

Q Okay. So as of the date of this e-mail, is she 

correct that you had reviewed the Jetter? 

2 A I don't recall reviewing the letter. I may have 

3 reviewed the letter. I -- I can't recollect for certain at 

4 this point. 

5 Q And then she says in the e-mail, "Given the 
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6 potential future scrutiny that could face all official State 

7 Street communications regarding our subprime exposure, it 

8 might make sense to have the legal department review this 

9 before it goes out as well." 

10 Had you prior to this e-mail had any discussions 

11 with Ms. Hudson about whether legal should review this draft 

letter? 12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

A It was -- I'm not sure when they occurred, but I 

believe I instructed Patricia Hudson to make sure that all 

these types of communications be reviewed by legal. 

Q Okay. When did you have that discussion with her? 

A I'm not certain. It's likely right around this --

18 this period, but I'm not certain. 

19 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

20 Q Was it in connection with the July 26 letter or a 

21 prior letter that you first suggested that legal needed to 

22 review correspondence before it went out to clients? 

23 A You know, I'm sure client service had their own 

• processes for legal review, and I may have prior to this also 

requested that legal review these things. But, you know, I 
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1 believe, again, sometime right in this period I believe I 

2 instructed her to make sure that legal had reviewed the 

3 letter. 

4 BY MR. BAKER: 

5 Q What was your understanding as of the time of this 

6 particular e-mail whether legal had done any review of this 

7 letter already? 

8 A I don't know. It's still in draft stage, as far as 

9 I can tell. And she does indicate that -- that it might make 

10 sense to have legal review it. So I don't know if they had 

11 reviewed it up to this point or not. 

12 Q Okay. Well, your recollection is-- and you can't 

13 put a time frame on it, and I understand -- but your 

14 recollection is that you instructed Ms. Hudson that legal 

15 should review the letter; is that correct? 

16 A Yes. 

17 Q Okay. Prior to you giving that instruction to Ms. 

18 Hudson, what was your understanding as to whether legal had 

19 already reviewed the letter at all, even seen a draft of it? 

20 A I don't know. Again, I believe it was still 

21 internal at this point. But I don't know the answer to that. 

22 Q And when you say "internal at this point," do you 

23 mean internal among business people as opposed to not legal 

24 people? 

25 A No. What I mean is at this point, as far as I can 
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tell, we were going back and forth on edits of the 

2 prospective letter, and I simply don't know whether legal had 

3 been brought into the loop at this point. But to the best of 

4 my knowledge, this -- this letter was not sent out until --

5 nothing was sent out until legal had reviewed it. 

6 Q Okay. Is it fair to say that the business people, 

7 whoever they may be, and as opposed to not legal, did the 

8 initial draft of the July 26th letter? 

9 A I think that's-- I don't see-- I'm not certain, 

10 but I don't see them- anybody from legal-- on the 

11 circulation list at this point. It could be that there were 

12 already discussions with legal. 

13 Q What's your recollection of who -- of what role 

14 legal had, if any, in putting together the first draft of the 

15 July 26th letter? 

16 A I don't know. 

17 Q You just don't know one way or the other? 

18 A I don't know one way or another. 

19 Q Do you know who drafted the first version of the 

20 July 26th letter? 

21 A No. 

22 Q Do you know who decided that the July 26th letter 

23 should be created? 

24 A No. 

25 Q Were you first involved in the July 26th letter 
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! 1 within -- within fixed income, and the existing fixed income 1 had with respect to the drafting or editing of the August 2, 

I 2 strategies that limited the amount of allocation to the 2 2007 letter? 
! ! 3 Limited Duration Bond Fund. US PALMS is something that 3 A No. I've reviewed the track edits, and it just 

I 4 started -- if I'm correct, I'm pretty sure -- sort of after i 4 doesn't ring a bell to me. 

I 5 that policy. So it could be that that same limitation didn't I 5 Q Okay. And can you think of anything that would 

I 6 apply. I'm just not sure. I 6 help-- help you recall whether you edited the letter either 

1 7 Q Okay. Now, I don't know if you want to look back 1
1 

7 before this date or after this time? 

I 8 to it or not. I'm not going to have a real particular 
1 

8 A I -- no. 

j 9 question about it, but the Exhibit 16 that we started with ! 9 Q Okay. If we look at the end of the Exhibit 693 of 

/ 10 here includes as one of the-- I do want to go back to i 10 the track changes edits here, you had treated an underline as 

!11 Exhibit 692 and 693. But Exhibit 16 has a copy of the final !11 what you've added to the letter, and then to the right you'll 
. I 
j12 version of the August 2, 2007 letter. So I just wanted to j12 see deleted for what's been subtracted? 

113 note that if you need to look at it for any reason. 113 A Yes. 

!14 A Okay. 14 Q Okay. And why did you make the edits to the 

115 Q But also for the record that we know, at least from 1 15 "Actions Taken" section that we see here, adding content and 

1

16 this document, that on August 2, 2007, that letter goes out /16 subtracting content? If you want to just walk through each 

17 to clients, according to Exhibit 16. j17 sentence, if that helps. 

118 A I'm sorry, which letter? This? 1 18 A Well, again, I don't have a recollection of doing 

119 MR. PEARLSTEIN: The August 2nd letter. !19 that. So Jet me just review again the difference. 

1 
20 BY MR. BAKER: !20 Q Uh-huh. 

1

21 Q I just wanted to get the time frame down. So we're 1 21 A (Pause.) I think the difference is that-- is that 

22 looking at an e-mail of yours of August 1, 2007 that has some !22 in my edit, we --we acknowledge that there is some 

123 edits to a letter. 1

1

23 deterioration in longer-term fundamentals. But essentially 1· 

j24 A Okay. I 24 -- but we still see price action being dominated by leverage 

~ 25 Q And the final version, which is different, is dated 1:5 and liquidity. So the difference-- the difference between I 
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1 August 2, 2007, according to Exhibit 16. 1 the two I think would be primarily observing that there is I 
2 A Okay. 2 some deterioration in the fundamentals. I 
3 Q So when did you first see a draft of the August 2, I 3 Q You wanted to make sure that the letter noted that 1 

4 '07 letter? I 4 fact, that there was some -- in addition, State Street felt I 
5 A I don't know. I 5 that there was some deterioration in the long-term 

1 

6 Q Was Exhibit 693 the first time that you provided 6 fundamentals, or at least acknowledging that? 1 

7 suggested edits to the August 2, 2007 letter? I 7 A Again, I don't recall making these changes, but as 

8 A I don't recall any edits, so I don't recall any j 8 I read these edits, that's what it would say to me. 

9 before this, no. : 9 Q Okay. And does that cover all of the edits that 

10 Q But these are your edits; whether you recall them !1 0 you made here in the "Actions Taken" section as to why they 

11 or not, you acknowledge that they're your edits; is that /11 would be there? 
I 

12 right? /12 A I guess as I read this today, and I'm not sure I'm 

13 A Well, it looks to me like they are. 113 tracking exactly where every-- where every one of those 

14 Q Okay. And you don't recall making any edits prior 1 14 edits is ultimately inserted. I don't see anything that 
1 

15 to 7:53a.m. on August 1, 2007? j15 really changes the meaning of the sentence, maybe tightens u~ 
16 A I don't, no. j16 a little bit. 

17 Q Okay. And how about after this e-mail? Did you i 17 Q Okay. Well, let me read you the sentence as it 

18 provide any further edits or comments on the August 2, 2007 118 exists, and I'll note what appears to be deleted according to 

19 letter? i 19 the track changes. There's a sentence that starts, "Within I 

20 A I actually don't-- I don't remember-- I don't j20 the Limited Duration Bond Fund we have reduced." Do you se1 

21 really recall the August 2 letter at all. So I don't really ! 21 that? 1 

22 have a recollection of it. 122 A Yes. 1 

23 Q Okay. Well, I guess other than the Exhibit 693 and /23 Q So "Within the Limited Duration Bond Fund, we have I 
?4 what we see as track changes to a letter, is there anything 124 reduced exposure to a significant portion of BBB securities, I 
25 else that would refresh your recollection as to any role you I 25 we have sold a large amount of our AAA cash positions and I (,, ____________________ ._ j_ ___________________________ , _ ___j 
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1 A Yes. 

2 Q And then there's a sentence that says, "While we 

3 will continue to liquidate assets for our clients when they 

4 demand it, we believe that many judicious investors will hold 

5 their positions in anticipation of greater liquidity in the 

6 months to come." 

7 Do you see that? 

8 A I do. 

9 Q Now, if we look back at Exhibit 654, you'll notice, 

10 I think, pretty quickly that it's different in terms of 
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For example, instead of saying, "Our advice is to hold the 

2 position-- on positions for now," it says, "We believe that 

3 many judicious investors will hold the positions in 

4 anticipation of greater liquidity in the months to come." 

5 Who decided to revise that sentence? 

6 MR. PEARLSTEIN: You can answer. 

7 THE WITNESS: I can answer? 

8 MR. PEARLSTEIN: Yes. 

9 A Mark Duggan, I believe. 

10 BY MR. BAKER: 

11 sentence. So you look at the bottom of FLAN 1598, above the/' 11 Q And did you have some sort of a communication with 

12 paragraph that starts "Each of us involved in managing," 12 Mr. Duggan about this specific sentence? 

13 which is very near the bottom-- 13 A Well, Mark edited the entire letter, as I recall. 

14 A Yes. 14 Q Okay. Tell me about your-- I'll follow up with 

15 Q --there's a sentence that says, "While we will 15 questions, but just exhaust for me sitting here right now of 

16 continue to liquidate assets for our clients when they demand 16 Mark Duggan's edits to the August 14th letter in terms of 

17 it, our advice is to hold the positions for now." 17 discussions you had with him about the edits and what type of 

18 Do you see that? 18 edits he made. 

19 A I do. 19 A I think they just went back and forth in e-mail by 

20 Q Okay. So having read that and having read a 20 -- I remembered this one in particular. I can't say any 

21 similar sentence, but a different sentence, from Exhibit 80, 21 other ones -- I think there were other ones as well, but I 

22 the final version of the letter, does that refresh your \22 can't tell you what they were. 

23 recollection that Exhibit 654 is indeed a draft of the August 23 Q You and he went back and forth on e-mail? I 
24 14, 2007 letter? 24 

A Yes, it does. 25 
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Okay. Who drafted the sentence that I read from 

A Yn. ~' 
Q Okay. How about any in-person or on-the-telephone 
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Q 

2 the Exhibit 654, the one that says, "While we will continue 

3 to liquidate assets for our clients when they demand it, our 

4 advice is to hold the positions for now"? Who did the first 

5 draft of that sentence? 

6 A I believe I did. 

7 Q Okay. And why did you want to include that 

8 sentence in this letter? 

9 A Because there was -- clients were wondering what to 

10 do. We were in unprecedented --an unprecedented situation 

11 in the market, at least for the past 30 or so years. And we 

12 were sort of wondering what to do. 

13 Q That was something that you knew clients were 

14 asking of their client service personnel? 

15 A Yes. 

16 Q And how did you become aware of that? 

17 A You know, a number of client service people 

18 communicated in different ways. I believe Larry Carlson was 

19 --the most specifically addressed it, the issue, to me that 

20 there was a need for some kind of communication. 

21 Q About what clients should do? 

22 A Not about what clients would do. About what was 

23 going on in the marketplace. 

'<4 Q Okay. Now, we saw, and I read it just a minute 

3 ago, but in Exhibit 80 the sentence is obviously different. 
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1 conversations about the letter? Did you have any of those 

1

1 

2 with Mr. Duggan? 

3 A We may have. I don't recall them if we did. 

4 Q Okay. So you're saying there may have been other 

5 edits, but this edit, the edit that we've read now, from the 

6 "Our advice is to hold" to "We believe many judicious," 

7 that's one edit that you remember Mr. Duggan making? 

8 A That's right. 

9 Q And did he tell you why he thought that edit should 

10 be made? 

11 A Not that I recall. 

12 Q He just revised it, made some sort of revision, and 

13 you accepted it without any discussion? 

14 A Yeah. I think typically when it comes to these 

15 edits, we would simply send things back and forth with track 

16 changes instead of doing things verbally to keep better track 

17 of what needed to change. 

18 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

19 Q Did you have any questions as to why this edit 

20 needed to happen? 

21 A Not really. I assumed there was a legal reason 

22 that this was a better way to make that point than I had. 

23 Q Did you know -- was it ever told you what that 

24 legal reason might be? 

25 A I don't recall asking him. 

I . I 

I 
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1 Q Do you understand what the difference might be 

2 between the original language and the language as the letter 

3 went out? 

4 A May I hear the question again, please? 

5 Q What's your understanding of the difference between 

6 the language as you originally drafted it and as it 

7 ultimately went out over your signature? 

8 A I think the difference is that he's saying -- I 

9 don't think there's really much difference in it. Instead of 

10 just holding one view, sort of holding out the idea that "We 

11 believe that many judicious investors will hold their 

12 positions," I think, you know, by inference we can say some 

13 will not. But it gets to the -- the issue of holding on to 

14 the position in anticipation of greater liquidity, which I 

15 think is more precise than what I had in my sentence. 

16 BY MR. BAKER: 
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1 A I don't think he did, but, you know-- you know, 

2 I'm an investment guy, not an attorney. I worked with Mark 

3 for many, many years. If he suggests an edit, I have reason 

4 to believe that there was a good reason for that. 

5 Q Sure. What I'm trying to figure out is how he 

6 suggested it to you. Did he simply send back a revised 

7 version or did he actually say to you, "I suggest this 

8 change, and here's why," either by typing or by saying that 

9 to you in person? 

10 A I think it was in that track change mode. Again, I 

11 don't have a photographic memory of it, but --

12 Q Are you aware of any other people who had input in 

13 the letter before it came back to you with that change made? 

14 A I don't-- I think-- I think-- I think there may 

15 have been a series of suggested edits on which Mark, as I 

16 recall, was included in every one of them. There may well 

17 Q Was there anything else that you remember about ~ 17 have been more than one, but I'm not certain how many. 

18 communications you had with Mr. Duggan about this? I'll give 18 MR. BAKER: 

19 you an example. Was Mr. Duggan adamant that the change b 19 Q Do you have any recollection of when Mr. Duggan 

20 made? Did you perceive that anywhere? 20 made the edit? 

21 A I don't know that he was adamant. I trusted Mark !21 A I'm trying to-- I believe that-- I don't remember 

22 Duggan's input. His input was required; it was part of the 

23 process. His changes seemed reasonable to me. And so I 

24 don't know that he was adamant, but I respect his 

25 capabilities and his knowledge, and I believe I simply just 
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1 accepted the changes that he proffered. 

2 Q And you have no recollection of him stating the 

3 basis for the reason why he wanted the change? 

4 A You know, I -- no. I don't think -- I don't think 

5 so, no. 

6 Q And the language that we see in the final version 

7 of the letter about "judicious investors," was that exactly 

8 the way he proposed his change, or was there any further 

9 back-and-forth with you, like a compromise language or 

1 0 anything like that? 

11 A No. I think it was exactly. I could be-- I don't 

12 have, I mean, perfect memory of that, but I believe it was 

13 exactly what he suggested we substitute there. 

14 Q Okay. And he didn't suggest that the sentence 

15 totally come out? He just suggested an edit; is that 

16 correct? 

17 A I -- I think he just suggested that, an edit. I 

18 don't recall any suggestion that the sentence come out. 

19 Q Okay. 

20 BY MS. BARAN: 

21 Q Mr. Flannery, did he inform you of this change just 

22 by sending the revised version back to you? Was there any 

23 other back-and-forth? Did he explain it in his e-mail? Did 

24 he pick up the phone and call you and tell you why he 

~5 suggested the edit? 
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22 the timing, but I think -- I think there were a series of 

23 edits that took place over a couple of days and maybe even a 

veekend. But I may have my days mixed up. 

j25 Q Okay. 

(SEC Exhibit No. 694 was marked for 

identification.) 

3 BY MR. BAKER: 

4 Q You've just had placed before you Exhibit 694, and 

5 this is an e-mail from you to Mark Duggan on August 8th, 
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6 2007, copy to Staci Reardon, Larry Carlson and Adele Kohler, 

7 subject: "Draft CIO letter." And the attached document is 

8 called SPF Bond letter v1.doc.zip, SPF, your initials; 

9 correct? 

10 A Yes. 

11 Q Okay. Bates numbers of this Exhibit are SS-SEC 

12 118355 through 118358. 

13 And if you look at the last page of the exhibit, 

14 118358, you'll see at the top that it's the "judicious 

15 investor" language. Do you see that? 

16 A I do. 

17 Q So, I guess, does this at least help you recall 

18 that whatever communication you had with Mr. Duggan where he 

19 suggested revising that sentence must have occurred before 

20 the date and time of this e-mail, Exhibit 694? 

21 A That would make sense to me. 

22 Q Okay. 

23 MR. PEARLSTEIN: Well, he's asking -I think the 

24 question was refreshing recollection. 

25 MR. BAKER: Yes. 
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1 leverage worked or how derivatives were accounted for in 

2 those descriptions? 

3 A I don't know, because as I mentioned, I really 

4 didn't see fact sheets, so I don't know the answer to that. 

5 Q Well, the conversation you had with Mr. Wands, did 

6 he bring anything to your attention like, "This is how it's 

7 being done," and this is good or bad? Did he explain that? 

8 A I really related to you what I recall as part of 

9 the conversation just that, you know, when he explained that 

1 0 it was, you know, a normalized approach, I was just a little 

11 bit surprised at that, and-- and, you know, he explained 

12 that that's the way the client service people had asked and 

13 that -- for, and that clients found our other way of 

14 reporting it confusing. 

15 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

16 Q How did you learn that they were using this 

17 normalized approach? 

18 A The only thing I recall ever on that conversation 

19 was, you know, kind of a quick conversation with Mike when 

20 somehow this issue arose. 

21 Q So is it your testimony that you learned this from 

22 Mr. Wands in 2007? 

23 A That's the way I recall it. I don't have any other 

recollection of it. 

BY MS. BARAN: 

Page 967 

1 Q Why did he bring it up to you? 

2 A I -- I don't remember the circumstances. You know, 

3 I can sort of-- I don't know how the topic came up, but--

4 but I just remember saying, "Yeah, well, the exposure summed 

5 100 to 100 percent." I said, "Well, why is that?" 

6 And he said, "Actually, you know, it came from 

7 Penny." You know, "Clients were confused about negative 

8 cash," and, you know, something along those lines. 

9 And it was a quick conversation, you know, in a 

10 difficult period where there were lots of things going on. I 

11 don't really remember more than that about it. I think Mike 

12 was working on it, but --

13 Q Well, what was your instruction to Mike Wands as to 

14 what to do? Or recommendation. 

15 A I don't remember specifically what I said to him 
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1 BY MR. BAKER: 

2 Q Looking back at 696, Mr. Armstrong weighs in with 

3 an e-mail with several points. His last bullet is "Include 

4 that cash balance whether the market value is in excess of 

5 100 percent or below 100 percent" --

6 MR. PEARLSTEIN: Market exposure. 

7 Q "Include that cash balance whether the market 

8 exposure is in excess of 1 00 percent or below 1 00 percent. 

9 For to disguise the cash balance when the market exposure 

1 0 exceeds 1 00 percent is intuitively inexplicable and 

11 indefensible." 

12 Did you ever have any communications with Mr. 

13 Armstrong about this issue? 

14 A I don't remember a discussion with Patrick 

15 Armstrong about this issue. 

16 Q Any recollection at all of Mr. Armstrong 

17 expressing, I guess, a strong view about how State Street 

18 Global Advisors should disclose sector exposures or not go 

19 about disclosing sector exposures in client communications? 

20 A He was very involved, certainly in 2007, as, you 

21 know, we generated different measures of risk and leverage 

22 and things like that. Patrick, and his team, was very 

23 involved in that at that point. 

24 Q In 2007? 

25 A Yeah. Patrick reviewed-- Patrick's team reviewed 
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1 risk on the portfolios on a monthly and a quarterly basis 

2 with the investment teams throughout the whole period. To 

3 the best of my knowledge, I mean he had that. I don't know 

4 if he had information the way he constructed it in this 

5 particular case. And, yeah, I see that they've included IT 

6 people on this as well. So they may have been looking at how 

7 to get that into the fact sheets, but I don't have any 

8 recollection of it. 

9 Q Okay. And no recollection of Armstrong expressing 

1 0 strong views on how sector exposures were described to 

11 clients prior to 2007? 

12 A I don't recall that issue coming up with Patrick. 

13 Q Before we take a short break, but with regard to 

14 Exhibit 80, your August 14, 2007 letter, and the sentence 

15 that Mr. Duggan edited where he suggested, according to your 

16 about that that day. 16 earlier testimony, an edit that should say, "We believe many 

17 Q Did you provide any instruction or recommendation : 17 judicious investors will hold their position in anticipation 

18 to anyone about anything you felt needed to be done about the r 18 of greater liquidity in the months to come," do you have any 

19 way this was decided? 19 recollection of anything that Mr. Duggan said to you in 

20 A Well, if I -- I believe it was --the time period 20 writing or orally or in any other way that made you believe 

21 in which there was a lot of focus on the Limited Duration 21 that the sentence in the final letter was appropriate, 

22 Bond Fund and everything about how we represented the 22 legally appropriate, in light of what GAA and OFA had decided 

23 characteristics of that. So I think that work was already 23 to do with their investors' investments in the limited 

"4 underway, but I don't remember anything specific at that 24 Duration Bond Fund and funds invested in that fund? 

S time, no. 25 A Mark Duggan was a party to the discussions and, to 
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1 the best of my knowledge, was fully aware of what was going 

2 on with the different groups. So, no, I don't recall him --

3 any -- any question with respect to whether that was -- that 

4 needed to be changed. 

5 Q In light of what GAA and OFA had--

6 

7 

8 

9 

A Yes. 

Q -- already decided? 

A Right. 

MR. BAKER: Okay. Let's just take a short break so 

10 we can talk. Maybe like five minutes or so. We're off the 

11 record. 

12 (A brief recess was taken.) 

13 MR. BAKER: We're back on the record at about 3:20 

14 p.m. on March 2, 2010. 

15 And, Mark, other than the issue of the fact that 

16 we're concluding and adjourning and not closing the record, 

17 no conversations of any substance between staff and the 

18 witness or staff and counsel during the break; is that 

19 correct? 

20 MR. PEARLSTEIN: That is correct. 

21 BY MR. BAKER: 

1 

2 

3 

Page 972 

REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE 

4 I, James A. Scally, reporter, hereby certify that the 

5 foregoing transcript of 163 pages is a complete, true and 

6 accurate transcript of the testimony indicated, held on March 

7 2, 2010, at 9:00a.m. in the matter of: State Street Global 

8 Advisors. 

9 

10 

11 I further certify that this proceeding was recorded by me, 

12 and that the foregoing transcript has been prepared under my 

13 direction. 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

Date:-----------

Official Reporter:-----------­
Diversified Reporting Services, Inc. 

22 Q All right. Mr. Flannery, the staff has no further 22 

23 questions for you at this time. We may, however, call you 23 

24 again to testify. So, therefore, we're just adjourning the 24 

25 testimony at this time as opposed to formally closing it. 25 

Page 

1 Mr. Flannery, do you wish to clarify anything or 

2 add anything to the statements you have made today? 

3 A No. 

4 MR. BAKER: And, counsel, do you wish to add any 

5 clarifying questions? 

6 MR. PEARLSTEIN: Not at this time. 

7 MR. BAKER: All right. Then we are off the record 

8 at about 3:23. 
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THE WITNESS: Yes, I do. 

MR. BAKER: How well do you remember it? 

1 

2 
3 THE WITNESS: I remember certain things about it 

4 and certain thing that were discussed. 

5 MS. BERNSTEIN: Without going into the substance of 

6 the communication, did you provide legal advice to Sean 

7 Flannery or Paul Greff at that meeting? 

8 THE WITNESS: I did. 

9 MS. BERNSTEIN: Can I presume that that legal 

10 advice related to the Limited Duration Bond Fund? 

11 THE WITNESS: That is correct. 

12 BY MS. BARAN: 

13 Q Did you provide any advice other than legal advice? 

14 A I don't recall providing any advice other than 

15 legal advice. 

16 Q Were they speaking to you for the purpose of 

17 retaining legal advice? 

18 A Yes, they were. 

19 Q Did they ask for your input for any reason other 

20 than to provide legal advice? 

21 A No. 

22 Q The meeting you recall being approximately July 20, 

23 after that meeting, what was your understanding of the 

24 Limited Duration Bond Fund's total exposure to subprime 

25 backed mortgage securities? 

1 MR. GELHAAR: I would caution you that-- I believe 

2 the bank would permit you to answer that question on the 

3 basis of any understanding that you obtained other than from 

4 bank clients. 

5 THE WITNESS: Then I can't answer that question. 

6 MS. BERNSTEIN: Without getting into the substance 

7 of the communication, prior to you providing legal advice 

Page 

8 regarding the limited Duration Bond Fund to Sean Flannery and 

9 Paul Greff, did they provide you with factual information 

10 regarding the limited Duration Bond Fund so that you could 

11 provide that legal advice? 

12 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

13 MS. BERNSTEIN: When you provided that legal 

14 advice, did you believe that the information that you had was 

15 adequate to provide that legal advice? 

16 THE WITNESS: It's hard for me to answer that 

17 question. I provided them legal advice based on all the 

18 information they had provided me. And I wasn't aware of 

19 other information they weren't providing me but I wouldn't 

20 have been. 

21 MS. BERNSTEIN: Did you later become aware that 

22 there was information necessary to provide your legal advice 

23 that you were not provided at that meeting? 

"1 THE WITNESS: Not that I recall. 

MS. BERNSTEIN: In terms of the factual basis for 
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providing legal advice regarding the Limited Duration Bond 

2 Fund, on whom did you rely? 

3 THE WITNESS: I relied at that point on Sean 

4 Flannery and Paul Greff. 

5 MS. BERNSTEIN: At that point in time, we are 

6 talking about that meeting on or about July 20, 2007, did you 

7 do any due diligence other than relying on Sean Flannery in 

8 order to provide legal advice? 

9 THE WITNESS: No. I relied only on the information 

10 they provided me. 

11 MR. BAKER: You mentioned the fact you worked on 

12 frequently asked questions and letters to investors in 2007? 

13 THE WITNESS: Correct. 

14 MR. BAKER: Did any of those letters concern 

15 subprime and Limited Duration Bond Fund? 

16 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

17 MR. BAKER: What was the date of the first letter 

18 that went to the investors that concerned the Limited 

19 Duration Bond Fund? 

20 THE WITNESS: I believe July 26. 

21 MR. BAKER: Prior to July 26 when that first letter 

22 concerning subprime and Limited Duration Bond Fund was sen 

23 to investors, who did you rely on for facts concerning the 

24 Limited Duration Bond Fund and subprime? 

25 THE WITNESS: The investment groups, the investment 

within our group or within our company, being 

2 mostly Sean Flannery, Paul Greff, Mike O'Hara, Bob Pickett, 

3 Mike Wands. 

4 BY MS. BARAN: 

5 Q I hand you three different exhibits now and have 

6 you take a look at each of these. I hand you first 
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7 Commission Exhibit 16, Commission Exhibit 80 and Commission 

8 Exhibit 17. 

9 With regard to Commission Exhibit 16, Commission 

10 Exhibit 16 has Bates numbers SS-3700530 through 3700536. I'm 

11 going to refer you specifically to just the first three pages 

12 of that. The questions will be directed to the first three 

13 pages. 

14 On Commission Exhibit 80, that one has Bates 

15 numbers SS-SEC 87629 through 87636. I'm going to refer you 

16 to the pages that are at 87631 through 33. Finally, 

17 Commission Exhibit 17 has SSgA-SEC 152291 and 15292. Each of 

18 these Commission exhibits contains communication or appear to 

19 contain communication with particular dates. 

20 I'm going to have a series of questions concerning 

21 each of those exhibits, but I want you to have them all to 

22 take a look at I refer you first to Commission Exhibit 16. 

23 A Okay. 

24 Q If you could take a look at Commission Exhibit 16. 

25 And when we look at the first page, there's an e-mail stamp 
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at the top indicating from Larry Carlson with a date of 

2 October 12, 2007. But then there is about midway through the 

3 first page of Commission Exhibit 16 a notation that says, 

4 "No. 1, July 27 letter to clients." Do you see that? 

5 A I do. 

6 Q Then there's a text following that goes about the 

7 first third of the next page of this exhibit? 

8 A Yes. 

9 Q Do you recognize that as a copy of a letter that 

10 was sent to clients of SSgA? 

11 A I do. 

12 Q We've been talking about client communications. Is 

13 this a letter that was sent to clients on or about July 26 or 

14 July 27? 

15 A Yes. 
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the facts that are described in this letter? 

2 THE WITNESS: I relied on the experts within our 

3 company to verify the facts, those being the drafters and 

4 portfolio managers and investment people. 

5 MS. BERNSTEIN: Can we take a break for a second? 

6 MS. BARAN: Off the record. 

7 (Discussion off the record) 

8 BY MS. BARAN: 

9 Q We are back on the record after a brief break at 

10 3:05. As we do, I want to confirm there were no 

11 conversations of any substance between the witness and the 

12 staff while we were on the break? 

13 A That's correct. 

14 Q If I can return you back to Commission Exhibit 16. 

15 Who did you regard as the person who was primarily 

16 Q And have you seen what we see here contained within 16 responsible for drafting this letter? 

17 Commissioner Exhibit 6 prior to today? 17 A I don't know who was primarily responsible for 

18 A I have. 18 drafting. Or I should say I don't recall. 

19 Q Did you review drafts of the letter that we see 19 MR. BAKER: Who on the business side was 

20 with the date of July 27 here on Commission Exhibit 16? 20 responsible for the content of the letter? 

21 A I did. 21 THE WITNESS: I don't know. It would have been 

22 Q When was the first time you saw a draft? 22 either the relationship management people or one of the fixed 

23 A I would estimate a week before that. 23 income investment managers. I don't recall. 

24 MS. BERNSTEIN: Would it be fair to say on or about 24 BY MS. BARAN: 

25 July 20, 2007? 25 Q What was Sean Flannery's role with regard to this 
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THE WITNESS: Yes. 

2 MS. BERNSTEIN: We've been using the phrase review. 

3 Let's break that apart. First of all, did you read drafts of 

4 this letter prior to it being finalized? 

5 THE WITNESS: Yes, I did. 

6 MS. BERNSTEIN: And when we say review, what do you 

7 understand by the word review? 

8 THE WITNESS: Read through the letter and see if 

9 there's anything that kind of on its face jumps out at me as 

10 being illegal or contrary to regulations that were applicable 

11 to SSgA. 

12 MS. BERNSTEIN: Did you actually edit this letter 

13 in any way? 

14 THE WITNESS: I don't recall having significant--

15 I don't recall having edits to this letter. 

16 MR. BAKER: Did you draft any part of this letter? 

17 THE WITNESS: No. 

18 MS. BERNSTEIN: When you reviewed this document, 

19 did anything illegal or contrary to regulations applicable to 

20 SSgA jump out at you? 

21 THE WITNESS: Not that I recall, no. 

22 MR. BAKER: Were there any facts described in this 

23 letter that you thought were inaccurate? 

~1 THE WITNESS: No. 

MR. BAKER: What did you do to test the accuracy of 
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letter? 

2 A If he was not the drafter, he was a significant 

3 reviewer. 

4 MS. BERNSTEIN: How do you understand that to be 

5 the case? 

6 THE WITNESS: Because he was so involved with this 

7 issue, and I remember him being very involved in each letter. 

8 BY MS. BARAN: 

9 Q Tell us what you mean by "very involved in this 

10 issue." Let's concentrate on this letter. 

11 A I recall that Sean Flannery was, I don't want to 

12 step on any confidences, I recall that Sean was doing a lot 

13 of work on the issues covered by this letter. 

14 Q Was he involved in your view in preparing 

15 information that was being prepared to disseminate to 

16 clients? 

17 A I believe that is so, yes. 

18 Q And was he the primary person? 

19 A With respect to this letter? 

20 Q Yes. 

21 A That I don't know. 

22 Q I want to refer you to Bates 531. The very first 

23 paragraph at the top of this page contains a sentence that 

24 starts, "We have been seeking to reduce risk." Do you see 

25 that? 
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1 Q Okay. And was one of the securities laws at the 

2 time you believed applied was a law that would prohibit 

3 omitting material information from a statement that the 

4 omission of which makes the statement misleading? 

5 A So was I at the time thinking about omissions or--

6 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

7 Q Thinking about the language of 1 Ob-5(b) which says 

8 material misstatement or you omitted information which makes 

9 the statement misleading. Not omissions generally--

10 A Right. 

11 Q -- but omissions within the context of 1 Ob-5(b) the 

12 way it is written. 

13 A I don't recall if I was or not. 

14 

15 

BY MR. BAKER: 

Q Okay. Well, was that one of the federal securities 

16 laws that you believed applied to what you were supposed to 

17 be looking at in terms of making sure that the letter 

18 complied with federal securities laws? 

19 A I don't know if it does. 

20 Q Okay. Well, regardless of that, then, sitting here 

21 now, do you believe that given the fact that the purpose of 

22 selling assets from the Limited Duration Bond Fund was to 

23 raise liquidity to meet client redemptions, do you think that 

24 it was a material omission from the statement to not disclose 

the fact that the reason why there were asset sales as 
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I 1 described in this sentence was to meet client redemptions? 

2 MR. GELHAAR: Same objection. 

3 A I can't say. I don't know the answer to that. 

4 Q Is that something that you thought about at the 

5 time? 

6 A I don't recall thinking about that. 

7 Q Do you know if anyone else thought about that issue 

8 at the time? 

9 A Not that I recall. 

10 Q Did you have a discussion with anyone in connection 

11 with the July 26th letter about whether the fact that asset 

12 sales were occurring was to meet client redemptions, should 

13 or should not be included in the letter? 

14 A No, I don't recall that. 

15 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 
23 
')4 

5 

Q Were you generally thinking about Rule 10b-5 when 

you were reviewing the July 26/July 27th letter? 

A I was generally thinking about material 

misstatements. 

Q Did you communicate that you were reviewing that 

letter for-- for that purpose to Sean Flannery? 

MR. GELHAAR: I'd like to reserve on that one. I 

think that's similar to the question that we've already 

reserved on. 

MS. BARAN: So if you could note that, Jim. 
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1 

2 
(The reporter read back the record.) 

MS. BERNSTEIN: And just to make it clear for the 

3 purposes of the record, "that letter'' is the July 26th/July 

4 27th letter, and for the purposes of compliance with Rule 

5 10b-5, or material misstatements. 

6 BY MS. BARAN: 

7 Q Just to confirm, you were out of the office, then, 

8 between--

9 MR. GELHAAR: Can we take just a moment off the 

10 record? 

11 MS. BARAN: Of course we can. It is 11:40, and 

12 we'll go off the record. 

13 (A brief recess was taken.) 

14 MS. BARAN: We're back on the record after an 

15 extremely brief break during which there were no 

16 conversations of substance between the witness and the staff; 

17 correct? 

18 THE WITNESS: Correct. 

19 BY MS. BARAN: 

20 Q Okay. Correct to say you were out of the office 

21 from late Friday, July 27th out through the next week, 

22 returning Monday, August 6th? 

23 A Correct. 

24 Q Okay. Where did you go? 

25 A To Maine. 

1 Q Okay. Did you have phone contact with the office 

2 while you were gone? 

3 A Yes. 

4 Q Who did you speak with? 

5 A I recall speaking with Mitch Shames. 

6 Q On just one occasion? 

7 A Several occasions. 

8 Q Did you have BlackBerry access as well? Did you 

9 use a BlackBerry? 

10 A Yes. 

11 Q Okay. And did you have BlackBerry access during 

12 the time you were out? 

13 A Yes. 

14 Q Did you communicate with Mr. Shames-- well, did 

15 you communicate with anyone other than Mr. Shames? 

16 A Yes. 

17 Q Who else? 

18 A I participated in a valuation committee meeting 

19 that included Mr. Shames and others. 

20 Q Okay. Anything other than those communications 
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21 with Mr. Shames and then the valuation committee meeting? 

22 A I don't recall any others. 

23 Q Did you have any communications with Mr. Shames 

24 during the week that you were out of the office concerning a 

25 letter to be sent to clients on or around August 2nd? 
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1 A Not that I recall. 

2 Q And did you see any edits of a letter that was 

3 going to be sent to clients on or around August 2nd? 

4 A I don't believe so. 

5 Q Or any drafts, I should say. Did you see any 

6 drafts of the letter? 

7 A I don't believe so. 

8 BY MR. BAKER: 

9 Q Did you have computer access in Maine? Did you use 

10 a computer? 

11 A I recall using a computer once. 

12 Q Did it have Internet access? Let me ask it 

13 differently. 

14 What did you use the computer for on the one 

15 occasion when you used it when you were in Maine on vacatior 

16 in early August 2007? 

17 A I believe-- I believe I was reviewing FAQ's. 

18 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

19 Q And were those communicated to you by e-mail? 

20 A Yes. 

21 BY MR. BAKER: 
22 Q So you received them via e-mail when you were in 

23 Maine on vacation? 

24 A I believe so. 

25 BY MS. BARAN: 
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1 Q And who did you receive them from? 

2 A I don't recall. 

3 Q And we'll get into this more later, but did you 

4 communicate back to anybody concerning your review of FAQ'l 

5 while you were out of the office that week? 

6 A I don't recall. 
7 Q And so why were you --why did you receive the 

8 FAQ's? 

9 A To review them from a legal point of view. 

10 BY MR. BAKER: 

11 Q When you were -- going back to that time in July or 

12 late August of '07 when you were on vacation in Maine, were 

13 you able to look at documents on your BlackBerry at the time, 

14 Word documents, draft documents? 

15 A I don't know if I had that ability then. 

16 Q Did you? Do you have any recollection of doing 

17 that? 

18 A I don't recall. I don't recall. 

19 MR. BAKER: Okay. 

20 BY MS. BARAN: 

21 Q Let's pull up your calendar, Commission Exhibit 

22 648. I'm going to have you turn to the page that has a Bates 

23 number of 430422, and there's dates that appear on that page, 

24 August 3rd, 6th, 7th, and 8th. Got it? 

5 A Yes. 
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1 Q Okay. I'm going to refer you to August 8th, 2007, 

2 on Wednesday. 

3 A Okay. 

4 Q At 8:30 a.m. there's a notation "IC meeting, SFC 

5 33, San Francisco." 

6 Do you see that? 

7 A I do. 

8 Q And what does that entry mean? 

9 A Investment committee meeting --

10 Q Okay. 

11 A -- in the San Francisco Room on the 33rd floor. 

12 Q And you attended that meeting; correct? 

13 A I don't recall. 

14 MS. BARAN: If we can mark this. 

15 (SEC Exhibit No. 652 was marked for 

16 identification.) 

17 BY MS. BARAN: 

18 Q I'm going to hand you what we just marked as 

19 Commission Exhibit 652. And Commission Exhibit 652 has a 

20 caption at the top "Investment Committee Minutes" with a date 
21 of August 8th, 2007. Right under that date there are three 

22 categories of people's names, and one of them is "Others in 

23 Attendance," and it reads "Mark Duggan, Paul Greff, Andrew 

24 Letts." 

25 Do you see that? 
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A ldo. 

Q Does that refresh your recall as to whether you 

the investment committee meeting on August 8, 2007? 

A No. 

Q No recall of any discussion of that meeting? 

A No. 

Q Because you don't even recall attending? 

A Correct. 

Q Let's look back at your calendar, please, 

10 Commission Exhibit 648. We're on the same date there, August 

11 8th, 2007. There's a meeting 11:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m., says 

12 "Client Communications." 

13 Do you see that? 

14 A I do. 

15 Q And did you attend that meeting? 

16 A I don't recall. 

17 Q At 3:00p.m. to 3:30, there's an entry "Mark 

18 Duggan/Bev DeWitt, Mark's office." 

19 Do you see that? 

20 A I do. 

21 Q And did that meeting take place? 

22 A I don't recall. 

23 Q Can you tell us who Bev DeWitt is, please? 

24 A She was the compliance officer who worked mostly on 

the registered funds. 
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A I don't recall. 

2 Q All right. Let's go ·ahead and look back at 

3 Commission Exhibit 655. There you go, the one with 

4 "Confidential Draft Only" stamped across the top. I'd like 

5 you to look at the second page of this exhibit, it has 

6 numbers ending in 308. 

7 A Uh-huh. 

8 Q At the very bottom, there's a sentence that starts 

9 "While recent events may have re-priced." If you could read 

10 through that sentence and on to the next page, just complete 

11 that paragraph, let me know when you've read it. 

12 A Okay. 

13 Q So you've read the part of this letter that ends 

14 "while we will continue to liquidate assets for our clients 

15 when they demand it, our advice is to hold the positions in 

16 anticipation of greater liquidity in the months to come"; 

17 correct? 

18 A Correct. 

19 Q Okay. When you reviewed this letter, were you 

20 reviewing this letter for purposes of reviewing ERISA issues? 

Page 

1 step in and become an ERISA fiduciary when you say things 

2 like that or not? 

3 MR. GELHAAR: Again, the question is did he think 

4 about it at the time when he was confronted with this letter 

5 or in his capacity sitting here today? 

6 MS. BERNSTEIN: Let's ask it presently. 

7 MR. GELHAAR: The same objection I had before in 

8 terms of asking him expert questions. 

9 Go ahead. 

10 A I'm not an ERISA expert, and I would probably call 

11 someone who was more familiar to see what the line is. 

12 BY MR. BAKER: 

13 Q Okay. Is that a question like reading a statement 

14 like this, is that the type of thing that you would start to 

15 wonder whether you crossed that line or is it just nowhere 

16 near that line? 

17 MR. GELHAAR: The same objection. 

18 A I can't even say if it's near or not. I mean there 

19 are other aspects to it. I know I think it has to be for a 

20 fee, for example, and I know there's other aspects to it. So 

21 A Yes, to the extent any arose, yes. 21 I'd have to look at those, look at the statement, talk to I 
22 Q And did this particular sentence pose any ERISA 22 ERISA counsel. I 

23 BY MR. BAKER: ~J 23 issues? 

j24 A I'm not aware of any. 24 Q So who was the ERISA expert, if you will, on 

Q Okay. Did you have any communications with anyone 25 questions like when the line is crossed where you're offering 

Page 262 Page 2641 

1 within SSgA regarding the general subject matter of whether 1 advice to the point where you become an investment fiduciary 
1

. 

~25 

2 this letter complied with ERISA rules? 2 under ERISA? 1 

3 MR. GELHAAR: I'm sorry, could you just repeat the 3 

4 question? 4 

5 MS. BARAN: Sure. 5 

A Who was it at the time? 

Q Yes. 

A We relied largely on -- or entirely on Josh 

6 Q Did you have any communications regarding the 6 Sternoff at Paul Hastings. 

7 general subject matter of whether this letter in this format 7 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

8 as we see marked as Commission Exhibit 655 complied with 8 Q Was this letter at any point in time sent to Paul 

9 ERISA rules? 9 Hastings for review? 

10 A I don't recall doing so. 10 A I don't know. 

11 BY MR. BAKER: 11 BY MR. BAKER: 

12 Q Are there rules that you are aware of-- I guess 12 Q Was there anyone you considered back in, you know, 

13 were you aware of any rules at the time, ERISA-related rules 13 mid-2007, summertime 2007, was there anyone in the legal 

14 or statutes, that concerned at what point you sort of cross 14 department who you considered to be more of an expert on 

15 the line in terms of becoming an ERISA fiduciary by giving a 15 these types of ERISA issues than you? 

16 client advice? Is that a concept within ERISA that you're 16 A Well, Mitch knew more about ERISA than I did. But 

17 familiar with at all? 17 everyone kind of had a familiarity with it, but that was as 

18 A Yes, I'm familiar with the concept of when you 18 far as we went. 

19 become an investment manager, a fiduciary, yes. 19 BY MS. BARAN: 

20 Q Okay. So the statement "Our advice," I don't know 

21 if you see it here, but "Our advice is to hold the positions 

22 

23 

24 

in anticipation of greater liquidity in the months to come." 

A Yes. 

Q Is that the sort of statement that would be -- you 

25 know, where does that fall on the ERISA line? Do you sort of 
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20 Q Mr. Shames reviewed this letter before it went out? 

A Yes. 21 

22 Q To the extent you can, can you just name everyone 

! 23 who you believe reviewed this letter before it went out? 

/24 A Myself, Mitch Shames, Liz Fries, Sean Flannery, 

I 25 Marc Brown, Staci Reardon, Larry Carlson, Hannah Grove, Paul 
L__ 
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1 Greff, Jim Hopkins. I don't remember-- I can't recall any 

2 others. 

3 Q Outside counsel other than Liz Fries? 

4 A Liz Fries. I don't know if Todd Cronan did as 

5 well. I just don't recall. 

6 Q Did Glenn Ciotti review the letter? 

7 A I believe so. 

8 Q Was there anyone else on SSgA's internal legal 

9 staff who reviewed the letter in addition to yourself, Mitch 

10 Shames, and Glenn Ciotti? 

11 A Not that I recall. 

12 MS. BARAN: Okay. 

13 BY MR. BAKER: 

14 Q Was Liz Fries, did you think of her as an ERISA 

15 lawyer? 

16 A She certainly had more familiarity with ERISA than 

17 I did. But she was more of a securities expert. 

18 Q Did she offer any ERISA legal advice on this 

19 letter? I'm not asking for the advice, but did she, yes or 

20 no? 

21 MS. BERNSTEIN: Regarding the general subject 

22 matter. 

23 A I don't recall. 

24 BY MR. BAKER: 

25 Q How about Glenn Ciotti, did he offer any ERISA-
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related legal advice on this letter? 

A I don't recall. 

BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

1 

2 
3 

4 Q Did she, Hannah Fries, provide any securities law 

5 advice regarding this letter? 

6 A Did Liz Fries? 

7 Q Yes. 

8 A Yes, she did. 

9 Q Did you provide securities law advice regarding 

1 0 this letter? 

11 A Yes. 

12 BY MS. BARAN: 

13 Q Let me hand you what we marked as Commission 

14 Exhibit 642. There you go. 

15 Commission Exhibit 642 is a one-page document with 

16 a number of SSP-SEC 4497, and just take a look at this, and 

17 my questions will be with regard to the top little sector of 

18 this document. 

19 A Okay. Okay. 

20 Q I'm going to -- have you seen this exhibit before, 

21 outside of consultation with counsel? 

22 A No. 

23 Q Okay. The top part of this exhibit, there's a 
0 4 series of little rectangles here that say "Phone call." This 

_, particular one at the top has handwriting "Mark Duggan" with 
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1 a date of 817, 2:00 p.m. 

2 Do you see that? 

3 A I do. 

4 Q Do you know whose handwriting that is? 

5 A I believe that was Theresa Holland, who was Mitch's 

6 assistant at the time. 

7 Q Okay. And seeing this here, does it refresh any 

8 recollection as to whether you made a phone call to Mr. 

9 Shames on or around August 7 at 2:00 p.m. concerning Mr. 

10 Flannery's letter? 

11 A Yes. 

12 Q Okay. And do you recall making this call? 

13 A I do. 

14 Q Okay. Your message is "Got Liz's comments and they 

15 were minor, passed them on to Sean already." Or I should say 

16 Theresa Holland's writing there indicates that you said 

17 something to the effect of "Got Liz's comments and they were 

18 minor, passed them on to Sean already. Will talk to you 

19 about them later." 

20 Does that about sum up your message? 

21 A Yes. 

22 Q Okay. And did you have a conversation with Mr. 

23 Shames in which you discussed Ms. Fries's comments? 

24 A Yes. 

Q Okay. And do you know when that was? 

1 A That afternoon. 

2 Q Did anyone attend this conversation other than you 

3 and Mr. Shames? 

4 A Not that I recall, no. 

5 Q Did you talk about Ms. Fries's comments in any 

6 meeting specifically with Mr. Flannery, for example? 

7 A I don't recall that. 

8 Q Okay. And did your discussion with Mr. Shames 

9 involve the general subject matter of whether the letter that 

10 Ms. Fries had reviewed complied with securities laws? 

11 A Not that specific. It was -- I was relaying Liz 

12 Fries's comments to him. 

13 MS. BARAN: Okay. Mark this one, please. 

14 (SEC Exhibit No. 656 was marked for 

15 identification.) 

16 BY MS. BARAN: 
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17 Q I'm going to hand you what we marked as Commission 

18 Exhibit 656. And Exhibit 656 has Bates numbers at the lower 

19 right ranging from SS-SEC 118355 through 118358, and there is 

20 an e-mail stamp at the upper left of the first page from Sean 

21 Flannery, sent Wednesday, August 8, 2007, 11:59 a.m., but I 

22 would regard that as 7:59 a.m., to Mark Duggan, and copied to 

23 Reardon, Carlson, and Adele Kohler. Please take a look at 

24 this and let me know when you're ready. 

25 A Okay. 
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1 Q Okay. And let me note here, when we look at the 

2 e-mail from Marc Brown that begins at page 118391 and 

1 spoke with Liz on August 13th? 

2 A Yes, I believe I did. 

3 continues on to the next page, the attachment is indicated as l 3 Q And was the general subject matter of that 

e.,. ,~I 

4 SPF Bond letter v3. Do you see that notation? 4 conversation Mr. Flannery's letter or FAQ's or both? 

5 A Yes. 5 A I know we discussed FAQ's. I don't recall what 
6 Q By the time we get up to the first page of 6 else, if anything. 

7 Commission Exhibit 659, there's an e-mail in the middle of I 7 Q Did you have any conversations with Ms. Fries other 
I 

8 that first page reading "Larry Carlson," to yourself and 1 8 than what we've seen marked in the exhibits before Mr. 

9 Flannery, copy to Reardon and Fitzgerald, sent Sunday, Augus~ 9 Flannery's letter went out regarding Mr. Flannery's letter? 

10 12th, at, what, 17:46, 5:46. Again, "Re: Here is the ! 10 MR. GELHAAR: I'm sorry, could you say that one 

11 letter," but the version that we see attached on there is SPF 11 more time. 

12 Bond letter v41ost client, and it seems to be indicated like 12 MS. BARAN: Sure. 

13 three times there. 13 BY MS. BARAN: 

14 Is your recall that the changes that took place 14 Q Did you have any conversations with Ms. Fries 

15 were only with regard to creating a version of the letter to 15 concerning Mr. Flannery's letter other than what we've 

16 be sent to existing clients versus clients who had left? 16 already marked, but before it went out? In other words, from 

17 A That is all I can recall. 17 I believe August 8th to August 13th, did you have any 

18 Q Okay. Without revealing any privileged attorney- 18 conversations with her concerning Mr. Flannery's letter? 

19 client communications or legal advice, can you tell us what 19 A I don't recall. 

20 role Marc Brown played in this letter, if any? In the 20 MR. GELHAAR: And by that answer, just so the 

21 editing process in the letter, I should say. 

22 MR. GELHAAR: Again, if the only way you know that 

23 is because someone like Marc Brown or another client told 

24 you, you would have to tell them that you couldn't respond. 

21 record's clear, do you mean that you recall that you had none 

22 or you don't recall one way or the other? 

23 THE WITNESS: Sorry. I don't recall one way or the 

24 other. 

MS. BARAN: Thank you. 25 MS. BARAN: That's right. 

Page2~ Page 290 

MS. BERNSTEIN: But I would like to suggest if they 

2 tell you not in the context of seeking legal advice, sort of 

3 telling you logistically, "I've looked at the letter," I 

4 don't think that would be privileged. 

5 A The only way I would know is through clients asking 

6 me for legal advice. 

7 MS. BARAN: Mark this one. 

8 (SEC Exhibit No. 660 was marked for 

9 

10 

identification.) 

BY MS. BARAN: 

11 Q I'm going to hand you what we've marked as 

12 Commission Exhibit 660, six six zero. 660 is a one-page 

13 document with a Bates number of 103678. This is an e-mail 

14 from yourself sent Sunday, August 12, at what would really be 

15 5:34 p.m. ? 

16 A Uh-huh. 

17 Q And you send it to Glenn Ciotti and Mitch Shames 

18 with the subject "Call with Liz." 

19 Do you see that? 

20 A I do. 

21 Q Now, your e-mail indicates "Liz and I are talking 

22 tomorrow, Monday morning at 9:00 about," redacted. 

23 Can you tell me, just to get the privilege log 

~4 style information, without revealing attorney-client 

. L5 communications or legal advice, can you tell us whether you 

Mark this, one, please. 

2 (SEC Exhibit No. 661 was marked for 
3 identification.) 

4 BY MS. BARAN: 

5 Q I'm handing you what we've marked as Commission 

6 Exhibit 661. Exhibit 661 has numbers ranging from 103667 

7 through 103670. Just take a look through and let me know 

8 when you're ready. 

9 A All right. 

10 Q And outside of consultation with counsel, have you 

11 seen this exhibit before? 

12 A Not -- I don't recall seeing it before. 

13 Q Okay. Noting, though, that at least on the top two 

14 e-mails that we see in Commission Exhibit 661 and in fact 

15 throughout, you're either a sender or recipient. Do you 

16 notice that? Again, with the exception of the final e-mail 

17 on this chain. 

18 A Yes, I am. 

19 Q Okay. And, again, does that refresh any 

20 recollection of the general subject of what was going on in 

21 all of these e-mails? 

22 A I believe it's the same group of e-mails we were 

23 just discussing about the two versions, yes. 

24 Q With the exception perhaps of the top e-mail here, 

25 and that's what I'm going to direct your attention to . 
L .. ---·---·----- ·--------'---------------------------' 
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1 whether it was for the -- that what information was being 
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2 provided, what legal advice was being sought here. Now, was 

3 the legal advice that was being sought what GAA's strategy 

4 should be? Is that what the legal advice was? 

5 MR. GELHAAR: I understand. 

6 MS. BERNSTEIN: Versus "Here's what we're doing. 

7 Given that this is what we're doing, what should we do now?" 

8 MR. GELHAAR: I understand the issue, and I'll put 

9 it to the bank's counsel. 

10 MS. BARAN: Okay. 3:38p.m., we're off the record. 

11 (A brief recess was taken.) 

12 MS. BARAN: We are back on the record at 3:55p.m. 

13 after a break during which time there was no discussion had 

14 of any substance between the witness and counsel; is that 

15 correct? 

16 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

17 MS. BARAN: There was a question pending when we 

18 went off the record, restate that, please. 

19 (The reporter read back the record.) 

20 BY MS. BARAN: 

21 Q And can you answer that question for us? 

22 MR. GELHAAR: Okay. I assumed there was a 

23 different answer. I'm sorry, can you repeat the question. 

24 (The reporter read back the record.) 

25 MR. GELHAAR: I understand the bank is not 
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1 asserting a privilege to that? 

2 MS. BARAN: No. The bank is asserting privilege to 

3 that. 

4 MR. GELHAAR: Oh, well, then I'm glad you said 

5 that. Then you may not answer. 

6 MS. BARAN: Okay. 

7 THE WITNESS: All right. 

8 MS. BARAN: Sorry about that, yes, the bank was 

9 asserting privilege to that. Did not change their view. 

10 BY MS. BARAN: 

Q Did you learn, then, that FAQ's were being created 

2 in the course of some discussion? 

3 A Yes. 

4 Q Okay. Who participated in this discussion? 

5 A Mitch Shames, Staci Reardon. That's all I can 

6 recall. 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Q Okay. And when did the discussion take place? 

A The end of July. 

Q And where did the discussion take place? 

A I don't recall. 

Q Was it a meeting or a phone call? 

A I don't recall that either. 

Q How long did it take? 

A I don't remember. 

BY MR. BAKER: 

Q Had frequently asked questions already been 

17 prepared as of the time of this conversation? 

18 A I don't believe so. 

19 BY MS. BARAN: 

20 Q Okay. Then without revealing any privileged 

21 communications or legal advice, did someone in legal 

22 participate in creating a first version of FAQ's? 

23 A I do not know. 

24 Q Did you participate in --well, when did you first 

25 see a version of the FAQ's? 

1 A Late July. 

2 Q And did you see it while you were on vacation? 

3 A I don't know whether it was right before I went on 

4 vacation or while I was on vacation. I believe it was right 

5 before I went on vacation. 

6 Q Okay. And the version that you saw, did you 

7 participate in drafting the version of the FAQ's that you 

8 saw? 

9 A No. All I did was review and provide edits. 

10 Q And your review and providing of edits happened 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

Q Okay. I want to move our discussion to frequently 11 after the time you first saw a version of FAQ's that had 

~4 

J 

asked questions. You had discussed briefly that you began to 12 already been created with questions and answers? 

review frequently asked questions. Do you recall telling us? 13 A Correct. 

A Yes. 14 Q You didn't participate from the ground up? 

Q Can you tell us why frequently asked questions were 15 A Correct. 

created during July/August 2007? 16 Q Okay. Let me hand you what we marked as Commission 

THE WITNESS: I know this because of client 17 Exhibit 641. There you go. 

communications. Is it okay for me to answer? 18 Commission Exhibit 641 is a one-page document that 

MR. GELHAAR: Do you know the answer to why FAQ's 19 is an e-mail between Nick Mavro sent Wednesday, July 25th, 

were created by any other means other than client 20 2007, 10:38 p.m., but we know that's really 6:38 p.m., to 

communications? 

THE WITNESS: No. 

MR. GELHAAR: Can't answer. 

MS. BARAN: Then let's ask some basic questions. 

BY MS. BARAN: 

21 Staci Reardon; subject: "Subprime action plan." 

22 If you could read through this real quick and let 

23 me know when you're ready. 

24 A Okay. 

25 Q And have you seen this e-mail before outside of 

12 
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1 consultation with counsel? 

2 A No. 

3 Q Again, outside of-- outside of any privileged 
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1 A I don't recall a meeting with both of those teams. 

2 I recall a meeting I attended with the client-facing team. 

3 Q Tell me about the meeting with the client-facing 
4 attorney-client communications and without asking you to 4 team. 

5 disclose legal advice, did you participate in any 5 A We talked about the use of the FAQ's. 

6 communications in which a step-by-step action plan for 6 Q All right. Who else participated in that meeting? 

7 dissemination of, among other things, FAQ's within SSgA was 7 A Staci Reardon, Larry Carlson, Marc Brown, and the 

8 discussed? 8 remainder of the relationship managers. Or a large group of 

9 A Yes. 9 relationship managers. 

10 Q Okay. And is that the same meeting that you were 10 Q And when did this meeting take place? 

11 talking about before or a different meeting? 11 A I don't recall. 

12 A This is a different meeting. 12 Q Was it before or at the same time or after the July 

13 Q Okay. Then let's talk about that meeting. A 13 26th letter was sent? 

14 meeting at which the general subject matter was dissemination 14 A I believe it was after the July 26th letter was 

15 of FAQ's to relationship managers, is that what you're 15 sent. 

16 thinking of? 16 Q All right. And what was discussed at this meeting, 

17 A I'm thinking of a meeting with respect to-- with 17 then, that you can recall? Who was the primary presenter? 

18 regard to the process for creating FAQ's. 18 A Staci Reardon. 

19 Q Okay. Process for creating FAQ's. And when did 19 Q And what kind of things was she telling them? 

20 that meeting take place? 

21 A It was either the week of the 25th or the first 

22 week I was back, the first full week of August. 

23 Q Does seeing the date on this particular e-mail, 

24 Wednesday, July 25th, 2007, did you participate in the 
25 communication with regard to the process for creating FAQ's 

20 A She was explaining that the FAQ's were going to 

21 come out and how they should be used. 

22 Q Was she referring to an earlier version of FAQ's 

23 that you can recall, or had FAQ's already been in use at the 

24 time this meeting took place? 
25 A I don't know. I don't recall. 

-------------------~------------------------------------

15 
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before or after that date? 1 
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Q What did she say? Is it accurate to say she was 

2 A I don't know. 2 speaking to the relationship managers? 

3 Q Okay. So where did this meeting take place? 3 A Yes. 

4 A Sean Flannery's office. 4 Q Okay. What was she telling them? 

5 Q And who took part in the meeting? 5 MR. GELHAAR: You were-- you were at this meeting? 

6 A Sean and myself, Paul Greff, Marc Brown. That's 6 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

7 all I can remember. 7 MR. GELHAAR: Were you there to provide legal 

8 Q How long did the meeting take place for? How long 8 advice? 

9 did it last? 9 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

10 A Half hour, maybe. 10 MR. GELHAAR: At any time during the meeting did 

11 Q Did you take any notes? 11 you provide legal advice? 

12 A No, not that I recall. 12 THE WITNESS: I did. 

13 Q Did anyone else? 13 MR. GELHAAR: I think the bank would have us 

14 A Not that I recall. 14 assert. 

15 Q Okay. Let's look at-- I want you to refer back to 15 MS. BARAN: Okay. 

16 Commission Exhibit 641 real quick. On step 4, the e-mail 16 BY MS. BARAN: 

17 reads "Hold meeting with fixed income team and client-facing 117 Q Let's get a general subject matter, then. Was the 

18 team to explain the situation and walk through the FAQ's to \18 general subject matter of the discussion, is it accurate to 

19 be sure everyone is on the same page. Hold meeting on Friday/ 19 say that this was a meeting with regard to how the 

20 morning." i 20 relationship managers were to use the FAQ's with clients? 

21 Do you see that? : 21 A Yes, that is correct. 

22 A Yes. 22 Q Okay. Was the general subject of the meeting also 

23 Q Did you attend a meeting which involved the fixed 23 with regard to information that the relationship managers 

';!4 income team and the client-facing team that, among other 24 could or could not disclose to their clients? 

25 things, explained the situation and walked through the FAQ's? 25 A I don't recall that being a subject. 
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1 Q Okay. Was the general subject matter of the 

2 meeting also with regard to the manner in which the 

3 relationship managers could disclose the information on the 

4 FAQ's to clients? 

5 A I'm not sure I understand that. 

6 Q Is part of Ms. Reardon's presentation of the RM's, 

7 is part of the presentation that she gave something that 

Page 

8 talked about how the relationship managers were supposed to 

9 use the FAQ's with their clients? 

10 A Yes. 

11 

12 

Q Okay. And what did she say? 

MR. BAKER: Could I just clarify that you're 

13 asserting the attorney-client privilege with respect to 

14 communications among non-lawyers at a meeting where a lawyer 

15 was present, or is it just communications to or from the 

16 lawyer? 

17 MR. GELHAAR: I'm asserting the privilege with 

18 respect to the last question, which I believed called for 

19 what was communicated to Mr. Dwyer and others at the meeting 

20 at which he was present to provide legal advice. 

21 MS. BERNSTEIN: Right. But he's only-- but unless 

Q Okay. Did you in fact provide legal advice 

2 regarding the dissemination of the FAQ's? 

3 A Yes, I did. 

4 BY MR. BAKER: 

5 

6 

7 

8 

Q At this meeting? 

A At that meeting. 

BY MS. BARAN: 

Q And did you provide this legal advice like in some 
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9 sort of aside to Ms. Reardon, or did you make an announcement 

10 to the RM team at the meeting? 

11 

12 

A I told the entire team. 

Q Okay. How many people attended this meeting? You 

13 know, if you can recall, how many people were there? 

14 A I would guess 20. 

15 Q Did Mr. Brown present at this meeting? 

16 A I don't recall if he presented. I believe he 

17 attended. 

18 

19 

Q Did he speak at all at the meeting? 

A I don't recall. 

20 Q Did anyone at this meeting provide rules of the 

21 road with how the FAQ's were to be used? 

22 A Yes. I 
! 

22 she communicated it to him for the purpose of rendering legal 

23 advice, it is privileged, and I agree with you. But if the 

24 reason that she's saying it is to communicate to the RM's, 

25 and he happens to be sitting in the room, that doesn't make 
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23 Q 

24 A 

25 

Was that phrase used? 

I don't recall that phrase being used. 
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BY MR. BAKER: 

1 it privileged. 

2 MS. BARAN: Well, let's ask--

3 MS. BERNSTEIN: So let's break it apart. 

4 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

5 Q Did you hear Staci Reardon tell the relationship 

6 managers how they could and could not use the FAQ's? 

7 

8 

9 

MR. GELHAAR: In other words, in terms of like a 

privilege log, was the general discussion --

MS. BERNSTEIN: Discussion about how-­

MR. GELHAAR: -- concerning about how the 

Q Were there other attorneys at this meeting besides 

2 you? 

3 A I don't believe so. 

4 Q So were you the only attorney either inside or--

5 you know, in-house attorney at State Street or even outside 

6 counsel at State Street that directed the client service 

7 people at State Street how they could use the FAQ's? 

8 A I don't know. 

9 Q When you made the direction to client service 

10 personnel in State Street concerning-- State Street Global 10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

relationship managers could or could not use the FAQ's? 11 Advisors concerning how they could use the FAQ's, did you 

A Yes. 12 consider whether their use of the FAQ's would violate federal 

BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 13 securities laws, section 1 O(b) of the Exchange Act, section 

Q Was that communication that she made directed at 14 17(a) of the Securities Act? 

you for the purpose of providing legal advice? 15 A I do not recall considering those. 

MR. GELHAAR: And by that do you mean solely to you 16 Q Do you know if other attorneys considered that in 

or you as well as others? 

MS. BERNSTEIN: RM's. I'm willing to give you that 

if it's mixed that it's privileged. 

MR. GELHAAR: Not me. 

MS. BERNSTEIN: I know. But I'm saying I'm not 

22 making a fine distinction. 

23 A I believe it was to me for the purpose of providing 

t legal advice as well as to the RM's. 

L:'"..J ____ B_'C MS. B~~STE~I!__ ___ _ 

OUGGAN_MARK_20091 023 

17 relation to the FAQ's and their use? 

18 A I don't know. I -- I had discussed them with Liz 

19 Fries, and I believe that she would have considered, but I 

20 don't know that she did. 

21 Q At the time, going back to this July/August 2007 --

22 well, I guess it's late July 2007, to the best of your 

23 knowledge of the time frame, did you know whether it was a 

24 violation of the federal securities laws to provide material 

25 information contained in the FAQ's to some clients in the 
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1 just, based on what it says, it seems clear he was speaking I 1 Greff about the issue generally, but it was not specific to 

2 to Jim Hopkins, and he and Jim Hopkins had had a discussion;! 2 this letter. 

3 he wanted to make sure it was reflected appropriately. 

4 BY MS. BARAN: 

5 Q Okay. At the time, at July 24, 2007, 3:18-ish, 

6 what were "our intentions," you know, with regard to 

7 preparation of this letter? Do you know --

8 A I don't know what he was referring to. 

9 Q Okay. If you could take a look at page 175 of this 

10 exhibit. I'm going to refer you again to the very last 

11 paragraph that's in this draft where it starts, "As a 

12 result." It reads, "As a result, we are actively analyzing 

13 strategies which would enable us, if appropriate, to pare 

14 back subprime positions. However, any reductions in these 

15 positions will be based on an individual assessment of the 

16 specific investment objectives and risk parameters inherent 

3 Q And when did you have that conversation? 

4 A It would have been a few days before this e-mail, 

5 probably the 23rd, or the end of the week before. 

6 Q And did you -- did you consider the information 

7 that you learned in the conversation with Flannery and Greff 

8 when reviewing the draft of the letter that you were copied 

9 on in this exhibit? 

10 A I don't recall. 

11 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

12 Q What information did you learn during that 

13 conversation with Flannery and Greff? 

14 MR. GELHAAR: The way I understand the waiver, 

15 Dina, is that it's-- the limited waiver is with respect to 

16 the letters only, and to the extent that the testimony just 

17 in each investment fund and portfolio." 17 was--

18 Do you see that? 18 MS. BERNSTEIN: Okay. 

19 A I do. 19 MR. GELHAAR: -- that the conversation as he 

20 Q And was that -- you know, asking for your recall at 20 remembers it now was not specific to the letter, I would 

21 the time, July 24, '07, was that the intention of the 21 invoke the privilege on behalf of the bank. But, again, 

22 portfolio management group to pare back subprime positions if 22 you're welcome to discuss that directly with the bank's 

23 appropriate? 

24 A My recollection is that Mitch told me that that is 

25 what the intention of the portfolio management group was. 

Q Okay. What did he tell you, with as much 

2 specificity as you can recall? 

3 A That was the conversation that I was referring to 
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4 previously where he had explained that not everyone wanted to 

5 pare back their positions in certain separate accounts, et 

6 cetera. So that the portfolio management group and the 

7 product engineering group and the investment teams were going 

8 to be reviewing each portfolio separately to determine where 

9 it was appropriate to pare back and where not. 

10 Q Okay. Did you have any sense about which 

11 portfolios would be, quote, pared back versus not? 

12 A No. 

13 Q No sense about, for example, whether LDBF would or 

14 not? 

15 A No, I don't know. 

16 Q Or whether any funds invested in the LDBF would be, 

17 you know, paring back subprime positions if appropriate? 

18 A No, I don't -- did not know that. 

19 Q Did you have any other knowledge other than the 

20 conversation that you're telling us about with Mr. Shames 

21 about what the portfolio managers' intentions were? 

22 A No. 

23 Q No conversations specifically, for example, with 

"4 Mr. Flannery or Mr. Greff? 

5 A I had a conversation with Sean Flannery and Paul 
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23 counsel. 

24 MS. BERNSTEIN: Understood. 

25 BY MS. BARAN: 
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1 Q But, you know, understanding that you had knowledge 

2 in your head that you gained from Flannery or Greff at the 

3 time you reviewed this letter, did you, again, did you 

4 consider the knowledge that you knew while you were reviewing 

5 the letter and considering whether the letter was accurate in 

6 all respects to be sent to clients? 

7 A I don't have a specific recollection. I mean I 

8 have to assume --

9 MR. GELHAAR: Well, she doesn't want your 

10 assumptions. Maybe she does, but that's not the question 

11 before you now. 

12 BY MS. BARAN: 

13 Q The question before you now is not an assumption. 

14 But now I am going to ask for your assumptions. Generally, 

15 in your work at SSgA, did you consider knowledge that you 

16 knew when you were performing topics that were different from 

17 -- okay. Like if you learned about a particular subject in 

18 the context of one particular meeting, you still knew that 

19 knowledge when you were working on a different type of 

20 project within SSgA? 

21 A Correct. 

22 Q So were you able, then, to use knowledge learned in 

23 one setting and apply it while you were performing work in 

24 another setting? 

A Yes. 
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1 Q So did you gain knowledge in -- with regard to what i 1 

2 portfolio managers were doing with regard to the strategies I 2 

MR. BAKER: Can I ask one question? 

MS. BARAN: Of course. 

3 at issue here, active fixed income, LDBF, funds invested in 

4 the LDBF, while reviewing the letter for purposes of 

5 reviewing it for accuracy for client communications? 

6 MR. GELHMR: I think he's asked and answered that. 

7 But you can answer again. 

8 A I mean I -- it seems logical. I just don't have a 

9 specific recollection of sitting down and thinking, "Okay, I 

10 have to remember that when I'm reviewing this." I just don't 

11 recall. 

12 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

13 Q Without invading what information you obtained 

14 during the meeting with Flannery and Greff, was the 

15 information that you obtained from that meeting relevant to 

16 your review of the July 26 letter? 

17 

18 

A Generally, yes. 

MS. BERNSTEIN: Well, now we're back at it's 

3 MR. BAKER: Just so we know the full universe to 

4 defer on, I guess, without doing it piecemeal with the 

5 company. 

6 BY MR. BAKER: 

7 Q If you could look at Exhibit 717, Mr. Duggan. And 

8 this is the exhibit where Mr. Shames e-mails you a draft of 

9 what became the July 26th letter; is that correct? 

10 A Correct. 

11 Q And I believe you testified earlier that he sent 

12 you this for your review; is that correct? 

13 A Correct. 

14 Q Okay. And I think you testified that with regard 

15 to the track changes in the letter, it's your understanding 

16 that those track changes were Mitch Shames' edits; is that 

17 correct? 

18 A That's correct. 

19 Q So if vou look at the end of the letter where there 19 generally relevant to his review of the Jetter. 

20 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 120 are track changes, there's a sentence that reads, "However, I 
21 Q And would it be fair to say that even if you don't 121 any reduction in these position will be based on an 1 

22 have a specific recollection, you would be remiss not to have 22 individual assessment of the specific investment objectives j 

23 taken into account that information while reviewing the 23 and risk parameters inherent in each investment fund and I 
24 letter? I mean just to say, "Okay, I'm going to ignore it 24 portfolio." 

25 even though I know it"? Would you have thought that was 25 Do you see that? 1 
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1 appropriate? I 1 A I do. 

3 appropriate to ignore the information -- 3 

Q And, in fact, you did make an edit to that sentence 

in your review of the letter; is that correct? By editing 
2 MR. GELHMR: Would he have thought it was j 2 

4 MS. BERNSTEIN: Information that he obtained during 4 the word "position" to make it plural? 

5 the meeting with Flannery and Greff when he was reviewing th 5 A Correct. 

6 July 26 letter. j 6 Q Okay. And at the time that you reviewed this 

7 A Yes, that would have been remiss to ignore it. 

8 MS. BERNSTEIN: Okay. I think we're now back at 

9 it's knowledge that he would have used in -- even if he 

10 doesn't have a specific recollection, it is information that 

11 I think the testimony pretty strongly suggests he used while 

12 reviewing this letter, and I think that is within -- and 

13 we've had these conversations with State Street's counsel --

14 within the purview of the waiver. 

15 MR. GELHMR: I think it really depends on how you 

16 define the word "relevant" in this situation, and while I --

17 again, it's not -- it's not our privilege. We're trying to 

18 do the best to interpret and divine what the bank would do in 

19 this situation. And, frankly, I think it's a close enough 

20 call that I wouldn't feel comfortable about letting him 

21 disclose that information until the bank weighs in on it. 

22 My understanding is that the bank's counsel is 

23 presently unavailable but will become available at some time 

24 during the time of the testimony. So I would suggest that we 

:5 defer on that. 
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7 letter for the purposes of making that edit, did you know 

8 whether the sentence that I just read for the record was 

9 accurate or inaccurate? 

10 A Sorry, could you repeat the question? 

11 Q At the time that you reviewed the sentence in the 

12 letter that I just read, the sentence starting with the word 

13 "However," going on to "any reductions," etcetera, did you 

14 know if the facts contained in that sentence were accurate or 

15 inaccurate? 

16 A Based on what I had been told, I believed that the 

17 statements were accurate. 

18 Q And what had you been told? 

19 MR. GELHMR: No. And I think we're going to 

20 reserve on that. 

21 MR. BAKER: Okay. But just so it's very clear for 

22 the record. 

23 MR. GELHMR: I understand. 

24 MS. BERNSTEIN: Could we take a break? 

25 MS. BARAN: Yes. Let's go off the record, please. 
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1 version that didn't have this handwriting on it; you probably 

2 sent her a version that was without the handwriting and the 

3 notes? 

4 A I don't know. 

5 Q Okay. 

6 A It would be practice for me as well to send a 

7 version with handwriting on it. 

8 Q Oh, really? You would, like, what PDF your 

9 handwriting notes and send it to her? 

1 0 A Correct. 

11 

12 

BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

Q And, actually, as I'm looking at the first page, it 

13 indicates that it was a PDF. Does that make it likely that 

14 you sent it with the notes on top? 

15 A Correct. 

16 BY MS. BARAN: 
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1 of course, contains the sentence "While we will continue to 

2 liquidate assets for our clients when they demand it, our 

3 advice" -- first I'm going to read it the way it appears --

4 "our advice is to hold the positions in anticipation of 

5 greater liquidity in the months to come." 

6 That particular sentence, as it was typewritten, on 

7 here was drafted by? 

8 A I believe by Sean. 

9 Q Okay. But there's a line through the words "our 

10 advice is to," and then there's words written in a bubble 

11 above? 

12 A Correct. 

13 Q Did you make that edit? 

14 A I made that edit, yes. 

15 Q Okay. 

16 A I don't know if that is -- in other words, I made 

17 Q Okay. So tell us everything you can remember about !17 the writing. I don't know for sure whether I made the 

18 did you have a discussion with Ms. Fries concerning 

19 specifically, then, the document that we see at 348 through 

20 350? 

21 A I did. 

22 Q Okay. Tell us about that conversation. 

23 A It took place the following day, and we discussed 

24 briefly the letter and the changes that I had suggested, and 

25 she was comfortable with them and with the letter generally. 
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1 Q Okay. And so when we look at pages 348 through 

2 350, again, are these changes that-- do you think that you 

3 sent to her, given especially that this says PDF on the 

4 attachment, did you send her, you think, the changes with 

5 your handwriting on it, and these were your changes? 

6 A Two questions. 

7 Q Yes. 

8 A The first one, yes, I believe this is the document 

9 that I PDF'd and sent to her with the handwritten comments on 

10 it. 

11 Q Terrific. 

12 A And the second question being whether these were my 

13 comments, you know, I honestly don't know. There was-- as I 

14 said earlier, there was a lot of collaboration in meetings 

15 where we would all kind of sit around the table. It's 

16 possible that I was certainly involved, but also just 

17 combining everyone's comments. It could be that they were m~ 

18 comments. I just don't recall which version this is. 

19 Q Okay. Well, you said you discussed the changes 

20 that you suggested, and she was comfortable. Can you 

21 indicate what changes you suggested? 

22 A I meant the changes that were on here. 

23 Q Okay. Good to know. 

--t Then looking through this, can-- let's take a look 

J specifically at page 350. The top partial paragraph there, 
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18 substantive comment-- change or not. Whether those specific 

19 words were my words. 

20 Q Okay. Did you, however, make-- want to make a 

21 change from "our advice is to hold" to something that was 

22 more like "we believe that many judicious investors will 

23 hold"? 

24 A Yes. 

25 Q Okay. So is it fair to say that the idea of 
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getting this letter away from the phrase "our advice is to 

2 hold" was your idea? 

3 A Yes. 

4 Q But you're not clear whether you are the specific 

5 source of the words "we believe that many judicious investors 

6 will"? 

7 A Correct. I just don't recall writing those words 

8 down. 

9 Q Okay. Then why did you want to make the change 

10 that we see here from "our advice is to hold" to something to 

11 the effect of "we believe that many judicious investors will 

12 hold"? 

13 A The statement "our advice" just struck me as 

14 something that, first, SSgA didn't do. They just weren't in 

15 the business of providing advice on whether to hold or sell 

16 funds for the clients. We just-- SSgA just provided funds 

17 and said, "You pick what you want." So it just seemed odd. 

18 And particularly given that this was Sean's letter, Sean, 

19 being the CIO, was not in the position to really give advice 

20 to the clients who had chosen the funds or not chosen the 

21 funds. So this seemed like a more -- a more SSgA way of 

22 saying what Sean had intended to say. 

23 Q And did you believe it was Flannery's opinion that 

24 he believed the best advice was to hold the positions? 

25 A Absolutely. 
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1 Q And why did he believe that? 1 A I don't think I really had discussions with a lot 

2 A Oh, he told me and others many times, "Smart money 2 of other people about it. I was kind of listening to them, 

3 stays. Selling now is trying to catch a falling knife. This 3 to Sean and the fixed income portfolio managers. 

4 will revert back in a month or two. People who are leaving, 4 BY MR. BAKER: 

5 that's really a dumb decision. We've seen historical 5 Q Well, how about anyone? 

6 reversions or"-- I don't have the right lingo, but, you 

7 know, "In March this happened, and it was back within two 

8 weeks, and people are locking in their losses now. This is 

9 --it is not a good move to stay in." 

6 A As to whether they agreed with this, with this 

7 concept? 

8 MS. BARAN: Yes. 

9 BY MR. BAKER: 

10 Q Was Mr. Flannery's view-- as far as you know, was 10 Q I mean I think that the question is: Was the view 

11 Mr. Flannery's view shared within the PM team? 11 universal within SSgA that it was a bad idea to sell, based 

12 MR. GELHAAR: Could I have just a moment? 12 on your understanding? 

13 MS. BARAN: Of course. 13 MR. GELHAAR: I have a basic problem with him 

14 MR. GELHAAR: Yeah. Can I have his previous answer 14 testifying as to whether he thought something was universally 

15 read back? I think that he might have done an oral typo. 15 understood in SSgA. 

16 (The reporter read back the record.) 16 MR. BAKER: Fair enough. 

17 THE WITNESS: Sorry. That is correct. I mistook 17 MR. GELHAAR: I just have to put that on the 

18 that. I said, "It is not a good move to stay in." It is not 18 record. 

19 a good move to sell out. 19 MR. BAKER: Okay. I think he said, "I didn't have 

20 MS. BARAN: Right. 20 conversations with a lot of other people about it." 

21 THE WITNESS: Thank you for catching me. 21 BY MR. BAKER: 

22 MR. GELHAAR: It was Mr. Kane's catch, not mine. 22 Q And I'm just wondering, did you have conversations 

23 MS. BERNSTEIN: I heard it. I just knew what you 23 with even one other person about it? 

24 meant. 24 A I'm sorry, I need a break for a second. I'm not 

25 BY MS. BARAN: 25 sure how to answer it. I want to ask my 
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Q You're comfortable with your answer as you've now 

2 re-articulated it? 

3 A Yes. Thank you. 

4 Q Got it. Was Mr. Flannery's view shared, first 

5 within the rest of the PM team, as far as you knew? 

6 A Yes. 

7 Q And how do you know that? 

8 A In these kind of group meetings that I was talking 
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MR. GELHAAR: Let me just ask you, just to -- are 

2 you concerned that if you answer this, that you might--

3 THE WITNESS: Step on privilege. 

4 MR. GELHAAR: -- cause a waiver of the attorney-

5 client privilege beyond the limited waiver that the bank has 

6 made? 

7 THE WITNESS: I am. 

8 MS. BARAN: Then before we go off the record, can I 

9 ask a different question? 

10 BY MS. BARAN: I 
9 about where Mike Wands and Paul Greff and sometimes Mike 

10 O'Hara were, they all shared that same view. 

11 Q Was Mr. Flannery's, Wands', Greff's, O'Hara's view 

12 shared throughout SSgA, as far as you know? To make clear, 

13 was their view that, you know, the best money stays, selling 

14 now is catching a falling knife, i.e., it's a bad idea to 

11 Q Okay. You also testified earlier that part of the I 
12 reason why you changed or why you advocated a change awa~ 

13 from the letter saying "our advice is to hold" to something I 
14 to the effect of "we believe that many judicious investors 

15 sell, was that view shared throughout SSgA? 

16 MR. GELHAAR: When you say "shared," do you mean 

17 did Sean share it with others or--

18 MS. BARAN: No. 

19 MR. GELHAAR: --did others agree with the view? 

20 BY MS. BARAN: 

21 Q Did others agree with the view? 

22 MR. GELHAAR: Based on what they told you, I'm 

23 assuming is part of the question. 

?4 THE WITNESS: Right. 

MS. BARAN: That is correct. 
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15 will hold" was because "SSgA didn't do this; we didn't make 

16 the advice." 

17 Are you aware of groups within SSgA who did advise 

18 their clients on whether they should hold or not hold 

19 particular positions? 

20 A In general, yes. There were two -- three small 

21 groups which were in that business, but that was the very--

22 I believe the very small part of SSgA. 

23 MS. BARAN: Okay. 

24 BY MR. BAKER: 

25 Q I guess just so it's clear for the record, Mr. 
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the editing of the August 14th letter? Was she seeing drafts 

2 up until the time it went out August 14th? 

3 A I believe so. We were relying heavily on outside 

4 counsel at that time. 

5 Q And what was -- what did you see her role in terms 

6 of reviewing the August 14th letter? 

7 A Really, to provide another legal review of the 
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8 letter based on what she knew and what she had seen and what 

9 she thought of the letter. 

10 BY MR. BAKER: 

11 Q Did you provide her the draft, any version of the 

12 FAQ's, the version that you were provided on August 12, which 

13 are on a privilege log, so we don't know whether they are 

14 draft or final, but did you provide her those FAQ's for 

15 purposes of her editing the letter, the August 14th letter, 

16 or reviewing it? 

17 A You know, I can't say for sure, so much was going 

18 on, whether I was focussed providing them the August 14th 

19 letter or for general review or for an overall picture. I 

20 just-- I don't recall. 

21 Q Well, was outside counsel involved in reviewing the 

22 draft FAQ's? 

23 MR. GELHAAR: Well, I think that goes beyond the 

limited waiver, and that would open up an entire other issue 

or-- apart from the letters, and so I would really have to 

ask the bank about that question. 
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2 MS. BERNSTEIN: Well, we're just asking whether 

3 there -- we're not asking for the content, I think. We're 

4 just asking whether or not they were involved in the process. 

5 And, again, I think that would end up -- you know, we could 

6 tediously come up with it on a privilege log if we saw enough 

7 versions of it one way or another. 

8 MR. GELHAAR: I make that prediction based on the 

9 fact that I think in the first go-round before the limited 

10 waiver when things went to outside counsel, they were all 

11 redacted, and so I'm assuming that the bank is taking the 

12 position that what they did in connection with anything that 

13 was given to them is privileged. But I'm happy to call the 

14 bank about that. 

15 MS. BERNSTEIN: Right. But they redacted the 

16 contents of it. They weren't redacting the fact that they 

17 were sent. And so the question is -- I guess we're back to 

18 why were they sent. 

19 MR. GELHAAR: I think he can and has testified that 

20 he understood that Liz Fries was looking at the letter, the 

21 August 14th letter, and relied on her review of that. I'm 

22 just not sure that he's allowed to talk about what he did, if 

23 anything, with respect to Ms. Fries and the FAQ's. But, 
0 -1 again, I'm happy to inquire. 

BY MR. BAKER: 
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1 Q I was going to try the question a different way. 

2 What information did SSgA provide to outside counsel, 

3 including Ms. Fries, for their review of the August 14th 

4 letter? 

5 A Well, we provided, obviously, a draft or drafts of 

6 the letter. We had conversations to discuss proposed 

7 changes. I believe they had FAQ's. They had the previous 

8 letter. I don't recall anything else. 

9 Q Fact sheets? Did they have fact sheets for 

10 purposes of the review of the August 14 letter? 

11 A I don't recall. 

12 Q Fund declarations? Again, I'm just listing things 

13 that they may--

14 A No. 

15 Q If you can recall whether they had them for 

16 purposes of review of the August 14th letter. 

17 A I don't recall. 

18 Q How about PowerPoint presentations about Limited 

19 Duration Bond Fund or other actively managed fixed income 

20 funds, did outside counsel have prior PowerPoint 

21 presentations on those funds for purposes of their review of 

22 the August 14th letter? 

23 A I don't remember. 

24 Q What about CAR alerts? Again, for the purpose of 

25 reviewing the August 14th letter. 
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A I don't know. 

BY MR. BAKER: 2 
3 Q And how about letters that were generated after CAR 

4 alerts? In other words, letters based on CAR alerts? Did 

5 outside counsel have any of those for purposes that they 

6 reviewed the August 14th letter? 

7 A The only one I'm aware of is the July 26 letter 

8 that that they had. 

9 Q Okay. That's the only letter that you're aware of? 

10 A That's the only CAR alert that turned into a 

11 letter. I had never heard of CAR alerts before. So I don't 

12 know if they had others. 

13 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

14 Q In your conversations with Ms. Fries, did she ever 

15 ask specifically for particul~r pieces of information? 

16 MR. GELHAAR: For the purposes--

17 MS. BERNSTEIN: Of reviewing the August 14th 

18 letter. 

19 A I don't recall her asking for anything specific. 

20 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

21 Q If not specific, do you have any general 

22 recollection as to types of information that she thought 

23 might be necessary in order to review the August 14th letter? 

24 A I don't remember. 

25 BY MR. BAKER: 
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Q How involved was Ms. Fries in the drafting of the 

2 August 14th letter from your perception at the time? 

3 A She was reviewing it and providing comments. I 

4 mean I don't --

5 Q Did you get the sense she was spending a very small 

6 amount of time on the letter, a large amount of time? Did you 

7 have any perspective on that at all? 

8 A No, I don't have any perspective on that. 

9 BY MS. SHIELDS: 
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1 believe many judicious investors will hold"? 

2 A Yes. 

3 Q And did they express any other reasons why -- did 

4 they express to you any other reasons why they felt that edit 

5 was appropriate? 

6 A Not that I recall. 

7 

8 
9 

MR. GELHAAR: Can I have a quick moment? 

MS. BARAN: Of course. 

MR. GELHAAR: I'd like to take a momentary break 

10 Q Do you know about how many drafts of the August 10 with the client, if we may. 

11 14th letter were sent to Ms. Fries? 11 MS. BARAN: Of course. We're off the record at 

12 A I don't recall. 12 3:35. 

13 Q Did you discuss it with her on more than one 13 (A brief recess was taken.) 

14 occasion? 14 MS. BARAN: We're back on the record after a brief 

15 A I believe so, yes. 15 break at 3:42 p.m. 

16 Q Do you recall about how many occasions there were 16 And during the break, there was no discussion had 

!17 in which you discussed the August 14th letter with Ms. Fries? 17 of any substance between the witness and the staff; correct? 

1

18 A I don't. I just have a general sense that we 18 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

19 talked every couple of days, but I don't have a specific 19 MS. BARAN: Okay. I think that, counsel, you had a 

l2o recollection of numbers. 20 clarifying question you wanted to ask? 

!21 Q So can you say it was maybe more than one time but 21 MR. GELHAAR: Right. During the break, the staff 

1 22 fewer than ten times? 22 and counsel for Mr. Duggan had a discussion about one of the I 
j23 A Yes. 23 questions that Mr. Baker had, and I just wanted to make sure i 
!24 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 24 that the record was completely clear on one particular issue, 

~ Q Do you have an understanding whether Ms. Fries ever 25 and the staff has agreed to indulge me to allow me to ask 
I 
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spoke directly to Sean Flannery regarding the August 14th 1 just a couple questions to make sure that the record is clear 

2 letter? 2 on a particular issue. 

3 A I don't recall that happening, but it could have. I 3 BY MR. GELHMR: 

4 just don't know. 4 Q I believe Mr. Baker asked in words or in substance 

5 BY MR. BAKER: 5 a question to the effect, what did SSgA provide to outside 

6 Q Did you ever see Goodwin Procter's billing records 6 counsel for the purpose of reviewing the August 14th letter, 

7 with regard to the August 14th letter review? 7 and you had an answer for that. 

8 A No. 8 With respect to the FAQ's, did you understand that 

9 Q Who would those go to at SSgA? 9 anyone from SSgA provided those to Ms. Fries specifically for 

10 A The invoices would have gone to Mitch. 10 the purpose of her reviewing the August 14th letter, or did 

11 Q Mitch Shames? 11 you understand Mr. Baker's question to be what is it that Ms. 

12 A Yes. 12 Fries had in her possession that she could have used to 

13 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 13 review or to enable her to review the August 14th letter? 

14 Q Did Sean Flannery know Liz Fries prior to this time 14 A I understood Mr. Baker's question to be the latter, 

15 period, the August 14th -- when the August 14th letter was 15 and that's the question that I answered. 

16 being edited? 16 MR. GELHAAR: Okay. Then with that clarification, 

17 A Yes. Liz was our kind of go-to counsel for years. 17 if Mr. Baker wants or anyone wants further follow-up 

18 So she was familiar with a lot of our business people. 18 questions, please, you should ask. Okay. 

19 Q And had there been occasions that a business 19 (SEC Exhibit No. 721 was marked for 

20 person, such as Sean Flannery, would reach out directly 20 identification.} 

BY MS. BARAN: 21 

22 

23 
~1 

without going through in-house counsel? 21 

A That had happened, yes. 22 Q All right. I'm handing you what we just marked as 

BY MS. BARAN: 23 Commission Exhibit 721. And Exhibit 721 has Bates numbers of 

Q Did Mr. Shames and Ms. Fries generally agree with 24 SS-SEC 103864 through 867, and just for identification, 

the change in the letter from "our advice is to hold" to "we 25 there's an e-mail stamp at the top of the first page 

DUGGAN_MARK_20100326 Pages 489 - 492 



10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

DATE: 

33 Arch Street 

Boston, Massachusetts 

Friday, May 7, 2010 

16 I The above-entitled matter came on for resumed hearing, 

17 I pursuant to notice, at 2:05p.m. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

I 

Diversified Reporting Services, Inc. 

(202) 467-9200 

DUGGAN MARK 20100507 

519 



Page 524 

1 there anything else that can affect your ability to 

2 understand the questions here today or to recall information? 

3 A No. 

4 Q Okay. I am going to show you a copy of Commission 

5 Exhibit 80. Copies all around. 

6 And this is just here for your reference primarily. 

7 We have shown you in previous testimony copies of Commission 

8 Exhibit 80. And as you can see, beginning on the page that 

9 is numbered in the lower right, SS SEC 87631, through the 

10 end, I believe, are two different versions of the August 14, 

11 2007 letter that was sent to clients. 

12 Are you familiar with this exhibit? 

13 A Yes, I am. 

14 Q And do you recognize this letter as being- or at 

15 least you have no reason to doubt that this is the final 

16 version of the August 14, 2007 letter? 

17 A That's correct. 

18 Q Okay. Now, you previously testified that you had 

19 had a telephone conversation with Ali Lowe of SSgA on the 

20 afternoon of July 26, 2007, at or around 4:00p.m. Do you 

21 recall that testimony? 

22 A I do. 

23 Q Do you recall that phone call? 

24 A I do. 

25 Q And you recall your prior testimony in a general 

1 way about that phone call? 

2 A Yes. 

3 Q You had previously testified that the general 
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4 subject matter of that call was GAA's strategy with respect 

5 to its investment in the active fixed income funds, including 

6 LDBF; do you recall that generally? 

7 A Yes. 

8 Q And that's accurate that that was the general 

9 subject matter of that telephone call? 

10 A Yes, it is. 

11 Q And do you have recall of that conversation as we 

12 sit here today? 

13 A Yes. 

14 Q Okay. Now, as a result of that conversation with 

15 Mr. Lowe, did you develop any understanding of whether the 

16 GAA group believed that its clients should continue to hold 

17 

18 

19 

20 

LDBF or related strategies? 

MR. GELHAAR: Could you repeat that question. 

MS. BARAN: Yes. 

BY MS. BARAN: 

21 Q As a result of the conversation with Ali Lowe, did 

22 you develop an understanding of whether the GAA group 

23 believed that its clients should continue to hold LDBF or 

24 related strategies? 

25 A I made an inference based on the conversation with 
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1 respect to Ali Lowe's views as to whether or not he should 

2 hold those interests. 

3 MS. BERNSTEIN: And what was that inference? 

4 THE WITNESS: I inferred that he did not want to 

5 hold them any longer. 

6 MS. BERNSTEIN: And on what do you base your 

7 inference? 

8 THE WITNESS: On --

9 MR. GELHAAR: She is not asking you, I am assuming, 

10 the specific words of Mr. Lowe--

11 THE WITNESS: No. 

12 MR. GELHAAR: --I am assuming, on the conversation 

13 or something else, is that what you are asking him? 

14 MS. BERNSTEIN: Yes, at this point. 

15 THE WITNESS: On the basis of the questions he 

16 asked me. 

17 BY MS. BARAN: 

18 Q And I believe you may be stopped, but can you tell 

19 us the questions that he asked you. 

20 MR. GELHAAR: We instruct you not to answer on the 

21 grounds of the attorney-client privilege. 

22 MS. BARAN: Okay. 

23 BY MS. BARAN: 

24 Q We have also discussed, and you have testified, 

that you made edits to the letter, the final version which we 
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1 see marked as Commission Exhibit 80, the letter of August 14, 

2 2007. 

3 Do you recall that testimony? 

4 A Yes, I do. 

5 Q Is it accurate to say that you did make certain 

6 edits to the letter we see marked within Exhibit 80, correct? 

7 A Yes. 

8 Q Now, when you made edits to the August 14 letter, 

9 did you consider at all the inference that you had drawn 

10 based on the conversation that you had had with Ali Lowe in 

11 which you drew an inference that you believed that Ali Lowe 

12 did not want to instruct his clients to continue to hold the 

13 LDBF or the related strategies? 

14 A I'm sorry, could you repeat that? 

15 Q I will give it a shot. 

16 MS. BERNSTEIN: Let me see if I can do it clearer. 

17 When you were providing edits on the August 14 

18 letter, did you consider any inferences you took from your 

19 conversation with Ali Lowe? 

20 THE WITNESS: I do not recall doing so. 

21 BY MS. BARAN: 

22 Q And when you were providing edits to the August 14, 

23 2007 letter, did you discuss with anyone, first off, any 

24 inferences that you had taken from your conversation with Ali 

25 Lowe that we have already discussed? 
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1 A I don't know where those letters or communications 

2 actually, you know, where they went to. 

3 Q What was the intended final audience of those 

4 letters? 

5 A My understanding was that it was going to the 

6 investor base who had exposure through whatever vehicles in 

7 subprime. 

8 Q And is that the same, with regard to each of the 

9 three investment commentaries and the Prudential 

10 litigation-related document? 

11 A I had, I am aware of the July investment commentary 

12 as well as the first one that went out in August, third 

13 communication, but the second one in August, I had very 

14 little involvement with, so I can't comment who that was 

15 intended to. But the first two, my memory is that, it was 

16 intended to go to investors in those funds, who had subprime 

17 exposure. 

18 The October communication, it was my understanding, 

19 it was going to go to all of SSgA's clients and it possibly, 

20 my memory is that it could also have been intended to, gone 

21 out to, like, in a press release type of form, that is a 

22 vague memory. 

23 Q Okay. At least with regard to the two that you had 

24 some involvement in, we haven't gotten to how much 

25 involvement, but some involvement? 
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1 A Sure. 

2 Q And the Prudential litigation-related document, I 

3 assume that there are facts in each of these documents; is 

4 that fair to say, like, including the potential risk 

5 reduction or exposure factor that you just testified about? 

6 A I assume, I mean, I'm not looking at it, I assume 

7 they are facts. 

8 Q Do you have a recollection of there being facts 

9 described in these letters to investors? 

10 A Yes. There were some facts, but there was also a 

11 lot of, what I would characterize as, investment opinion. 

12 Q Okay. Well, with regard to just the fact portion? 

13 A Yes. 

14 Q For whatever was expressed in these letters, did 

15 you, in reviewing these documents, in whatever involvement 

16 you had in the documents, did you just accept the facts as 

17 true, or did you do anything to test the accuracy or 

18 completeness of the facts, as they were expressed in the text 

19 of the document? 

20 MR. HENNES: If I could just interrupt? It might be 

21 easier if you go one by one, simply because they are separate 

22 communications and involvement in each one was different. 

23 BY MR. BAKER: 

24 Q Well, is the answer going to be different? I mean 

~5 in other words, with regard to some facts in these 
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1 commentaries, did you sometimes do follow-up inquiry as to 

2 accuracy and completeness and sometimes not, or was it always 

3 that you did, or always that you didn't? 

4 A As my role as general counsel of SSgA, I viewed my 

5 primary obligation and responsibility to be, to assemble the 

6 right team with the right expertise to handle various 

7 matters. By training, I'm a tax and ERISA lawyer, so when 

8 these-- when I received the first draft of this investment 

9 commentary, I assembled the right team, which in my mind was 

10 Mark Duggan, Chris Douglass, Glenn Ciotti and Liz Fries. And 

11 while I reviewed the documents for purposes of clarity, I had 

12 the confidence that my team of counsel was doing what they 

13 deemed necessary to review the communication. 

14 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

15 Q And is that true of the second letter as well as 

16 the first one? 

17 A Yes. 

18 BY MR. BAKER: 

19 Q And is it true as of the Prudential litigation 

20 letter as well? 

A Yes-

a Who - sorry. 

21 

22 

23 A Although, the team, it was the legal team, okay, so 

specific lawyers looked at one, but not another, but the 

legal team of inside and outside counsel. 
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1 Q Okay. But in terms of your involvement, it was the 

2 same, in other words, you assembled the team, but didn't 

3 yourself do any independent fact-checking; is that correct? 

4 A Correct, I reviewed the Jetter for clarity 

5 purposes, and again, this varies by communication, but I was 

6 involved in the collection and coordination of comments. 

7 MR. HENNES: And when you said "the third letter," 

8 you really meant the October letter, not the August 14 

9 letter, which is the third letter, chronologically? 

10 THE WITNESS: Sorry. 

11 MS. BERNSTEIN: I was assuming that he meant the 

12 third letter he had involvement in. 

13 THE WITNESS: Yes, thank you. 

14 BY MR. BAKER: 

15 Q And we will look at the letters to avoid any 

16 confusion on that on the record, but just so your testimony 

17 is clear, with regard to any letters that went to investors 

18 on subprime matters in 2007 by SSgA or anyone at SSgA, if 

19 somebody signed the letters, did you ever do any of your own 

20 fact checking about facts that were expressed in those 

21 letters? 

22 A Well, in my review of the communications for 

23 clarity purposes, based upon my knowledge, there was --

24 nothing gave rise for me to warrant to looking into any of 

25 the facts that were set forth. These were facts -- these were 
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1 first letter that you see there, is a letter that's referred 1 privileged answer. 

2 to as "July 27th letter to clients"? 2 THE WITNESS: No, I don't recall as to why he 

3 A Yes. 3 wanted it reviewed. 

4 Q And I think you will actually see in the text of 4 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

5 the e-mail, it's dated either July 26th or July 27th, okay? 5 Q Which lawyers, if any, did review this July 27th 

6 A Yes. 6 letter? 

7 Q So with regard to that letter, have you had an 7 A First, I just want to be clear for a second. I'm 

8 opportunity now to read it? 8 not sure if it was precisely this letter, but the 

9 A Yes. 9 communication that came out in July, I received it first, and 

10 Q Okay. And prior to the end of your employment at 10 I reviewed it quickly, and saw that it was an investment 

11 State Street Global Advisors on October 26 of 2007, did you 11 commentary and I then relayed it to Mark Duggan, Chris 

12 see a final version of this letter, the July 27th letter? 12 Douglass and eventually I brought in Glenn Ciotti as well, 

13 A I do not recall if I saw this version of the 13 and I also forwarded a copy to Liz Fries for review. 

14 letter. 14 Q Did you provide any edits, in connection with the 

115 Q Okay. Did you see any drafts of whafs referred to 15 July 27th letter? 

I 16 here in Exhibit 16 as the "July 27th letter to clients"? 16 A I don't recall specific edits. 

17 A I remember seeing and reviewing drafts of a 17 Q Even if you don't recall a specific edit that you 

18 communication, which resulted in a letter to clients. I 

1

. 18 did, did you mark it up in any way, to the best of your 

. 19 just, you know, am unable to say that this is the letter. 19 recollection? 
I 

1

20 Q Who drafted this letter, the July 27th letter? I 20 A I may have. 

21 A My memory is that this letter is the same 21 Q Did you have any conversations with Sean Flannery 

122 communication that I referred to earlier as the "market 22 or others, as to what it meant if you marked up a letter? In 

1 
23 commentary," and my memory is that, this was drafted by 23 other words, what kind of advice-- let me rephrase that. 

~
4 senior level fixed-income professionals as well as -- yes, 24 Did you have any communications, I'm not asking about the 

25 the senior fixed-income professionals. Possibly some eli~ 25 content at this point, just sort of a ~!'_es or no,". did you ~ 
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1 service, or client-facing professionals may have reviewed 1 have any communications with Sean Flannery or others on the 

2 drafts. 2 business side, as to what it meant when you edited a 
1 

3 Q You say "senior level fixed-income professionals;" 3 communication? I 
4 who? 4 MR. HENNES: Yes or no, or I don't recall. 

5 A My memory is that it would have been Sean Flannery, 5 THE WITNESS: I don't recall. 

6 I think Mike Wands. Who else? Possibly Frank Gianatasio, 6 BY MR. BAKER: 

7 members of the active fixed-income team. And I'm unclear if 7 Q Okay. Just to follow-up on that, you say you 

8 possibly Larry Carlson, Adele Kohler, may have been involved. 8 relayed, I think you said you did a quick review of the July 

9 These were people who were generally involved in the review 9 27th letter when you received the initial draft; is that 

10 process. 1 0 correct? 

11 Q I think you said, you think Mike Wands, maybe 11 A Yes. 

12 Gianatasio, I don't remember exactly what word you used, but 12 Q And then at that point in time, you relayed it to, 

13 essentially possibly Kohler and Carlson, you didn't have any 13 relayed the letter to Duggan, Douglass and eventually Ciotti 

14 sort of qualifier there for Mr. Flannery, are you sure Mr. 14 and Fries? 

15 Flannery was involved in the drafting of this letter? 15 A Yes. 

16 A As to the specific, who wrote the letter, it could 16 Q Okay. With regard to-- Deena asked you a question 

17 be any of those, including Sean, Mr. Flannery. What I do 17 about if you had an understanding of what your role was in 

18 remember is that Mr. Flannery had said to me that a 18 the letter; what was the role of Duggan in the drafting of 

19 communication was being prepared and that he wanted it 19 this letter, the drafting, editing, review, approval of the 

20 reviewed by the legal group, but as far as who drafted it, I 20 letter? 

21 don't have that specific knowledge. 21 A When I reviewed the letter and I identified that it 

22 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 22 was a client-- a market commentary, I wanted to bring in 

23 Q Without getting, do you have any understanding why 23 lawyers who specifically had investment and securities 

24 he wanted it reviewed by the legal group? 24 experience. And so I assembled a team which would have--

~5 MR. HENNES: To the extent that doesn't call for a 25 team which I would have been confident in, would have 
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1 reviewed the letter in a way that they thought was necessary 

2 in order for the legal group to sign-off on the letter. 

3 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

4 Q Who was the one who, ultimately, from the legal 

5 side of it, signed off on the July 27th letter? 

6 A It was a, if you will, what I would call a group 

7 sign off, but as head of the legal group, I relied upon the 

8 work that the team had done and that the legal group had, in 

9 fact, reviewed and signed off on the letter, on a letter. 

10 BY MR. BAKER: 

11 Q When, in connection with your initial review, did 

12 you relay, that's your word "relay," the letter to Duggan? 

13 MR. HENNES: I don't remember him using the word 

14 relay, but if that's your word--

15 MR. BAKER: I think he said, "relayed it." 

16 MR. HENNES: Or he passed it on. 

17 BY MR. BAKER: 

18 Q When did you pass the letter on for review, you say 

19 you assembled a team to look at this? 

20 MS. BERNSTEIN: He said "relayed" in my notes. 

21 MR. HENNES: That's fine. 

22 BY MR. BAKER: 

23 Q When, in connection with when you got it, versus 

24 when Duggan gets involved, how long? 

25 A I don't remember precisely, but it was, I think 
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1 relatively quickly, you know, a day or two. 

2 Q Okay. And how about Douglass, the same question. 

3 How long between the time when you do your first, sort of 

4 quick review of the letter, and when you relayed it to him? 

5 A I don't remember whether I did it at the same time, 

6 or I could have done it another day later, I just don't 

7 remember with that specificity. 

8 Q Was it early on, or near the end? 

9 A Oh, sorry, sorry, it was early. 

10 Q How long before the letter went out did you get 

11 your initial draft and looked at it? So the letter, we think 

12 goes out July 26th or 27th, how long before the July 26th or 

13 27th did you first review a draft of this letter? 

14 A You know, I don't remember precisely, but it was a 

15 longer period than I initially thought, in other words, this 

16 letter went through multiple, multiple revisions by the 

17 business people. 

18 Q How about by the legal people? 

19 A The legal people generally reviewed, as the draft 

20 changed it is, you know, my assumption that the business 

21 people continued to submit drafts to the legal group. 

22 Q Well, approximately how long, I mean was it days, 

23 minutes, weeks? 

?4 A No, no, it was weeks. 

Q Okay. And was that unusual, in terms of your 
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experience at SSgA for a letter to investors, a market 

2 commentary to investors, to take weeks to be finalized? 

3 A To my memory, the legal group had not been involved 

4 in the review of many-- market commentary, so I have nothing 

5 to judge that against; however, it was my initial 

6 understanding that this letter was going out soon after, you 

7 know, it was my impression that the letter was close to final 

8 draft when I received it the first time. 

9 Q But it turned out it wasn't; is that correct? 

10 A Yes, in other words it took, again whether it was 

11 ten days or two weeks, I don't recall. 

12 Q Okay. Who, if anyone, held up that process, I mean 

13 why did it go from, you get the letter and you think it is 

14 nearly final to go out, and yet it takes several weeks; why? 

15 A I don't know why, other than the fact that various 

16 business people were commenting on it. 

17 Q Well, is what you are saying that business people's 

18 edits, or comments to it, was what caused the time period to 

19 stretch out, as opposed to, say, legals looking at the 

20 document and holding it up? 

21 A Yes. 

22 Q All right. So you get the letter, some period of 

23 weeks goes by before it finally goes out, I think your 

24 testimony is, you are not quite sure exactly when you 

25 fotwarded the letter or relayed the letter to Duggan, for his 
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1 involvement, but it was pretty soon after you received it; is I 
2 that fair to say? 

3 A Yes. 

4 Q Okay. And is that the same with Douglass, again, 

5 you are not sure exactly when, but it was pretty soon after 

6 you did your first review of the July 27th letter that you 

7 fotwarded it to him, for his involvement? 

8 A Yes. My memory is that I assembled the team soon 

9 upon receiving the letter, so whether it was that day, the 

10 next day, you know, but my response was to assemble a team. 

11 Q Okay. Ciotti, is he part of the team, from the 

12 get-go? 

13 A That I don't remember, if he was on, you know, the 

14 first time I pulled everyone together, but I know that I 

15 remember that I wanted his experience as part of the legal 

16 team's review. 

17 Q Okay. And Fries, is that how I say it? 

18 A Yes, Fries. 

19 Q Did she get involved in the letter early on, in 

20 terms of the timeframe of your involvement, was it soon 

21 aftetwards that she gets involved? 

22 A Yes, that's my memory. 

23 Q And is it, in fact, the case that she was involved 

24 in reviewing the July 26th letter? 

25 A Yes. 
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BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 1 

2 Q But does that refresh your recollection that he, in 

3 fact, did have comments though, whether you remember the 

4 substance of them? 

5 A Yes. 

6 BY MR. BAKER: 

7 Q I think you may have precluded my next question, 

8 but it appears that you were trying to schedule some sort of 

9 a meeting with Mr. Hunt to talk about the letter, do you see 

10 that? 

11 A Yes. 

A My understanding was that this was an accomplished 

2 and well-experienced team of legal advisors, and that they 

3 would raise the issues and make changes, so that the letters 

4 were consistent with whatever rules and regulations we're 

5 subject too. 

6 Q Did you ever communicate to them that the purpose 

7 of their review was to ensure that the letters complied with 

8 the securities laws? 

9 A I had worked so closely, over the years, with Liz 

10 Fries and with Mark Duggan, that I didn't feel that there was 

11 a need to be specific as to that, because they were experts 

12 Q I think you just said you don't have any 12 in these areas. 

13 independent recollection of what Mr. Hunt's comments were on 13 BY MS. BARAN: 

14 the letter. Do you have any recollection of the meeting you 

15 had with Mr. Hunt about the letter, whether it even occurred, 

16 what's reference here? 

17 MR. HENNES: If you had a meeting? 

18 MR. BAKER: Right. 

19 THE WITNESS: I don't recall. 

20 MR. HENNES: Mr. Baker, a good time for a break, we 

21 have been going for about an hour and ten minutes? 

22 MR. BAKER: Sure. Let's go off the record, the 

23 time is 3:40 p.m. 

14 Q Did you ever ask them whether they felt they had 

15 all of the facts necessary that they needed to make their 

16 determination? 

17 A I don't recall. 

18 Q Did Ms. Fries, in particular, do you know whether 

19 she had the relevant facts she needed, in order to make an 

20 adequate legal opinion? 

21 A Well, I communicated with Ms. Fries during the 

22 course of reviewing, you know, we just finished the July 

23 letter, it was also my understanding that there were-- that 
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24 (A brief recess was taken.) 24 she was having communications with Mark Duggan and possibly 

25 MR. BAKER: We are back on the record at about 4:00 25 others on the team, so I had confidence that she either had 
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1 p.m. on September 25, 2009. Mr. Hennes, will you just 1 the information that she needed, or that she would have 

2 confirm there were no conversations of any substance betwee1 2 requested the information that she needed. 

3 the staff and the witness, or the staff and counsel for the 3 Q In your view, did Mr. Duggan have all of the facts 

4 witness during the break? 4 he needed in order to sign off on the letter? 

5 MR. HENNES: There were no such conversations. 5 A Again, Mark Duggan had the experience and the 

6 MR. BAKER: Thank you. 6 expertise, and I had the confidence in that, that he would 

7 BY MR. BAKER: 7 have undertaken what he needed to undertake, along with Ms. 

8 Q Mr. Shames, you described earlier, I think it was 8 Fries, to provide the approval. 

9 your testimony with regard to the letters that you were 9 Q Okay. And other than that, did you ever ask him, 

10 involved in in some way, that legal did approve the letters; 10 "do you feel you have all of the facts you need in order to 

11 is that correct? 11 sign off on this letter? 

12 A That's my memory, yes. 12 A I don't recall. 

13 Q Okay. What does that mean? 13 BY MR. BAKER: 

14 A It means that the legal team determined that the 14 Q I am going to try and do this in context. The final 

15 letters met the standards, or the requirements that would 15 version, I will read to you a sentence again of the final 

16 need to be met. 16 version, the July 261etter, which was previously marked as 

17 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 17 Exhibit 16. It just states, I read this on the record 

18 Q And what standards would those be? 18 previously; "We have been seeking to reduce risk in those 

19 A Well, as I had mentioned earlier, I'm an ERISA and 19 portfolios where we believe it is appropriate by taking 

20 a tax lawyer by training, but, it was my understanding that I 20 advantage of liquidity in the market when it exists, and will 

21 would assemble the team of securities lawyers, so I will say, 21 continue to do so, while seeking to avoid putting undue 

22 generally, securities laws. 22 pressure on asset valuations." I have asked you some 

23 Q Do you have an understanding that they understood 23 questions about that, I think your testimony is, you just 

24 that that was what they were supposed to be doing, when they 24 don't know if legal offered any advice on that, correct? 

25 were looking at these letters? A Yes, I don't recall. 
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Q And you don't recall whether legal had any facts, 1 not something should be checked, or whether it could be 

sort of independent of whatever was being told to them in a 2 accepted for what it was. 

drafted letter on those matters; is that correct? 3 Q Okay. And I realize this is sort of a hypothetical 

4 A Yes. 4 question, but I'm trying to base it on your process, at 

5 Q Okay. In terms of just a process issue, of getting 5 least? 

6 this communication out the door, was it your, what was your 6 A Yes. 

7 understanding of the role of legal in reading a sentence like 7 Q Assuming that all of the attorneys or any 
1 

8 that and approving the letter that it contains a sentence 8 particular attorney that you assembled to review this letter I 
9 like that? 9 didn't know any facts, one way to other, concerning the 

1 0 Let me be a little more specific. Did legal have 10 statement that I read, but they were an expert in some area 

11 to go and ask somebody whether it was accurate to say that 11 of the law, whatever area it might be that you think Ms. 

12 SSgA was seeking to reduce risks in those portfolios, in 12 Fries was an expert on, or Mr. Duggan was an expert on, woul 

13 order for it to approve this letter? 13 you expect any of those people in that scenario, not knowing I 
14 A Well, when I read the letter and the early drafts 14 the facts, but being an expert on whatever they are an expert 

15 of it, I relied upon the accuracy of the letter, because I 15 on the law, would you expect that they would do anything to 

16 was not aware of any facts it would indicate otherwise, and I 16 educate themselves about the facts, or would you expect that 

17 think other members of the team would be able to review the 17 they would simply take this at face value? 

18 letter and determine, based upon the facts that they were 18 A My expectation is that they could do or undertake 

19 aware of, whether or not they needed to, you know, check 119 whatever, ask any questions that they had and if they-- if 

20 facts or anything like that. 20 they felt, because of their knowledge of the law that they 

21 Q Okay. 21 needed to question things, it would be my expectation that 

22 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 22 they would. 

23 Q Did you have an expectation of, if they needed more 23 Q And was there any guidance that you provided to 

24 facts, that they would go out and get them? 24 them on that, like, "if you have questions, ask them," any 

25 A I was confident that the team would undertake 25 guidance at all on what criteria or criterion they should 
f----------------------------------------~------------------------------------~ 

Page 159 

whatever actions they needed to undertake, in order to sign 

2 off on the letter. 

3 BY MR. BAKER: 

4 Q All right. From a process perspective, I want to 

5 know if you ca.n be more specific on something like this. If 

6 somebody on your team, or an outside counsel that was 

7 responsible for the July 26 letter, you said yourself, you 

8 assembled a team of attorneys to look at the letter, correct? 

1 
9 A Yes. 

' 10 Q Okay. If somebody on your team read this statement 

11 in their review of the letter? 

12 A Yes. 

13 Q And they had no idea whether it was true or false, 
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1 apply in determining whether to ask for, further question? 

2 A Again, since this was outside of my general area of 

3 expertise, I relied upon the fact of their experience that 

4 they could and should do whatever is necessary to provide the 

5 review of the letter. 

6 BY MS. BERNSTEIN: 

7 Q Isn't it fair to say that ultimately they're 

8 relying on the business side experts for the information, for 

9 the facts that are contained within the letter, the business 

10 people are the ones who know? 

11 A Yes. And-- yes. 

12 BY MR. BAKER: 

13 Q And based on your experience of working with 

14 they didn't know whether it was true or false, like anyone j14 Duggan, Fries, or anyone else who worked on the July 26 

15 else in the world or an investor would know whether it was 115 letter, for a statement like, "we have been seeking to reduce 

16 true or false, they just didn't know if SSgA was seeking to 16 risk," would you expect any of those people would do anything 
I 

17 reduce risk or not, would you expect that each of the members 1 17 to check the accuracy of that? 
I 

18 of your team, both in-house and outside counsel, would do j 18 A I don't recall. 

19 anything to educate themselves about that, or would you 119 Q You don't recall, what, exactly? 

20 expect that they would just accept it as true? j20 A You know, that when I read that, that I expected 

21 A My expectation was, you know, just like when I read 1 21 them to check that. 

22 it, in other words, that it would be the same process, that 122 Q Was that the kind of fact that you would just, "we 

23 they read the letter, and also based upon their knowledge of 123 have been seeking to reduce risk in those portfolios," is 

24 the law and what's required that maybe - and the facts that !24 that the kind of fact that you would expect the attorneys 

~5 they knew, and they would determine as a judgment whether o{ 25 working under you to simply accept the business people at 
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1 September you gave me a description of what you were doing 

2 for employment. Has that changed at all since September '09, 

3 your current employer, and what you are doing for business? 

4 A No, that hasn't changed. 

5 Q And I just gave you a copy of a previously marked 

6 document, Exhibit 16. I don't actually have any questions 

7 about that at this time. It's another document I just wanted 

8 to make sure you had available to you during your testimony 

9 today, because I'm going to be asking you about certain 

10 letters that SSgA sent to clients in the 2007 time frame. 

11 The letters are set forth in this document that 

12 I'll represent in their final form, at least in template 

13 fashion, so you have, for example, on the first page is a 

14 letter that was sent July 26 or 27 to clients; I think these 

15 are letters that we looked at in your prior testimony. 

16 I'll be referring to that today as the July 26 

17 Jetter. Again, you can review it as needed. I don't have 

18 any questions on the document. 

19 The other documents I'm going to be asking you 

20 about is an August 2 letter, which is on Page 2, and the next 

21 letter is actually the fourth letter in this document. It's 

22 at Page 4 of the document. It's an August 14 letter signed 

23 by Sean Flannery. 

I don't have any questions about that right now. I 

just wanted to make sure you had it in the stack, and we will 

Page 

1 be pulling it out as we go through the testimony. 

2 I just gave you another previously marked Exhibit 

3 No. 678, and this is a document with Bates Nos. 11 SEC 120201 

4 through 120204. It contains two e-mails on the first page 

5 and an attached document on the other three pages, the last 

6 three pages of the exhibit. 

7 Actually, it looks like there are one, two, three 

8 e-mails on the first page; the first e-mail at the bottom, 

9 just describing for you here, is from Patricia Hudson to 

10 Stacy Reardon, copied to several people. 

11 It appears Patricia Hudson forwards that e-mail, 

12 which has an attached document to it, to you on July 12, 

13 2007, at 5:52p.m. Do you see that in the middle of the 

14 page? 

15 A Yes. 

16 Q She says, 'Thanks, Mitch. Sean confirmed to me 

17 this afternoon that he wanted this to be vetted by legal. 

18 Nothing has gone out to clients yet. The updated version 

19 refers to the updates to an earlier draft that didn't go out. 

20 Best. Tricia." 

21 Is this the first time that you received a draft of 

22 a letter that ultimately became the July 26 letter that was 

23 sent to clients of SSgA? 

24 A Yes, my memory is that this is the first time that 

25 I received a document concerning subprime. 

SHAMES_MITCHELL_201 00428 
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1 Q And had you had any prior communication, whether it 

2 be oral or anything, with Ms. Hudson before she sent this e-

3 mail to you attaching the letter? 

4 A I don't recall. 

5 Q Had you had any communications prior to Ms. Hudson 

6 sending you this letter with anyone other than Mr. Hudson 

7 about a draft client communication that State Street was 

8 putting together concerning the subprime situation? 

9 A Yes. I remember having a brief conversation with 

10 Sean Flannery who was, who indicated that he had asked 

11 Patricia to forward me a copy of a letter. 

12 Q And you think that that occurred before Ms. Hudson 

13 forwarded you this letter on July 12? 

14 A I think so. 

15 Q I think in your prior testimony you testified about 

16 a conversation you had with Flannery when he first asked you 

17 to look at a market commentary that had been drafted and 

18 recalled that that was a brief meeting with Flannery in your 

19 office. 

20 

21 

Is that the same meeting you're recalling now? 

A Yes, that I'm referring to. 

22 MR. HENNES: Make sure you let him finish the 

23 question. 

24 BY MR. BAKER: 

Q At this point in time -- by this point in time, 
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1 meaning July 12, 2007, around 5:52p.m., when you received 

2 the first draft of what becomes the July 26 client 

3 communication, what was your understanding of what legal's 

4 role was with regard to vetting the letter, if you will? 

5 MR. HENNES: You just said the first draft. I 

6 think you meant to say the first draft that he received. 

7 BY MR. BAKER: 

8 Q The first draft that you received. Let rne restate 

9 it so it's clear for the record. 

10 At this point in time, about 5:52p.m. on July 12, 

11 2007, what was your understanding of what legal's role was 

12 with regard to vetting the draft letter? 

13 A My understanding of legal's role was that we were 

14 to revieW the letter to see whether it raised any legal 

15 issues. 

16 Q Any particular legal issues, or is it just 

17 generally any legal issues? 

18 A I don't remember that any issues were identified 

19 for us. 

20 Q Had you had any discussions with anyone prior to 

21 receiving the draft letter from Hudson on July 12th about 

22 what legal's role would be in reviewing the draft letter? 

23 A I don't recall. 

24 Q Prior to receiving this draft letter on July 12, 

25 had anyone provided you with facts about the subprime 
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1 bottom of page 7542703 sent by you, apparently, Sunday, 

2 August 12th, to Relationship Management U.S. and consultant 

3 liaisons, and then it continues obviously on to --

4 A Yes. That is what it looks like, yes. 

5 Q Okay. Is it accurate to say that relationship 

6 managers or client facing people could sort of opt out of 

7 sending their clients this letter? 

8 A I don't-- if I am not mistaken, I think this is 

9 one of the letters we sent via Onyx. I think this is one of 

10 the ones that we actually sent through Onyx. 

11 Q I am going to refer you to the second paragraph of 

12 your top e-mail on the page of Exhibit 367. 

13 A Yes. 

14 Q It says, "We will include your clients on this 

15 e-mail unless told specifically that we cannot for some 

16 reason." 

17 A Right. Those are non U.S. We don't have any 

18 control over the non U.S. relationship people. 

19 Q Got it. And why is that? Why don't you have any 

20 control over the non U.S.--

21 A They have a completely different reporting 

22 structure. 

23 Q Okay. Is it fair to say that SSgA would want the 

24 same message to go to all clients regardless of where the 

25 clients were located in the world? 
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Q Okay. Thank you. I am handing you what has been 

2 marked as Commission Exhibit No. 368. 

3 A Yes. 

4 Q Commission Exhibit 368 is an e-mail from Amish 

5 Oholakia. 

6 A Close, yes. Dholakia, correct. 

7 Q Okay. And Amish is A-M-1-S-H? 

8 A Yes. 

9 Q Last name, D-H-0-L-A-K-1-A? 

10 A Yes. 

11 Q Sent Monday, August 13th, to Larry Carlson, some 

12 copies, attachments again, Fund Participants 8(1/07. 

13 A Yes. 

14 Q Does this indicate that, again, the fund 

15 participants as of 8/1/07 would be, as he says, the 

16 spreadsheet with all the updates? 

17 A Yes. That is how I read this. So clients that had 

18 terminated, yes. 

19 Q And finally, I am just going to hand you a copy of 

20 what has been previously marked as 7543120 through-- pardon 

21 me. I am going to hand you what has previously been marked 

22 as Commission Exhibit 369. The Bates stamps are 7543120 

23 through 3508. 

24 A Yes. 

25 Q And that appears to be the continuation of what was 
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A I don't know. That was up to the people in those I 1 marked as Commission Exhibit No. 368 and the fund 

2 particular locales to decide that. 

3 Q Let's look at Page 7542704. 

4 A Okay. 

5 Q I am going to refer you to the paragraph of your 

6 e-mail that says, "So by two p.m. Monday." 

7 A Mm-hmm. 

8 Q If you want to read through that and let me know 

9 when you are done. 

10 (The witness examined the document.) 

11 A Okay. I think I understand it. 

12 Q Okay. Yes. So what is the meaning of that 

13 

14 

paragraph just so we are sure we understand? 

A Chris and Amish were two people that worked on 

15 gathering information from Onyx as we had received 

16 previously. And if I understand this correctly, we were not 

17 going to send to clients that had already terminated or 

18 already left us. 

19 Q Okay. So other than clients that had already 

20 terminated, the idea was that every client--

21 

22 

23 

24 

5 

A Correct. 

Q --at SSgA invested in LDBF or in strategies that 

used LDBF were to receive the Flannery letter, with the 

exception of those who had already terminated. Correct? 

A Yes. 

Carlson_ Larry_ 20090316 

2 participants. Is that accurate that this spreadsheet with 

3 the Bates numbers following 7543120 and on is the attachment 

4 to the e-mail that we have marked as Commission Exhibit 368? 

5 A I would guess that it would be. I mean I can't 

6 tell for sure, but it certainly seems reasonable that it 

7 would be. 

8 Q So that would be the list of people who would 

9 receive the Sean Flannery letter? 

10 A Yes. 

11 MR. O'CONNOR: Some would receive it, some wouldn't. 

12 It looks from the description of the e-mail and the 

13 attachment letter, all three tabs printed out. 

14 THE WITNESS: Yes. I don't know which tabs are 

15 there, I am not sure. 

16 

17 

MR. O'CONNOR: Yes. Okay. 

BY MS. BARAN: 

18 Q Let's refer back to Commission Exhibit 368 then. 

19 If we can compare what we have marked as Commission Exhibit 

20 369 with the e-mail that Amish Dholakia sent, which we have 

21 marked as Commission Exhibit 368, would that give us the list 

22 of clients who would have received the Sean Flannery letter? 

23 A Yes. !think the only thing I can't tell by this 

24 versus what is there is what tabs of the entire workbook is 

printed off or a specific worksheet, so I don't know by 
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1 Q The third paragraph of this letter says, starts 

2 with: Certain SSgA commingled funds. Do you see that? 

3 A Yes. 

4 Q Certain SSgA commingled funds holding interest in 

5 LDBF intend to redeem in kind their respective proportionate 

6 interests. 

7 Who made that decision that SSgA commingled funds 

8 were going to be redeemed in kind their respective 

9 proportional interest in LDBF? 

10 A I don't know who made that decision. 

11 Q Did you know about that decision prior to August 6? 

12 A I don't recall knowing about that decision. 

13 Q Did you have any role in making that decision; that 

involved in the process. 

2 Q Okay. Did you approve or sign off on the letters 

3 before they were sent? 

4 A On the August 14 Sean Flannery letter? 

5 Q Yes. 

6 A It didn't require my sign off. but I had, I would 

7 have looked at it and thought - I don't recall seeing any 

8 problem with it. 

9 Q Do you know, in addition to those you've 

10 identified, Mr. Flannery, yourself, client services, counsel, 
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11 do you know of anyone else who even just provided comments on 

12 the letters before they were sent? 

13 A I don't know of specific people who provided 

14 is, SSgA commingled funds were going to redeem in kind their 14 specific comments. 

15 respective proportionate interests? 15 Q Do you know why this letter was sent, who made the 

16 A I don't recall any role in that decision. 16 decision to send the letter? 

17 Q Were you informed? 17 A Again, I think it was, if it was talked about at 

18 A I don't recall being informed with regards to that 18 the EMG, there was a desire to communicate to our clients 

19 decision. 19 about events taking place in the market. 

20 Q Let me hand you what's previously been marked as 20 Q Was there a discussion at the EMG prior to August 

21 Commission Exhibit 80, and just to identify, Commission 

22 Exhibit 80 has Bates stamps at the lower right from SS-SEC 

21 17, 2007, saying we need to send a letter to clients prior to 

22 the letter being sent? 

23 87629 through 87636, and for identification purposes there is i 23 

24 an email stamp at the top of the first page indicating from 

A I don't recall anything about letters, but 

nunicating with clients around market events was something 

was there. 25 Jan Adams sent Tuesday, August 14, 2007, to David Ely and 

1 Dennis Dwyer, subject, Sean Flannery's letter to clients. 

2 Please review and let me know when you're ready. 

3 (The witness examined the document.) 

4 MS. BARAN: I'll just indicate for the record Celia 

5 Moore has returned. 

6 THE WITNESS: Thank you. 

7 BY MS. BARAN: 

8 Q Have you seen what we've marked as Commission 

9 Exhibit 80 before? 

10 A I don't recall seeing it, but the piece below that 

11 was sent by Larry Carlson was sent to me, and I have no 

12 reason to believe I didn't receive it. 

13 Q You're indicating the email stamp on the very 
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14 second email stamp down indicates Larry Carlson sent Monday, 

15 August 13, 2007, to many, including yourself? 

16 A A large group, yes, yes. 

17 Q Who drafted the letters that we see attached to the 

18 email which are incorporated in Commission Exhibit 80? 

19 A I think there were a number of people involved in 

20 the drafting of the letter. 

21 Q Do you know who? 

22 A I know that Sean was one of them. I would have 

23 reviewed it at some point. There may have been others from 

24 client services involved in drafting the letter, and again, 

25 counsel who have looked at it and reviewed it and been 

HUNT_WILLIAM_20090428 
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1 Q Okay. Did anyone on the EMG, you know, aside from 

2 the people you've already mentioned who reviewed it, did 

3 anyone on the EMG review this letter before it was sent? 

4 A I don't know who on the EMG reviewed this before it 

5 was sent. They may or may not have been involved. 

6 (SEC Exhibit No. 480 was marked for 

7 identification.) 

8 Q Before I hand you the next exhibit, I want to refer 

9 you to a couple of more things on the email from Larry 

10 Carlson that appears on the first page of Commission Exhibit 

11 830, his last sentence on the first page. I think you're 

12 looking at the right thing. "Neither of these two letters 

13 will be sent to stable value clients, nor asset allocation 

14 and OFA clients who sold out of the strategies." 

15 Taking the date of this email, August 13, 2007, did 

16 you know before August 13, 2007, that asset allocation and 

17 OFA clients had sold out of the strategies? 

18 A As I said, I may or may not have known that. I 

19 don't recall the date. What was Marc Brown's email we looked 

20 at today? 

21 Q July 27. 

22 A It's not something I -- that would have been before 

23 August 13, but it's not something I would have been focused 

24 on. 

25 Q Do you know why the letter would not be sent to 
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811 31 Leu kel 

8/13\Leukel 

Question 'floyalis 
Part 1 

Question -lloyalis 
Part 2 

Question -I loyal is 
Part 3 

At 'the end of June you had to my belief 37 percent in prime. 
roughly 22 percent AAA, 13 percent AA and 2 percent 888. 
As of first day of August we have had many calls. And while 
yoy never gave concrete answers, you made some 
statements: a) The belief it is still money good b) You sell to 
get liquidity if clients get out c) If you sell you do that by 
seilinQ a slice 
At the end of June you had to my belief 37 percent in prime, 

Duggan I 
Pickell I !ASAP 
PM Team/ 
RM I Risk 

roughly 22 percent AAA. 13 percent AA and 2 percent 888. Du an 1 
As of first day of August we have had many calls. Now p· ~g 

11 1 
looking to the actual situation based on the received p~ ~ 

1
1ASAP 

information, you have sold all 888 and all AA and small part RM 
1 
~a~ 

AAA. How to combine this with a) money good and b) selling 's 
slice? 

At the end of June you had to my belief 37 percent in prime. 
roughly 22 percent AAA, 13 percent AA and 2 percent 888. 
As of first day of August we have had many calls. Thereby 
there is a realized loss. What was the value of 888 and AA 
portfolio at end of June versus the valu!flia!j$S ~1(11Ql? 

Duggan I 

Pickett I !ASAP 
PM Team I 
RMIRisk 

Duggan said no legal reason not to answer - business 
decision. Who is answering "business decisions"? 

Pickett is gathering information 

Greff speaking to PM Team 

On Hold 

On Hold 

On Hotd 
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Part4 

Question -, Loyalis 
Part 5 

.• Question '!Loyalis 
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Consul~ilt ,;jo~.~crii>i.fo.n ... ·:·:. As 
~ · I Due Date I 1· . :. · · .

1 
An. · 1·· ·· ·· ... 

•. !;19~~d. Time·. : c,o,l'l)_~~l!ts . swer_ ~e!;OlUtlon, 

AI the end of June you had to my belief 37 percent in prime, Du an 1 
roughly 22 percent AAA, 13 percent AA and 2 percent BBB. p· i~tt 

1 
As of first day of August we have had many calls. What is the P~ T . 

1 
I ASAP 

underperformance month to date for August till end of Friday RM 
1 
~~;;; 

for CTF fund? 
At the end of June you had to my belief 37 _percent in prime, 
roughly 22 percent AAA, 13 percent AA and 2 percent BBB. 
As of first day of August we have had many calls. V\fhen do 
you expect to have our slice of CTF put into a separate 
account as discussed? 

Duggan/ 

Picken I (ASAP 
PM Team I 
RM/ Risk 

At the end of June you had to my belief 37 percent in prime, Du an 
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Doe Date J j · . · . · · · . , · .. ·· 
Time · .; . , f~mments_l An!!wer /Re~o!~tle'1._~: • 
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· mortgage pass·throughs lobe tncluded .(they have ~~en 
: confused with other ABS at points in thef'&&.!tP. of 1 

Steve 
Meierand !ASAP 
P au·l Greff. 

Chris. 
Blome 

Margaret 

ASAP· 

ASAP 

c~~fere~ce.~Jl a~;wei¢d ~~;;;~~~-t~9 ;questl~~s . . ; ' . . . . . . . . . . :.~: 

~ ~ 

··provided.to.C:'Biu;n~: .... •-: · '·· 

Comp(i;;uiCE~. Coordi_i\l;llein!'i ;.· 

Compliance Coordinateing 

c6mplia~i:e coo~inateing 

Compliance Coordinateing 

J 

Closed 

Cl~~ed 

Closed 

Closeq 

·'Closed· 
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From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Brown, Marc 

Friday, July 27,2007 7:00PM 

Roberts, Arlene C 

Cc: Grove, Hannah M 

··> 

Subject: FW: Update on the Sub prime Market and Saga's Active Fixed Income Strategies 

Attachments: CLIENT VERSION_ Update on the Subprime Market and SSgAs Active Fixed Income Strategies_.htm.zip; 
CONSULTANT VERSION_ Update on the Subprime Market and SSgAs Active Fixed Income 
Strategies_ CONSULTANT VERSION.htm.zip; Participants with Primary_ Secondary_RM_ Consultant lnfo_7-
27-07 .xls.zip 

As promised- here is the letter- Q&A to follow. Marc. 

from: South, Chris 
Sent: Thursday, July 26, 2007 5:42 PM 
To: Non.-us'Sales & Marketing; US Sales & Marketing- SSGA 
Cc: Ehret, Greg; Reardon, Staci; Carlson, Larry; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: Update on the Subprime Market and SSgA's Active Fixed Income Strategies 

Hello Everyone, 

This afternoon we sent a notification to clients and consultants updating them on the Subprime Market and SSgA's Fixed Income 
Strategies. This communication needed to be sentas a group with all clients and consultants receiving it at the same lime. 

As discussed, a FAQ will be distributed latertoday for internal use only. Below, please find a unique list of individuals who 
received this mailing {tabs highlighted in green). The red tab shows a list of clients that did not have a primary contact listed in 
Onyx (and did not receive the notification) and the other tabs just show a list of all participants affe~ted: Please note that each 
individual highlighted in purple did not receive the mailing as they did not have an e-mail address entered in Onyx. · 

Thanks, 

Chris 

«CLIENT VERSION_ Update on the Subprime Market and SSgAs Active Fixed Income Strategies_.htm.zip» «CONSULTANT 
VERSION_Update on ttie $ubprime Market and SSgAs Active Fixed Income Strategies_ CONSULTANT VERSION.htm.zip» 
<<Participants with Primary_ Secondary _RM_ Consultant Info _7 -27-07 .xls.zip» 

Christopher M. South 

State Street Global Advisors 

Phone: (617) 664-2039 

Fax: (617) 664-6012 

chris_south@ssga.com 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error, please reply to this message 
and let the sender know. Thank you. 

4/9/2008 



F•·om: "State Street Global·Advisors" <SSgARelationshipManagementCommunication@ssga.corn>@STATESTREET 
Sent: Thursday, July 26, 2007 4:10PM 
To: South, Chris 
,S uect: Update on the Subprime Market and SSgA's Active Fixed Income Strategies 
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In recent months, and partiaJiarly last month, our active bond strategies and 
other strategies which employ our Umited Duration Bond fund as an enhanced 
cash or portable alpha vehicle have generated negative returns that are 
unprecedented in our 30 year history as a fixed Income manager. These returns 
are both disappointing and distressing to many of our dients as they are to all of 
us here at SSgA. 

The Umited Duration Bond fund strategy dates back to Marth of 2002 (check 
that) and produced consistent positive returns over UBOR with very low 
volatility, beating the benchmark for X out of X quarters Inception to date. The 
provides these returns without taking either Interest rate risk or unsecured aedlt 
risk, thereby differentiating It from other short-term strategies. Instead It Is 
focuses on securitfzed assets with a high average credit quality, primarily home 
equity loans. We focused on diversifying those assets by credit quality, small 
position sizes (each less than X%) and geography. We built a strong team of 
portfolio managers and credit- and surveillance analysts and supported that with 
industry-leading commercial and proprietary technology. 

In recent years the strategy focused increasingly on housing-related assets In 
light of the unattractive lnaemental return opportunities resulting from tight 
yield spreads on aedlt card, student loan and other asset-backed securities. 

As 2006 drew to a dose concerns rose regarding the prospect of millions of 
mortgage borrowers bearing the burden of higher mortgage payments In an 
environment of short term rates significantly higher that they were just a couple 
of years ago. This caused us to tighten our own analytical standards on 
securities we considered for purchasing In the portfolio. 

Against this backdrop of weaketling fundamentals some hedge funds, looking for 
a means of shorting the US housing market, focused on specific and fairly liquid 
derivative contracts to set shorts. This sent a shock through the home equity 
market which the press had renamed the "sub-prime" market Derivative 
markets sold off sharply In February, chiefly In the lower-rated Investment grade 
instruments; cash bonds were relatively unscathed as w~re the higher-rated AM 
and M contracts. Within a couple of weeks the market regained its footing and 
contract prices rose substantially. 

In late May and the beginning of June, selling pressure once again came to bear 
on these markets. At this point, however, balance sheets of Investment banks 
were heavy with loans from the surge In LBOs and hundreds of bllllons In asset­
backed securities housed for the burgeoning pipeline of COO deals in. progress 
but not yet brought to market. As selling pressure mounted in the derivative 
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market prtces gapped sharply lower and lisk managers apportioned much higher 
rtsks to these sub-prtme trades. Lower prt~ and higher risks created new 
waves of deJeveraglng in the market while investment banks with bloated 
balance sheets and little appetite for Increased exposure provided fewer-and 
sharply lower- bids to the sellers. The already distressed market segment was 
then further shaken by the failure of a number of hedge funds and the resulting 
pressure of further waves of forced sales Into the liquidity-starved market. To 
make matters worse, the funds that had dosed down included funds that were 
very active in the market segment and ones that would have likely stepped in to 
snap up the assets flooding the street at bargain-basement prtces. 

In July the ratings agencies, relatively absent up to this point, moved In and 
slashed ratings across literally hundreds of bonds. Both the scope and the 
magnitude of the downgrades and watch-Ustlngs were unprecedented even 
during the bond market aisls In 1998. These moves set off new waves of selling 
first In the lower rated bonds and then creeping all of the way up to the highest 
quality AAA bonds. If investment banks were reluctant to bid the bonds before 
they became even less willing and a full-fledged meltdown of the segment 
followed, with contagion spreading tn both high-yield and Investment grade 
corporates, emerging market bonds and ultimately the reverbatlons have been 
felt in the equity market. The crisis Is further validated by the sharp drop In 
Treasury yield, the dassic "ffight to quality" move we have witnessed in every 
severe market dislocation for decades. 

The situation Is extreme and difficult to manage. While we believe that the 
subprlme markets clearly convey far greater risk. than they have historically we 
feel that forced selling In this chaotic and Illiquid market is unwise. Even if 
mortgage dellnquendes soar beyond our expectations we would expect 
slgnlflcantly higher values for our sub-prime holdings. While recent events may 
have repriced the risk of these assets for the foreseeable future and it Is unlikely 
that they will retrace to values at tf:le tum of the year we believe that llquldlty 
will slowly re-enter the market and the segment will regain its footing. While we 
will continue to liquidate assets for our clients when they demand It, our. advice 
Is to hold the positions for now. 
Each of us Involved In managing these strategies is deeply distressed by this tum 
of events. We take great pride in the specialized expertise we have built and are 
keenly aware of the trust you have placed in us to manage these portfolios. We 
understand that we have disappointed you and are pained by that 
Most of us have endured other market crises In '87, '93, '98 and '01. We know 
as Investors that rogue waves hit the markets from time to time and when that 
happens we have to stay calm and constantly reassess the environment We 
also know that we have to stay focused on making the best and most Informed 
decisions in these portfolios. We will continue to draw on the conslderabfe 

FLAN01598 
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expertise of our team to evaluate and re-:evaluate risks and opportunities In this 
challenging market. . 
We acknowledge and regret the distress these events and our performance may 
have caused you and thank you for the opportunity to re-establish your 
confidence in us. 

FLAN01599 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Attachments: 

CtJ [tJ 

Duggan, Mark [Mark_Duggan@ssga.com) 
Sunday, August 12, 2007 9:53 PM 
Flannery, Sean 
Fw: Here is the letter 

SPF Bond letter v4_1ostclient.doc.zip; SPF Bond letter v4_1ostclient.doc.zip 

SPF Bond letter 
v4 _lostclient •••. 

SPF Bond letter 
v4_1osttJient. ••. 

How many times do we have to sign off??? 

----Original Message----­
From: Carlson, Larry 
To: Duggan, Mark; Flannery, Sean 
CC: Reardon, Staci; fitzgerald, Maureen 
Sent: Sun Aug 12 17:46:27 2007 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Ok ... one last look at the drafts: 

ll for clients that still have assets with <<SPF Bond letter v4_lostclient.doc.zip>> 
us: 

<<SPF Bond letter v4 lostclient.doc.zip>> 
2) for clients t <<SPF Bond letter v4 lostclient.doc.zip>> hat have terminated us 

<<SPF Bond letter v4_lostclient.doc.zip>> 

Please see greeting and sign off. 

Thanks. 

Larry 
************•********************************* 
Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
u.s. Relationship Management 
Stat-:: St r-::.;,t Global .~clvisors 
State Street Financ1al center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 
Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 
larry carlson@ssga.com 
Please visit us at: http://www.ssga.com Securities offered through State Street Global 
i'-farkets, LLC, member FINAA, SIPC State Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory 
surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing email 
communications, including attachments. 
This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global 
Advisors ISSgA) and are intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom 
they are addressed. If you have received this email in error, please reply to this 
message and let the sender know. 

From: Duggan, Mark 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:38 PM 
To: Carlson, Larry; Flannery, Sean 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 

Brown, Marc 
Friday, August 10,2007 3:03PM 
Flannery, Sean; Grove, Hannah M; Duggan, Mali<; Hunt, William W 
Carlson, Larry; Reardon. Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen; Kelly, Gerard; Ehret, Greg; Sturine, 
OtelloR 
RE: Client Communication 

I R~a_cted: J StacULarry - go ahead and organize the send. Marc. 
Prrvrlege 

From: Flannery, Sean 
Sent: Friday, August 10, 2007 8:02 AM 
To: Grove, Hannah M; Duggan, Mark; Hunt, William W; Brown, Marc 
Subject: RE: Client Communication 
Importance: High 

All-

I . " ~~~;;- l' 
Here is Hannah's version with my edit. 
<<File: SPF Bond letter v3.doc zip>> 

Sean P. Flannery 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fian nery@ssga .com 

From: Grove, Hannah M 
Sent: Friday, August 10, 2007 6:21 AM 
To: Duggan, Mark; Hunt, William W; Flannery, Sean; Brown, Marc 
Subject: RE: Client Communication 

Mark, 

1 have hi~h:hted some suggested edits for consideration] RP~~c, ';!: ! 
j ;~/~ · 1 nvr e e 

Best, 

Hannah 
« File: SPF Bond letter v2 doc. zip >> 

From: Duggan, Mark 
Sent: Thursday, August 09, 2007 6:53PM 
To: Grove, Hannah M; Hunt, William W; Flannery, Sean; Brown, Marc 
Subject: Client Communication 



~") .. )? ... ·· 

Hannah: 

Attached is a close to n:;praft of a teller we prpose to send to all clients affected by the Limited Duration Bond Funds. I R;r~~~ e • We are trying to send it out Friday. Thanks. 

Mark 

<<File: SPF Bond letter vl .doc. zip>> 

) 
2 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 

Brown, Marc 
Friday, August 10, 2007 3:03PM 
Flannery, Sean: Grove, Hannah M; Duggan, Mark; Hunt, William W 
Carlson, Larry; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen; Kelly, Gerard; Ehret, Greg; Sturine, 
Otello R 
RE: Client Communication 

I'm good with this version - Staci/Larry -go ahead and organize the send. Marc. 

From: Flannery, Sean 
Sent: Friday, August 10, 2007 8:02 AM 
To: Grove, Hannah M; Duggan, Mark; Hunt, William W; Brown, Marc 
Subject: RE: Client Communication 
Importance: High 

All-
] think Hannah's edits are spot on. I have only one edit and that is to replace reduction (which replaced 
meltdown) with contraction as I believe reduction might convey a lowering of exposure instead of the negative 
market impact to which we refer. 
I also think that Hannah's conclusion sets a much better tone and is essentially what we were looking for but 
unable to express last night. 
Here is Hannah's version with my edit. 
<<File: SPF Bond letter v3.doc.zip :>> 

Sean P. Flannery 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com 

From: Grove, Hannah M 
Sent: Friday, August 10, 2007 6:21 AM 
To: Duggan, Mark; Hunt, William W; Flannery, Sean; Brown, Marc 
Subject: RE: Client Communication 

Mark, 

I have highlighted some suggested edits for consideration. Did we communicate with these clients, either via letter or 
verbally, in July? 

Best, 

Hannah 
<< File: SPF Bond letter v2 doc zip >> 

From: Duggan, Mark 
Sent: Thursday, August 09, 2007 6:53 PM 
To: Grove, Hannah M; Hunt, William W; Flannery, Sean; Brown, Marc 
Subject: Client Communication 



·~·~)· · •.. ~liil···· . . 0 ;;pr 

.v:tiJ~ 
"~}7 

) 

Hannah: 

Attached is a close to final draft of a letter we propose to send to all clients affected by the Limited Duration Bond Funds. 
We are all OK with it, but wanted your thoughts. We are trying to send it out Friday. Thanks. 

Mark 

<<File: SPF Bond letter vl.doc.zip >> 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 

Mitch Shames@ssga.com 
Friday, July 13, 2007 3:43 PM 
Patricia_Hudson@ssga.com 
Adete_Kohler@ssga.com; Lai'T)'_Carlson@ssga.com; Maureen_Fitzgerald@ssga.com; 
Staci_Reardon@ssga.com; sean_tTannery@ssga.com 
Re: legal vetting of the subprime client letter 

I've taken a quick look at the letter and I'm asking some of the other lawyers in our 
group who are closer to some of the products than I am, to 
also review it. We are meeting monday morning, so we'll have any changes 
to you at that time. 

MHS 

Friends, 

Patricia 
Hudson/USA/StateS 
treet@GISG 

07/12/2007 06:03 
PM 

To 
Staci Reardon/USA/StateStreet@GISG, 
Larry Carlson/USA/StateStreet@GlSG, 
Maureen 
fitzgerald/USA/StateStreet@StateStr 
eet 

cc 
Adele 
Kohler/USA/StateStreet@StateStreet, 
Mitch 
Shames/USA/StateStreet@StateStreet 

Subject 
legal vetting of the subprime 
client letter 

Sean f. confirmed this afternoon that he did want the client letter vetted by legal before 
it goes out. Mitch Shames has k~ndly agreed to review it and get back to us tomorrow. 

Best, 

P3tricla 

SS-SEC 120127 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Mitch Shames 
Tuesday, July 17, 2007 4 41 PM 
sean_flannery@ssga.com 
SubPrime -- Client Letter 

Sean --- just a quick follow-up. I'm still "processing" some of our discussion earlier, as it relates to the proposed letter. 1 
want to catch up with Mark Duggan and run some things by him. We'll be able to get back to you by mid-afternoon. 
There may be some additional comments. I know that I said earlier that I was "all set", I just need to confirm a couple 
of things. 

MHS 

SS-SEC 120219 
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From: 

Sent: 

Kohler, Adele [Adele_Kohler@ssga.comj 

Tuesday, July 31, 2007 11:20 PM 

To: 

Cc: 

Shames, Mitchell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins. James: Wands. Michael: Carlson, Larry; Mavro, Nicholas 

Flannery, John: Brown. Marc 

Subject: Client Letter for Month-end Performance - Draft 

Attachments: Subprime Update 20070731 v2.doc.zip 

«Subprime Update 20070731 v2.doc.zip» 

Please see the draft of the client letter for tomorrow. I will be out tomorrow and Thursday for a mandatory training 
session but will be in touch via blackberry and can potentially return to the office if needed 

Mitch please take a look and communicate any concerns to Nick 1\..'lavro and Larry Carlson as they will run with this 
tomorrow. 

Adele Kohler, CF A 

Senior Managing Director 

Product Development and Product Engineering 

Phone 617.664.6096 

add e __ kuh I er@·::;sga .cum 

1/21/2008 

SS-SEC 11962 4 
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Dear XX. 

We would like to provide you with an update regarding impact of problems in the subprime 
mortgage market on SSgA's fixed income strategies. 

Recap of Recent Market Events 
Beginning in late 2006 and continuing into 2007, defaults on subprime loans increased as so­
called "risky" borrowers began to struggle to make payments as their loans reset at higher rates. 
A rash of subprime mortgage foreclosures occurred and several major subprime mortgage 
lenders filed for bankruptcy. As these events unfolded, speculative investors seized upon 
negative reports in the media and began using the triple B and triple B minus ABX Indices as a 
means of expressing negative views (i.e. shorting) on the US housing market. (This index is a 
basket Credit Default Swaps on 20 large securitizations in a particular credit rating and 
represents one of the few options for expressing views on subprime mortgages through an 
exchange traded vehicle.) A combination of thin volume and one-way hedge fund activity led to 
extreme market volatility and illiquidity in these exposures. 

Markets were further rattled in June of this year when news of problems in two Bear Steams 
hedge funds caused Wall Street creditors to cease collateral - primarily of mortgage-backed 
securities. Their attempts to liquidate these hedge fund assets put new pressure on asset values 
and credit spreads in the market. 

Most recently in July, the announcement by Moody's and Standard and Poor's to consider 
downgrading $12 billion worth of securities backed by subprime mortgages triggered a significant 
and sustained unwinding of leverage and sales of securities. 

Impact on SSgA's Portfolios 
These events and the subsequent downward pressure on valuations have resulted in varying 
degrees of underperformance in several of SSgA's fixed income strategies. Most notably, the 
Limited Duration Bond Fund has experienced significant performance shortfall due to exposure to 
the triple B ABX index in the first half of the year and more pronounced underperformance as 
spread widening has moved up the capital structure to triple and double A rated securities 
secured by subprime mortgages. Other active fixed income strategies have been affected as well 
as a result of holding units in the Limited Duration Bond Fund or due to other active positions 
affected by the aforementioned market events. Finally, SSgA manages strategies outside of the 
fixed income department for which Limited Duration Bond Fund is used as an alpha source. 
These strategies have also underperformed. 

The specific impact on your portfolios is as follows: 
You are invested in funds a. b, c. Preliminary and unaudited pe1iormance results through July 
are __ . Relationship Manager to take large table include only the relevant return results 
for their client. 

These paragraphs in blue to be used only for clients in these strategies. 

Dow Jones AIG Strategy 
The Dow Jones Commodity Index strategy invests in futures and total return swaps to achieve 
exposure to the 19 commodities futures in the index. Residual cash is invested in the Limited 
Duration Bond Fund, which employs a relative value approach to identifying opportunistic 
investments in the short and intermediate sectors of the market. The strategy invests in triple B 
through triple A securities and has an average quality of AA. The fund has experienced 
sigmficant performance shortfall due to its exposure to the triple 8 ABX index in the early part of 
2007 and the subsequent impact on higher quality capital structures including double and triple A 
rated securities. The preliminary and unaudited performance results through July 31 51 are as 
follows: 

SS-SEC 119625 



US PALMS 
The cash vehicle utilized by our US Pooled Asset Liability Matching Solution (PALMS) is 
an enhanced US Dollar 3 Month LIBOR strategy. This enhanced strategy has discretion to 
allocate dynamically between the Limlled Duration Bond Fund and the Short Term Investment 
Fund (STIF). While this enhanced strategy is currently 100% invested in the STIF fund, at times 
the strategy has allocated up to 70% to the Limited Duration Bond Fund. The allocation has 
declined over time and averaged approximately 40% during the second quarter of 2007. As a 
result of its exposure to LDBF, the US PALMS strategy has underperformed its custom swaps 
benchmark. The preliminary and unaudited performance results through July 31 51 are as follows: 

Equities Plus Strategy 
The Equities Plus strategy invests in futures and total return swaps to achieve exposure to the 
S&P 500 index. Residual cash is invested in the Limited Duration Bond Fund, which employs a 
relative value approach to identifying opportunistic investments in the short and intermediate 
sectors of the market. The strategy invests in triple B through triple A securities and has an 
average quality of AA. The fund has experienced significant performance shortfall due to its 
exposure to the triple B ABX index in the early part of 2007 and the subsequent impact on higher 
quality capital structures including double and triple A rated securities. The preliminary and 
unaudited performance results through July 31 51 are as follows: 

Actions Taken 
While we believe that events over the past several months have been largely the result of liquidity 
and leverage issues, versus long-term fundamentals, we are also aware that the downdraft in 
valuations have had a significant impact on the risk profile of our portfolios and thus we have 
taken steps to reduce risk across the affected portfolios. Within the Limited Duration Bond Fund 
we have reduced exposure to a significant portion of triple 8 securities, we have sold a large 
amount of our triple A cash positions and will be reducing additional triple A exposure as total 
return swaps roll off at month end. These actions will simultaneously serve to reduce risk in other 
SSgA strategies that hold units of the Limited Duration Bond Fund. · 

We will continue to keep you informed during this very fluid market environment. Please do not 
hesitate to call me should you have additional questions or concerns. 

SS-SEC 119626 
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From: Flannery, John fSean_Fiannery@ssga.com} 

Sent: Wednesday, August 01, 2007 11:39 AM 

To: Kohler, Adele: Shames, Mitchell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins. James: Wands. Michael; Carlson. Larry; Mavro, Nicholas 

Cc: Brown. Marc 

Subject: RE: Client Letter for Month-end Performance- Draft 

All-

See my suggested edits below. The comments on the PLAMS part needs to be verified. 

Sean P. Flannery 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com 

From: Kohler, Adele 
Sent: Tuesday, July 31, 2007 7:20PM 
To: Shames, Mitchell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins, James; Wands, Michael; Carlson, Larry; Mavro, Nicholas 
Cc: Flannery, John; Brown, Marc 
Subject: Client Letter for Month-end Performance- Draft 

<<File: Subprime Update 20070731 v2 doc.zip >> 

Please see the draft of the client letter for tomorrow. I will be out tomorrow and Thursday for a mandatory training 
session but will be in touch via blackberry and can potentially return to the office if needed. 

Mitch please take a look and communicate any concerns to Nick Mavro and Larry Carlson as they will run with this 
tomorrow. 

Adele Kohler, CFA 

Senior Managing Director 

Product Development and Product Engineering 

Phone 617.664.6096 

adele_ kohler@ssga.com 

l/2l/2008 

35-SEC 103835 





( _ _) 

From: 

Sent: 

Flannery. John [Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com] 

Wednesday, August 01, 2007 11.53 AM 

To: Kohler. Adele; Shames. Mitchell; Reardon. Staci; Hopkins. James; Wands, Michael; Carlson. Larry; Mavro. 
Nicholas 

Cc: Brown. Marc 

Subject: RE: Client Letter for Month-end Performance - Draft 

Importance: High 

Attachments: Subprime Update 20070731 v3.doc.zip 

Sorry-

l forgot to include the doc. 

«Subprime Update 20070731 v3.doc.zip» 

Sean P. Flannery 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com 

From: Kohler, Adele 
Sent: Tuesday, July 31, 2007 7:20PM 
To: Shames, Mitchell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins, James; Wands, Michael; Carlson, Larry; Mavro, Nicholas 
Cc: Flannery, John; Brown, Marc 
Subject: Client Letter for Month-end Performance- Draft 

<<File: Subprime Update 20070731 v2.doc.zip >> 

Please see the draft of the client letter for tomorrow. I will be out tomorrow and Thursday for a mandatory training 
session but will be in touch via blackberry and can potentially return to the office if needed. 

Mitch please take a look and communicate any concerns to Nick l'vlavro and Larry Carlson as they will ntn with this 
tnmorro\v 

Adele Kohler, CFA 

Senior Managing Director 

Product Development and Product Engineering 

Phone 617.664 6096 

adele kohler@ssga com 

l/19/2008 

SS-SEC 119619 



.. / 

Dear XX, 

We would like to provide you w1th an update regarding impact of problems in the subprime 
mortgage market on SSgA's fixed income strateg1es. 

Recap of Recent Market Events 
Begmmng in late 2006 and continuing into 2007, .QeJinquencies on _Sl}~pr~me loa':~$_ i!lc;re~sed_ ~s_ 
so-called ··nsky" borrowers began to struggle to make payments as their loans reset at higher 
rates. A rash of subprime mortgage foreclosures occurred and several maJor sub prime mortgage 
lenders filed for bankruptcy. As these events unfolded, speculative investors seized upon 
negative reports 1n the media and began using the triple B and triple B minus ABX Indices as a 
means of e~pressmg negatiVe v1ews (I e. shorting) on the US housing market. (This index IS a 
basket Credit Default Swaps on 20 large securitizations in a particular credit rating and 
represents one of the few options for expressing views on subprime mortgage!;,) A combination 
of thin volume and one-way hedge fund actiVity led to e~treme market volatility a·nd ·,liiquiditY -in - -
these exposures. 

Markets were further rattled in June of this year when news of problems in two Bear Stearns 
hedge funds caused Wall Street creditors to cease collateral- pnmarily of mortgage-backed 
securities. Their attempts to liquidate these hedge fund assets put new pressure on asset values 
and credit spreads in the market. 

Most recently in July, the announcement by Moody's and Standard and Poor's to consider 
downgrading $12 billion worth of securities backed by subprime mortgages triggered a significant 
and sustained unwinding of leverage and sales of securities. 

Impact on SSgA's Portfolios 
These events and the subsequent downward pressure on valuations have resulted in varying 
degrees of underperformance in several of SSgA's fixed income strategies. Most notably, the 
limited Duration Bond Fund has expenenced significant performance shortfall due to exposure to 
the tnple B ABX index in the first half of the year and more pronounced underperformance as 
spread widening has moved up the capital structure to triple and double A rated securities 
secured by subprime mortgages. other active fixed mcome strateg1es have been affected as well 
as a result of holding units in the Limited Duration Bond Fund or due to other active positions 
affected by the aforementioned market events. Finally, SSgA manages strategies outside of the 
fixed income department for which limited Duration Bond Fund is used as an alpha source. 
These strategies have also underperformed. 

The specific impact on your portfolios is as follows: 
You are invested in funds a, b, c. Preliminary and unaudited performance results through July 
are __ . Relationship Manager to take large table Include only the relevant return results 
for their client · 

These paragraphs In blue to be used only for clients In these strategies. 

Dow Jones AIG Strategy 
The Dow Jones Commodity Index strategy invests in futures and total return swaps to ach1eve 
exposure to the 19 commodities futures in the mdex. Residual cash IS invested in the Lim1ted 
Duration Bond Fund, which employs a relative value approach to identifying opportunistic 
investments in the short and intermediate sectors of the market. The strategy invests in triple B 
through triple A secunties and has an average quality of AA. The fund has experienced 
sign1ficant performance shortfall due to its exposure to the triple B ABX index in the early part of 
2007 and the subsequent impact on higher quality capital structures including double and triple A 
rated secunties. The preliminary and unaudited performance results through July 31 51 are as 
follows: 

[ O..leted: defauns J 

O..leted: lh1ough an exchange 
traded veh!<:le. 
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US PALMS 
The cash vehicle utilized by our US Pooled Asset Liab11ity Matching Solution (PALMS) is 
an enhanced US Dollar 3 Month LJBOR strategy. This enhanced strategy has discretion to 
allocate dynamically between the L1m1ted Duration Bond Fund and the Short Term Investment 
Fund (STIF). Wh1le this enhanced strategy is currently 100% invested in the STIF fund, at times 
the strategy has allocated up to r .. -check this-my understanding is that the funds held 30%, not 
70 .. "170% to the Limited Duration Bond Fund. The allocation has declined over time and 
averaged approximately 40% during the second quarter of 2007. As a result of its exposure to 
LDBF, the US PALMS strategy has underperformed its custom swaps benchmark. The 
preliminary and unaudited performance results through July 31 •• are as follows: 

Equities Plus Strategy 
The Equities Plus strategy invests in futures and total return swaps to achieve exposure to the 
S&P 500 index. Residual cash is invested in the Limited Duration Bond Fund, which employs a 
relative value approach to identifying opportunistic investments in the short and intermediate 
sectors of the market The strategy Invests in triple B through triple A securities and has an 
average quality of M. The fund has experienced signifiCant performance shortfall due to its 
exposure to the triple B ABX index in the early part of 2007 and the subsequent impact on higher 
quality cap1tal structures including double and triple A rated secunties. The preliminary and 
unaudited performance results through July 31 51 are as follows: 

Actions Taken 
While we believe that events over the past several months have indicate some deterioration in 
IQJ}ger-tflfm fundaments, we believe price action has been dominated bv the unwinding of 
leverage in a market segment with sharply reduced ligujditv. Addrtionally, .)!le downdraft in 
valuations[l_£l~~~d_ ~ :;il:J~·~c:a_n~ :~~ac! ~ !h_e_r~s~ p~~fi!e_ ~f_o~~ e~r!f~l!o~,e..r,i:?frlpfl!;)i~£q)ici~ ~ ~ ~ 
steps to reduce risk across the affected portfolios. Within the Limited Duration Bond Fund we 
have reduced exposure to a significant portion of triple B securities, we have sold a large amount 
of our triple A cash positions and p_sl~~i()l]a_l !rjpJ~ ~ _e:ce~s}J~~ a_~ ~ome to!aJ !~ltJr_n_5YI_ap:_; fOU~ ?f! _ 
at month end. These actions_~i!:J1_u!f~rl~o_u:_;ly _s~ry!l_t() fe_d~E! ~i~k_ i!l_o_t.h_e! _S_S~s!r_?~e_9~e~ Jl!a.t __ _ 
hold units of the Limited Duration Bond Fund. 

VIle will continue to keep you tnformed durmg this very fluid market envlfonment. Please do not 
hesitate to call me should you have additional questions or concems. 

Deleted: been largely the resuK of 
HquKJrty and leverage rssues. versus 
long-term 1\mdamentals, we are also 
aware that 

Deleted: have 

Deleted: and lhus we have taken 

Deleted: will be reducing 

(Deleted: •·•II 
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From: Carlson, Larry [Larry_Carlson@ssga.comj 

Sent: Wednesday, August 01, 2007 12:00 PM 

To: US Sales & Marketing- SSGA; Non-US Sales & Marketing; Adams, Jan: Ross, James: Kohler. Adele: Wands. 
Michael; Hopkins, James: Zielinski, David; Shegog, Barbara; Ehret. Greg: Reilly, Bernard; Yamamoto. Koji; Wang, 
Sheau-Yien; Goodlad, Rob; Edgar, Bruce: Sabourin, Denis; Fally, Benoit; Lakhani, Kanesh: Bossi, Josef; Esswein, 
Klaus; Echiffre, Jean: Bang, Carl 

Cc: Brown. Marc; Flannery, John; Johnson, Shawn: Shames, Mitchell 

Subject: Fixed Income Update- Where We Are 

Good Morning: 

We are in the process of finalizing a letter that will be customized and emailed by each US Relationship Manager with the goal of 
having it letter ready and sent today ..... the latest tomorrow. 

The first part of the letter will address the markets and performance for July -then each RM will need to customize the remainder 
of the letter by inserting a paragraph on the Fund(s) in question as well as strategy specific performance. 

A few things need to happen first: 

• Legal will confirm that the letter is good to send 

• We will be running holdings reports of all affected Funds 

• Contacts will be pulled from Onyx -primary and secondary and consultant. People need to look at these as soon ::JS 

they are ready and rnake sure that 1) all your affected clients are included- get back to Chris if they are not; 2) if a Tearn Mernber 
is out, then the Relationship Manager for each team should work with the Team Leader to make sure that all clients are covered 

• RM's will need to decide what contacts to send it to and inform the consultant liaison for each client 

• Emails need to be sent from the individual RM so that we don't run the risk of losing the email in a Spam filter. 

• All emails need to be kept and logged into Onyx 

Other reminders: 

• Continue to input communications into Onyx and send feedback to Tracy Cirigliano (suggest putting your comments in 
an e-mail to Tracy and then copy/paste the e-mail into Onyx) 

A challenging time ... but we will get through it with everyone's cooperation. 

Larry 

*•············································ 
Larry Carlson 

Managing Director 

U.S. Relationship Management 

State Street Global Advisors 

Ill 9/2008 
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State Street Financial Center 

One Lincoln Street. 33rd Floor 

Boston. MA 02111-2900 

Tel: 617664-5611 

Fax: 617 664-6861 

l<:~Lry_ c;_arl~Q0@§$9SL cQID 

Please visit us at: 

http:llwww.ssruu;:Qm 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC, member NASD, SIPC. 

Slate Street Global Markets, LLC, has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing e­
mail communications, including attachments. 

This e-mail and tiles transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the use 
of the individuals or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this e-mail in error, please reply to this message and 
let the sender know. 

I /19/::?.008 
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From: 

Sent: 

Wands, Michael [Michaei_Wands@ssga.com) 

Wednesday, August 01, 2007 12 09 PM 

To: Flannery, John: Kohler, Adele; Shames, Mitchell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins, James; Carlson, Larry; Mavro, 
Nicholas 

Cc: Brown, Marc 

Subject: RE: Client Letter for Month-end Performance - Draft 

Attachments: Subprime Update 20070731 v4.doc.zip 

I made some edits ... 

«Subprime Update 20070731 v4.doc.zip» 

From: Flannery, John 
Sent: Wednesday, August 01, 2007 7:53AM 
To: Kohler, Adele; Shames, Mitchell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins, James; Wands, Michael; Carlson, Larry; Mavro, Nicholas 
Cc: Brown, Marc 
Subject: RE: Client Letter for Month-end Perfonmance - Draft 
Importance: High 

Sorry-

I forgot to include the doc. 

· ·File. Subprime Update 20070731 v:> doc zip 

Sean P. Flannery 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com 

From: Kohler, Adele 
Sent: Tuesday, July 31, 2007 7:20PM 
To: SllallleS, Jl.1itcllell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins, James; Wands, r-1icllael; Carlson, Larry; l'-1avro, Nicholas 
Cc: Flannery, John; Brown, Marc 
Subject: Client Letter for Month-end Performance- Draft 

<<File: Subprime Update 20070731 v2.doc.zip >> 

Please see the draft of the client letter for tomorrow. I will be out tomorrow and Thursday for a mandatory training 
session but will be in touch via blackberry and can potentially return to the office if needed. 

i'vlitch please take a look and communicate any concerns to Nick Mavro and Larry Carlson as they will mn with this 
tomorrow. 

Adele Kohler, CFA 

Senior Managing Director 

Product Development and Product Engineering 

111912008 
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From: 

Sent: 

Nelson, Margaret {Margaret_Nelson@ssga.com) 

Thursday, August 02, 2007 5 23 PM 

To: Hopkins, James 

Subject: did you draft or review this client communication? 

Attachments: Subprime Update (SSgA Legal).doc.zip 

Hi Jim- I received the draft client communication. I am assuming you drafted, reviewed, etc. Please confirm. Thanks. 

Margaret 

From: Shea, Elizabeth 
Sent: Thursday, August 02, 2007 1:16PM 
To: Nelson, Margaret 
Subject: FW: Index Note 

Please see below. 

Thanks, Liz 

Elizabeth A. Sh&e, CPA 

Vic& Presidtmt & Senior Complisnc& Officer 

Stale Slre&t Global Advisors 

Complisnc• & Risk Mansg&ment 

Phone {617) 664-54rJ7 

Fax {817) 684-5313 

ellzsb&th_ shes@ssa•· com 

From: luster, Jodi 
Sent: Thursday, August 02, 2007 12:24 PM 
To: Shea, Elizabeth 
Subject: RE: Index Note 

Liz, 

Would you mind taking a quick look at the performance paragraph? See page two. 

Thank you, 

Jodi <<Subprime Update (SSgA Legal).doc.zip» 

From: Shea, Elizabeth 
Sent: Thursday, August 02, 2007 12:05 PM 
To: luster, Jodi 
Subject: Index Note 

Jodi: 

Please see below. 

l/21/2008 
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The index performance figures are calculated in U.S. dollars and reported on a gross basis. Fees, including but not limited to the 
ndvisory fee, transaction and custody charges, would reduce the return. The index returns reflect all items of income, gain and 
loss and the reinvestment of dividends and other income. Note that if index is foreign, for example FTSE, we need to discuss 
whether or not international taxes are withheld. 

Insert description of particular index and required intellectual property language of index provider. SSgA uses 
reasonable efforts to obtain information from sources which it believes to be reliable; however, SSgA makes no representation 
that the [index} performance information is accurate, reliable or complete. 

Thanks, Liz 

Ekzabeth A. She•. CPA 

Vice Presidtml & Senior Compliance Officer 

State Stret~l Global Advisors 

Compliance & Risk Management 

Phone (61 7) 664-5497 

Fax (617) 664-5313 

eii:zabttlh sheo@S§91 com 

1121/2008 
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DRAFT 

August 2. 2007 

!INSERT SALUATIONJ: 

We would like to take this opportunity to provide you with fi.Jrther information regarding the 
impact the problems in the subprime mortgage market have had on several of SSgA ·s active tixcd 
income and active derivative-based strategies. 

Recap of Recent Market Events 
Beginning in late 2006 and continuing into 2007, delinquencies on subprime mortgage loans 
increased as credit blemished borrowers began to stmggle to make payments as their mortgage 
loans reset at higher rates. As a result, a rash of subprime mortgage foreclosures occurred and 
several major subprime mortgage lenders filed for bankmptey. As these events unfolded, 
speculative investors seized upon negative reports in the media and began shorting securities and 
other financial instruments based on the ABX Indices as a means of expressing their negative 
views of the US housing market. The ABX Indices represent swaps whose returns are derived 
from underlying credit default swaps of the 20 representative sub prime mortgage securitizations 
issued in the United States over a 6 month timeframe. These swaps are based on the underlying 
deal tranches segregated by credit quality. A combination of thin volume and largely one-way 
hedge fund trading activity led to illiquidity and extreme market volatility in securities and other 
financial instmments based upon the ABX Indices. 

The sub prime mortgage market further deteriorated in June and July of this year. In June, widcly­
publicizt:d news of problems in t" o h...:dgc funds caused Wall Strcd creditors to st:ize collateral. 
including large pools of mortgage-backed securities. The creditors' attempts to liquidate these 
mortgage-backed securities placed added pressure on asset values and credit spreads in the 
subprime mortgage market. In July, the downgrading and watch listing by Moody's and Standard 
and Poor's of securities secured by subprime mortgages triggered a significant and sustained 
unwinding of leverage and sales of securities. 

Impact on SSgA 's Portfolios 
These market events and the subsequent downward pressure on valuations in the subprime 
mortgage market have resulted in varying degrees of negative performance in several of SSgA's 
active fixed income strategies and active derivative-based strategies. Most notably, the Limited 
Duration Bond Strategy has experienced significant negative performance due to its c'\posure to 
the ABX Indices. The Limited Duration Bond Strategy experienced negative performance in the 
first quarter of2007 as a result of technical pressures (hedge fund selling) and spread widening in 
BBB-rated securities secured by subprime mortgages. The Limited Duration Bond Strategy 
experienced even more pronounced negative performance in the second quarter of 2007 as spread 
widening moved up the capital stmcture to AAA and AA-rated securities secured by subprime 
mortgages. Other active fixed income and active derivative-based strategies have been affected 
to varying degrees by the problems in the subprime mortgage market as a result of having 
exposure to the Limited Duration Bond Strategy or due to other active positions affected by the 
aforementioned market events. 

The impact of the problems in the subprime mortgage market has had the foliO\'<ing impact on 
your investments with SSgA: 

SS-SEC 11 gn? q 
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[If your Client is invested in either the: (a) Enhanced Dow Jones-AIG Commodities Futures 
Strategy, (b) US Pooled Asset Liability Matching Solution (PALMS) or (c) Equities Plus 
Strategy insert the applicable paragraph(s) here.} 

[Enhanced Dow Jones-AIG Commodities Futures Strategy 
The Enhanced Dow Jones-AIG Commodities Futures Strategy utilizes futures and total return 
swaps to gain exposure to the l9 commodity futures contracts in the 5 major commodity groups 
that comprise the DJ-AIG Commodity Index. The collateral pool is invested in the Limited 
Duration Bond Strategy. The Enhanced Dow Jones-AIG Commodities Futures Strategy has 
experienced significant negative performance primarily due to the performance of the underlying 
collateral pool which is invested in the Limited Duration Bond Strategy.! 

IUS Pooled Asset Liability Matching Solution (PALMS) 
The collateral pool for our US PALMS is invested in an enhanced US Dollar 3 Month LIBOR 
strategy. This enhanced strategy has discretion to allocate dynamically between the Limited 
Duration Bond Strategy and the Short Term Investment Fund (STIF). While this enhanced 
strategy is currently l 00% invested in the STIF fund, at times the strategy has allocated up to 
70% of cash collateral to the Limited Duration Bond Strategy. The allocation has declined over 
time and averaged approximately 40% during the second quarter of 2007. As a result of its 
exposure to the Limited Duration Bond Fund Strategy, the US PALMS strategy has 
underperformed its custom swaps benchmark.! 

{Equities Plus Strategy 
'Tllc Equities Plus strategy invests in futures and total return swaps to achieve exposure to the 
S&P 500 imk~. The collat..::ral pool is ime;;~ted in th~: Limited Duration Bond Stratt:g~. The 
Equities Plus Strategy has experienced significant negative performance primarily due to the 
performance of the underlying collateral pool which is invested in the Limited Duration Bond 
Strategy.J 

The [INSERT FUND NAME] has returned [INSERT YTD FUND PERFORMANCE] as of the 
end of July 2007 versus the [INSERT APPLICABLE BENCHMARKJ which has returned 
[INSERT BENCHMARK YTD PERFORMANCE] as of the end of July. These performance 
returns are preliminary and unaudited. The index performance figures are calculated in U.S. 
dollars and reported on a gross basis. Fees, including but not limited to the advisory fee, 
transaction and custodv charges. would reduce the return. The index returns rctlcct all items of 
income. gain and loss and the n:investment of dividends and other income. SSgA uses reasonable 
etforts to obtain mforrnation from sources which it believes to be reliable; however, SSgA makes 
no representation that the [INSERT NAME OF BENCHMARK] performance information is 
accurate, reliable or complete. Past perforn1ance is no guarantee of future results. This 
performance information is being provided solely for the private use by SSgA clients and is not 
intended for public dissemination. 

Actions Taken 
We believe that what has occurred in the subprimc mortgage market to date this year has been 
more driven by liquidity and le\-erage issues than long term fundamentaJs. Additionally, the 
downdraft in \-aluations has had a significant impact on the risk protilc of our portfolios, 
prompting us to take steps to seek to reduce risk across the affected portfolios. To date, in the 
Limited Duration Bond Strategy, we have reduced a significant portion of our BBB-rated 
securities and 1\e have sold a significant amount of our AAA-rated cash positions. Additionally. 
AAA-rated exposure has been reduced as some total return swaps rolled off at month end. The 
actions we have taken in the Limited Duration Bond Strategy will simultaneously seek to reduce 

SS-SEC 11gf1<n 



DRAFT 

risk in other SSgA active fixed income and active derivative-based strategies have been affected 
to varymg degrees by the problems in the subprime mortgage market as a result of having 
exposure to the Limited Duration Bond Strategy. 

SSgA prides itself on its outstanding client service and client communications. While these 
events may be unsettling, our experience investment team has weather other storms in the past. 
Please do not hesitate to call me should you have additional questions or concerns, especially 
during this fluctuating market environment 

lfNSERT SIGNATUREj 

SS-SE:C 119631 
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From: 

Sent: 

Fries, Elizabeth Shea [efries@goodwinprocter.coml 

Thursday, August 02,2007 10:49 AM 

To: Luster, Jodi 

Cc: Shames, Mitchell 

Subject: Subprime Update 20070731 v3 (fegal080107).doc 

Attachments: Subprime Update 20070731 v3 (fegal080107).doc 

«Subprime Update 20070731 v3 (legal080107).doc>=- Jodi: I think it looks good, and have noted just a few thoughts. One thing 
we did not discuss yesterday is that we should be certain this is exclusively targeted at investors with products that have a NAV 
based on fair market value. Presumably Stable Value is not affected by price action, and products such as COOs have probably 
not realized "losses" at this stage. Please do not hesitate to call if you would like to discuss. Best -Liz 

Elizabeth Shea Fries 
Goodwin Procter LLP 

Exchange Place 
Boston, MA 02109 
t: 617.570.1559 
f: 617.523.1231 
m: 617.721.4662 
efries@goodwinprocter.com 

****** ** *********** **** *************"' **********"'*****"'******"'** ** * * IRS CIRCULAR 230 
DISCLOSURE: To ensure compliance with requirements imposed by the IRS, we inform you that any U.S. tax 
advice contained in this communication (including any attachments) is not intended or written to be used, and 
cannot be used, for the purpose of (i) avoiding penalties under the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) promoting, 
marketing or recommending to another party any transaction or matter addressed herein. 
******************************************************************* 
********************"'***********'****************"'*******"'*"'"'"'******This message is intended only for 
the designated recipient(s). It may contain confidential or proprietary information and may be subject to the 
attorney-client privilege or other confidentiality protections. If you are not a designated recipient, you may not 
re\'iew, copy or distl'ibute this message. If you n.•ceive this in et-ror, pleast" notify tht sender by ,-eply e-mail and 
delete this tnessage. Thank you. "'"'*"'* ***"' *** * ** *** ** *" *"' * * *" ** *** * ** *" * * *"'"' ****"' * ** * **"' * * * "'"' * * * * ** * 

5/29/2008 

SS-SEC 10.1R71 





( 
.J 

•._../ 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Larry-

Shames, Mitchell 
Wednesday, August 01. 2007 12:38 PM 
Carlson, Larry 
RE: Fixed Income Update - Where We Are 

Please make sure that I have the most recent draft. Note, no more changes after my review -- or, if changes are made, I 
need to get a copy. 

Thanks. 

Mitch 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Wednesday, August 01, 2007 8:00AM 
To: US Sales & Marketing - SSGA; Non-US Sales & Marketing; Adams, Jan; Ross, James; Kohler, Adele; Wands, Michael; 
Hopkins, James; Zielinski, David; Shegog, Barbara; Ehret, Greg; Reilly, Bernard; Yamamoto, Koji; Wang, Sheau-Yien; 
Goodlad, Rob; Edgar, Bruce; Sabourin, Denis; Fally, Benoit; Lakhani, Kanesh; Bossi, Josef; Esswein, Klaus; Echiffre, 
Jean; Bang, Carl 
Cc: Brown, Marc; Flannery, John; Johnson, Shawn; Shames, Mitchell 
Subject: Fixed Income Update - Where We Are 

Good Morning: 

We are in the process of finalizing a letter that will be customized and em ailed by each US Relationship Manager with 
the goal of having it letter ready and sent today ..... the latest tomorrow. 

The first part of the letter will address the markets and performance for July- then each RM will need to customize the 
remainder of the letter by inserting a paragraph on the Fund(s) in question as well as strategy specific performance. 

A few things need to happen first: 

• Legal will confirm that the letter is good to send 
• We will be running holdings reports of all affected Funds 
• Contacts will be pulled from Onyx - primary and secondary and consultant. People need to look at these as 

soon as they are ready and make sure that 1) all your affected clients are included- get back to Chris if they are 
not; 2) if a Team Member is out, then the Relationship Manager for each team should work with the Team Leader 
to make sure that all clients are covered 

• RM's will need to decide what contacts to send it to and inform the consultant liaison for each client 
• Emails need to be sent from the individual RM so that we don't run the risk of losing the email in a Spam filter. 
• All emails need to be kept and logged into Onyx 

Other reminders: 

• Continue to input communications into Onyx and send feedback to Tracy Cirigliano (suggest putting your 
comments in an e-mail to Tracy and then copy/paste the e-mail into Onyx) 

A challenging time ... but we will get through it with everyone's cooperation. 

Larry 

............................................................ 
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larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relationship Management 

State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 
Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 
larry carlson@ssga.com 

Please visit us at: 
http://www.ssqa.com 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC, member NASD, SIPC. 

State Street Global Markets, LLC, has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and 
outgoing e-mail communications, including attachments. 

This e-mail and files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely 
for the use of the individuals or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this e-mail in error, please reply 
to this message and let the sender know. 

2 

SS-SEC ll9fi7h 





( 

( 

.. J 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Attachments: 

Jodi, 

Cullinane, Charles 
Thursday, August 02, 2007 3:54PM 
Luster, Jodi 
Subprime letter (Draft) 

Subprime Update (SSgA Legal).doc.zip 

Can you take a read through, insert the additional disclosure language you got from Compliance and then send to Larry, 
Nick and Vince? 

Thanks, 
Charlie 

[[] 
Subprime Update 
{SSgA Legal).d ... 
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August 2. 2007 

!INSERT SALUATlONl: 

We would like to take this opportunity to provide you with further information regarding the 
impact the problems in the subprime mortgage market have had on several of SSgA ·s active tixcd 
income and active derivative-based strategies. 

Recap of Recent Market Events 
Beginning in late 2006 and continuing into 2007, delinquencies on subprime mortgage loans 
increased as credit blemished borrowers began to struggle to make payments as their mortgage 
loans reset at higher rates. As a result, a rash of subprime mortgage foreclosures occurred and 
sevemJ major subprime mortgage lenders filed for bankruptcy. As these events unfolded, 
speculative investors seized upon negative reports in the media and began shorting securities and 
other financial instruments based on the ABX Indices as a means of expressing their negative 
views of the US housing market. The ABX Indices represent swaps whose returns are derived 
from underlying credit default swaps of the 20 representative subprime mortgage securitizations 
issued in the United States over a 6 month timeframe. These swaps are based on the underlying 
deal tranches segregated by credit quality. A combination of thin volume and largely one-way 
hedge fund trading activity led to illiquidity and extreme market volatility in securities and other 
tinancial instruments based upon the ABX Indices. 

1l1c subprime mortgage market further deteriorated in June and July of this year. In June, widely­
publicized nc11 s of problems in t\' o hedge funds caused Wall Stn:et creditors to seize collateral. 
including large pools of mortgage-backed securities. The creditors' attempts to liquidate these 
mortgage-backed securities placed added pressure on asset values and credit spreads in the 
subprime mortgage market. In July, the downgrading and watch listing of securities secured by 
subprime mortgages by Moody's and Standard and Poor's triggered a significant and sustained 
unwinding of leverage and sales of securities. 

Impact on SSgA's Portfolios 
These market events and the subsequent downward pressure on valuations in the subprime 
mortgage market have resulted in varying degrees of negative performance in several of SSgA 's 
active fixed income strategies and active derivative-based strategies. Most notably, the Limited 
Duration Bond Strategy has experienced significant negntive performance due to its exposure to 
the ABX Indices. The Limited Duration Bond Strategy experienced negative performance in the 
first quarter of 2007 ns a result of technical pressures (hedge fund selling) and spread widening in 
BBB-rated securities secured by subprime mortgages. The Limited Duration Bond Strategy 
experienced even more pronounced negative performance in the second quarter of 2007 as spread 
widening moved up the capital structure to AAA and AA-rated securities secured by subprime 
mortgages. Other active fixed income and active derivative-based strategies have been affected 
to varying degrees by the problems in the subprime mortgage market as a result of having 
exposure to the Limited Duration Bond Strategy or due to other active positions atfcctcd by the 
aforementioned market events. 

The impact of the problems in the subprime mortgage market has had the following impact on 
your investments with SSgA: 
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[If your Client is invested in either the: (a) Enhanced Dow Jones-AIG Commodities Futures 
Strategy, (b) US Pooled Asset Liability Matching Solution (PALMS) or (c) Equities Plus 
Strategy insert the applicable paragraph(s) here.} 

(Enhanced Dow Jones-AIG Commodities Futures Strategy 
The Enhanced Dow Jones-AIG Commodities Futures Strategy utilizes futures and total return 
swaps to gain exposure to the 19 commodity futures contracts in the 5 major commodity groups 
that comprise the DJ-AIG Commodity [ndex. The collateral pool is invested in the Limited 
Duration Bond Strategy_ The Enhanced Dow Jones-AlG Commodities Futures Strategy has 
experienced significant negative performance primarily due to the performance of the underlying 
collateral pool which is invested in the Limited Duration Bond Strategy.J 

(US Pooled Asset Liability Matching Solution (PALMS) 
The collateral pool for our US PALMS is invested in an enhanced US Dollar 3 Month LIBOR 
strategy. This enhanced strategy has discretion to allocate dynamically between the Limited 
Duration Bond Strategy and the Short Term Investment Fund (STIF). While this enhanced 
strategy is currently 100% invested in the STIF fund, at times the strategy has allocated up to 
70% of cash collateral to the Limited Duration Bond Strategy. The allocation has declined over 
time and averaged approximately 40% during the second quarter of 2007. As a result of its 
exposure to the Limited Duration Bond Fund Strategy, the US PALMS strategy has 
underperformed its custom swaps benchmark.} 

(Equities Plus Strategy 
The Equities Plus strategy invests in futures and total return swaps to achieve c:xposurc to the 
S&P 500 index. The collateral pool i~ illl cstcd in the Limitcd Duration Bond Strategy. The 
Equities Plus Strategy has experienced significant negative performance primarily due to the 
performance of the underlying collateral pool which is invested in the Limited Duration Bond 
Strategy.} 

The [INSERT FUND NAME] has returned [INSERT YTD FUND PERFORMANCE] as of 
the end of July 2007 versus the [INSERT APPLICABLE BENCHMARK] which has 
returned [INSERT BENCHMARK YTD PERFORMANCE] as of the end of July. These 
performance returns are preliminary and unaudited. This performance information is 
being provided solely for the private use by SSgA clients and is not intended for public 
dissemination_ 

Actions Taken 
We believe that what has occurred in the subprime mortgage market to date this year has been 
more driven by liquidity and leverage issues than long term fundamentals. Additionally, the 
downdraft in valuations has had a signiticant impact on the risk protilc of our portfolios, 
prompting us to take steps to seek to reduce risk across the affected portfolios. To date, in the 
Limited Duration Bond Strategy, we have reduced a significant portion of our BBB-rated 
securities and we have sold a significant amount of our AAA-rated cash positions. Additionally, 
AAA-rated exposure has been reduced as some total return swaps rolled off at month end. The 
actions we have taken in the Limited Duration Bond Strategy will simultaneouslv seek to reduce 
risk in other SSgA active fixed income and active derivativ~-based strategies ha~e been affected 
to varying degrees by the problems in the subprirne mortgage market as a result of having 
e:xposure to the Limited Duration Bond Strategy. 
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SSgA prides itself on its outstanding client service and client communications. While these 
events may be unsettling, our cxpenencc investment team has weather other storms in the past. 
Please do not hesitate to call me should you have additional questions or concerns, especially 
dunng this tluctuating market environment. 

[INSERT SIGNATUREJ 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Attachments: 

Hi Larry, 

luster, Jodi 
Thursday, August 02, 2007 4:30 PM 
Carlson, Larry; Mavro, Nicholas; Thornton, Vincent 
Cullinane, Charles 
Client Letter 

Subprime Update (SSgA Legal).doc.zip 

I've attached the revised letter which incorporates our comments from our discussion this morning. Please let me know if 
you have any questions. 

Thank you, 
Jodi 

CtJ 
Subprime Update 
(SSgA Legal).d ... 
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DRAFT 

August 2. 2007 

[INSERT SALUATIONJ: 

We would like to take this opportunity to provide you with further information regarding the 
impact the problems in the subprimc mortgage market have h:1d on several of SSgA's active fixed 
income and active derivative-based strategies. 

Recap of Recent Market Events 
Beginning in late 2006 and continuing into 2007, delinquencies on subprime mortgage loans 
increased as credit blemished borrowers began to struggle to make payments as their mortgage 
loans reset at higher rates. As a result, a rash of subprime mortgage foreclosures occurred and 
several major subprime mortgage lenders filed for bankruptcy. As these events unfolded, 
speculative investors seized upon negative reports in the media and began shorting securities and 
other financial instruments based on the ABX Indices as a means of expressing their negative 
views of the US housing market. The ABX Indices represent swaps whose returns are derived 
from underlying credit default swaps of the 20 representative subprime mortgage securitizations 
issued in the United States over a 6 month timeframe. These swaps are based on the underlying 
deal tranchcs segregated by credit quality. A combination of thin volume and largely one-way 
hedge fund trading activity led to illiquidity and extreme market volatility in securities and other 
tinancial instruments based upon the ABX Indices. 

The subprimc mortgage market further deteriorated in June and July of this year. Tn June, widely­
publicized llt:\\S of problems in 1110 hedge funds caused Wall Stn.:ct creditors to seize collateraL 
including large pools of mortgage-backed securities. The creditors' attempts to liquidate these 
mortgage-backed securities placed added pressure on asset values and credit spreads in the 
subprime mortgage market. In July, the downgrading and watch listing by Moody's and Standard 
and Poor's of securities secured by subprime mortgages triggered a significant and sustained 
unwinding of leverage and sales of securities. 

Impact on SSgA's Portfolios 
These market events and the subsequent downward pressure on valuations in the subprime 
mortgage market have resulted in varying degrees of negative performance in several of SSgA 's 
active fixed income. strategies and active derivative-based strategies. Most notably. the Limited 
Duration Bond Strategy has e.\pericnccd signitic:mt negative performance due to its t:.\posure to 
the ABX Indices. The Limited Duration Bond Strategy experienced negauve performance in the 
first quarter of 2007 as a result of technical pressures (hedge fund selling) and spread widening in 
BBB-rated securities secured by subprime mortgages. The Limited Duration Bond Strategy 
experienced even more pronounced negative performance in the second quarter of 2007 as spread 
widening moved up the capital structure to AAA and AA-rated securities secured by subprime 
mortgages. Other active fixed income and active derivative-based strategies have been affected 
to varying degrees by the problems in the subprime mortgage market as a result of having 
exposure to the Limited DuratiOn Bond Strategy or due to other active posttions atfcctcd by the 
aforementioned market events. 

The impact of the problems in the subprime mortgage market has had the foliO\.,.ing impact on 
your investments with SSgA: 
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{If your Client is invested in either the: (a) Enhanced Dow Jones-AIG Commodities Futures 
Strategy, (b) US Pooled Asset Liability Matching Solution (PALMS) or (c) Equities Plus 
Strategy insert the applicable paragraph(s) here.} 

[Enhanced Dow .Jones-r\IG Commodities Futures Strategy 
-n1e Enhanced Dow Jones-AlG Commodities Futures Strategy utilizes futures and total return 
swaps to gain exposure to the 19 commodity futures contracts in the 5 major commodity groups 
that comprise the DJ-AlG Commodity Index. The collateral pool is invested in the Limited 
Duration Bond Strategy. The Enhanced Dow Jones-AIG Commodities Futures Strategy has 
experienced significant negative performance primarily due to the performance of the underlying 
collateral pool which is invested in the Limited Duration Bond Strategy I 

{US Pooled Asset Liability Matching Solution (PALMS) 
The collateral pool for our US PALMS is invested in an enhanced US Dollar 3 Month LIBOR 
strategy. This enhanced strategy has discretion to allocate dynamically between the Limited 
Duration Bond Strategy and the Short Term Investment Fund (STIF). While this enhanced 
strategy is currently 100% invested in the STIF fund, at times the strategy has allocated up to 
70% of cash collateral to the Limited Duration Bond Strategy. The allocation has declined over 
time and averaged approximately 40% during the second quarter of 2007. As a result of its 
exposure to the Limited Duration Bond Fund Strategy, the US PALMS strategy has 
underperformed its custom swaps benchmark. I 

!Equities Plus Strategy 
The Equities Plus strategy invests in futures and total return S\vaps to achieve exposure to the 
S&P 500 imkx. The collateral pool is ill\ ested in the Limited Duration Bond Strategy. The 
Equities Plus Strategy has experienced significant negative performance primarily due to the 
performance of the underlying collateral pool which is invested in the Limited Duration Bond 
Strategy.J " 

The [fNSERT FUND NAME} has returned [fNSERT YTD FUND PERFORMANCE] as of the 
end of July 2007 versus the LINSERT APPLICABLE BENCHMARK] which has returned 
[rNSERT BENCHMARK YTD PERFORMANCE] as of the end of July. These performance 
returns are preliminary and unaudited. The index performance figures are caJculated in U.S. 
dollars and reported on a gross basis. Fees, including but not limited to the advisory fee, 
transaction and custody ehar:gcs, would reduce the return. The index returns reflect all items of 
income. gain am! loss and the reinvestment of dividends and other wcome. SSgA uses reasonable 
etTorts to obtain information from sources which it believes to be reliable; however, SSgA makes 
no representation that the [fNSERT NAME OF BENCHMARK] performance information is 
accurate, reliable or complete. Past performance is no guarantee of future results. This 
performance information is being provided solely for the private use by SSgA clients and is not 
intended for public dissemination. 

Actions Taken 
We believe that what has occurred in the subprime mortgage market to date this year has been 
more driven by liquidity and leverage issues than long term fundamentals. Additionally, the 
downdraft in valuations has had a significant impact on the risk protilc of our porttolios, 
prompting us to take steps to seek to reduce risk across the affected portfolios. To date, in the 
Limited Duration Bond Strategy, we have reduced a significant portion of our BBB-rated 
securities and \\e have sold a significant amount of our AAA-rated cash positions. Additionally, 
AAA-rated exposure has been reduced as some total return swaps rolled off at month end. The 
actions we have taken in the Lim1ted Duration Bond Strategy will simultaneously seek to reduce 
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risk in other SSgA active fixed income and active deri.,ative-based strategies have been affected 
to varying degrees by the problems in the subprime mortgage market as a result of having 
exposure to the Limited Duration Bond Strategy. 

SSgA prides itself on its outstanding client service and client communications. While these 
events may be unsettling, our experience investment team has weather other storms in the past. 
Please do not hesitate to call me should you have additional questions or concerns, especially 
during this fluctuating market environment. 

LINSERT SIGNATURE) 
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From: 

Sent: 

Kohler. Adele [Adele _Kohler@ssga.comj 

Tuesday, July 31. 2007 11 20 PM 

To: 

Cc: 

Shames. Mitchell: Reardon. Stact; Hopkins. James: Wands, Michael: Carlson, Larry: Mavro. Nicholas 

Flannery, John: Brown. Marc 

Subject: C:ient letter for Month-end Performance- Draft 

Attachments: Subprime Update 20070731 v2.doc zip 

<<Subprime Update 20070731 v2.doc.zip>> 

Please see the draft of the client letter for tomorrow. r will be out tomorrow and Thursday for a mandatory training 
session but will be in touch via blackberry and can potentially return to the office if needed 

;..titch please take a look and communicate any concerns to Nick i\lavro and Larry Carlson as they will run with this 
tomorrow. 

:\dele Kohler, CFA 

Senior i\lanaging Director 

Product Development and Product Engineering 

Phone 617.664.6096 

<1dde _kuhl~:r~i;ssga.wm 

I 121/2008 
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Dear XX. 

'Ne would like to provide you with an update regarding rmpact of problems in the subprime 
mortgage market on SSgA's fixed income strategies. 

Recap of Recent Market Events 
Beginning in late 2006 and continuing into 2007. defaults on subprime loans increased as so­
called "risky" borrowers began to struggle to make payments as their loans reset at higher rates. 
A rash of subprime mortgage foreclosures occurred and several major subprime mortgage 
lenders filed for bankruptcy. As these events unfolded. speculative investors seized upon 
negative reports in the media and began using the triple B and triple B minus ABX Indices as a 
means of expressing negative views (i.e. shorting) on the US housing market. (This index is a 
basket Credit Default Swaps on 20 large securitizations in a particular credit rating and 
represents one of the few options for expressing views on subprime mortgages through an 
exchange traded vehicle.) A combination ot thin volume and one-way hedge fund activity led to 
extreme market volatility and illiquidity in these exposures. 

Markets were further rattled in June of this year when news of problems in two Bear Stearns 
hedge funds caused Wall Street creditors to cease collateral - primarily of mortgage-backed 
securities. Their attempts to liquidate these hedge fund assets put new pressure on asset values 
and credit spreads in the market. 

Most recently in July, the announcement by Moody's and Standard and Poor's to consider 
downgrading $12 billion worth of securities backed by subprime mortgages triggered a significant 
and sustained unwinding of leverage and sales of securities. 

Impact on SSgA's Portfolios 
These events and the subsequent downward pressure on valuations have resulted in varying 
degrees of underperformance in several of SSgA's fixed income strategies. Most notably, the 
Limited Duration Bond Fund has experienced significant performance shortfall due to exposure to 
the triple B ABX index in the first half of the year and more pronounced underperformance as 
spread widening has moved up the capital structure to triple and double A rated securities 
secured by subprime mortgages. Other active fixed income strategies have been affected as well 
as a result of holding units in the Limited Duration Bond Fund or due to other active positions 
affected by the aforementioned market events. Finally, SSgA manages strategies outside of the 
fixed income department for which Limited Duration Bond Fund is used as an alpha source. 
These strategies have also underperformed. 

The specific impact on your portfolios is as follows: 
You are rnvested in funds a. b. c. Preliminary and unaudited performance results through July 
are __ . Relationship Manager to take large table include only the relevant return results 
for their client. 

These paragraphs in blue to be used only for clients in these strategies. 

Dow Jones AlG Strategy 
The Dow Jones Commodity Index strategy invests in futures and total return swaps to achieve 
exposure to the 19 commodities futures rn the rndex. Residual cash is invested in the limited 
Duration Bond Fund. which employs a relative value approach to identifying opportunistic 
investments in the short and intermediate sectors of the market. The strategy invests rn triple B 
through triple A securities and has an average quality of AA. The fund has experienced 
sign1ficant performance shortfall due to its exposure to the triple B ABX index in the early part of 
2007 and the subsequent impact on higher quality capital structures including double and triple A 
rated securities. The preliminary and unaudited performance results through July 3 J51 are as 
follows: 
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US PALMS 
Tt1e cash vehrcle utrlized by our US Pooled Asset liability Matching Solution (PALMS) is 
ZJn enhanced US Dollar 3 Month LIBOR strategy This enhanced strategy has discret1on to 
allocate dynamically between the L1mrted Duration Bond Fund and the Short Term Investment 
Fund (STIF). Whrle thrs enhanced strategy IS currently 100% invested in the ST!F fund. at times 
the strategy has allocated up to 70% to the Limited Duration Bond Fund. The allocation has 
declined over time and averaged approximately 40% during the second quarter of 2007. As a 
result of its exposure to LDBF, the US PALMS strategy has underperformed its custom swaps 
benchmark. The preliminary and unaudited performance results through July 31 51 are as follows: 

Equities Plus Strategy 
The Eqwtres Plus strategy invests in futures and total return swaps to achieve exposure to the 
S&P 500 index. Residual cash is invested in the lim1ted Duration Bond Fund, which employs a 
relative value approach to identifying opportunistic investments in the short and intermediate 
sectors of the market. The strategy invests in triple B through triple A securities and has an 
average quality of AA. The fund has experienced significant performance shortfall due to its 
exposure to the triple 8 ABX index in the early part of 2007 and the subsequent impact on higher 
quality capital structures including double and triple A rated securities. The preliminary and 
unaudited performance results through July 31 51 are as follows: 

Actions Taken 
While we believe that events over the past several months have been largely the result of liquidity 
and leverage issues, versus long-term fundamentals, we are also aware that the downdraft in 
valuations have had a significant impact on the risk profile of our portfolios and thus we have 
taken steps to reduce risk across the affected portfolios. Within the Limited Duration Bond Fund 
we have reduced exposure to a significant portion of triple 8 securities, we have sold a large 
amount of our triple A cash positions and will be reducing additional triple A exposure as total 
return swaps roll off at month end. These actions will simultaneously serve to reduce risk 111 other 
SSgA strategies that hold units of the limited Duration Bond Fund. 

We will continue to keep you informed during this very fluid market environment. Please do not 
hesitate to call me should you have additional questions or concerns. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Attachments: 

Shames. Mitchell 
Wednesday, August 01. 2007 1212 AM 
Elizabeth Shea Fries 
FW: Client Letter for Month-end Performance · Draft 

Subprime Update 20070731 v2.doc.zip 

This is the proposed letter for tomorrow. I haven·t looked at it yet. 

I'll get you the other letter tomorrow. 

Mitch. 

From: Kohler, Adele 
Sent: Tuesday, July 31, 2007 7:20PM 
To: Shames, ~1itchell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins, James; Wands, Michael; Carlson, Larry; Mavro, Nicholas 
Cc: Flannery, John; Brown, Marc 
Subject: Client Letter for Month-end Performance - Draft 

CD 
Subpnme Update 
20070731 •J2.do ... 

Please see the draft of the client letter for tomorrow. f will be out tomorrow and Thursday for a mandatory 
training session but will be in touch via blackberry and can potentially return to the office if needed. 

l'vlitch please take a look and communicate any concerns to Nick Mavro and Larry Carlson as they will run with 
this tomorrow. 

Adele Kohler, CFA 
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From: Fi<:mnery, John [Sean_Fiannery@ssga com) 

Sent: Wednesday, August 01, 2007 11·39 AM 

To: Kohler, Adele: Shames, Mitchell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins. James; Wands. Michael; Carlson. Larry: Mavro, Nicholas 

Cc: Brown. Marc 

Subject: RE: Client Letter for Month-end Performance - Draft 

:\II-

See my suggested edits below. The comments on the PL\\JS part needs to be verif1ed. 

Sean P. Flannery 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com 

From: Kohler, Adele 
Sent: Tuesday, July 31, 2007 7:20PM 
To: Shames, Mitchell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins, James; Wands, Michael; Carlson, Larry; Mavro, Nicholas 
Cc: Flannery, John; Brown, Marc 
Subject: Client letter for Month-end Performance- Draft 

<<File: Subprime Update20070731 v2.doc.zip >> 

Please see the draft of the client letter for tomorrow. I will be out tomorrow and Thursday for a mandatory training 
session but will be in touch via blackberry and can potentially return to the office if needed. 

Mitch please take a look and communicate any concerns to Nick Mavro and Larry Carlson as they will run with this 
tomorrow. 

Adele Kohler, CFA 

Senior Managing Director 

Product Development and Product Engineering 

Phone 617 664 6096 

adele kohler~l)ssga.com 

l/2!12008 
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From: 

Sent: 

Flannery, John [Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com! 

I.Nednesday, August 01, 2007 11 53 AM 

To: Kohler. Adele; Shames, Mitchell; Reardon, Staci; HopkinS, James; Wands, Michael; Carlson. Larry. Mavro. 
Nicholas 

Cc: Brown, Marc 

Subject: RE: Client letter for Month-end Performance - Draft 

Importance: High 

Attachments: Subprime Update 20070731 v3.doc zip 

Sorry-

I forgot to include the doc. 

«Subprime Update 20070731 v3.doc.zip» 

Sean P. Flannery 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com 

From: Kohler, Adele 
Sent: Tuesday, July 31, 2007 7:20PM 
To: Shames, Mitchell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins, James; Wands, Michael; Carlson, Larry; l\1avro, Nicholas 
Cc: Flannery, John; Brown, Marc 
Subject: Client Letter for Month-end Performance- Draft 

<<File: Subprime Update 20070731 v2.doc.zip >> 

Please see the draft of the client letter for tomorrow. I will be out tomorrow and Thursday for a mandatory training 
session but will be in touch via blackberry and can potentially return to the office if needed. 

;\·!itch please take a look and communicate any concerns to Nick Mavro and Larry Carlson as they \Viii run with this 
t111110rrow 

Adele Kohler, CFA 

Senior Managing Director 

Product Development and Product Engineering 

Phone 61 7 66-t 6096 

adele kohkr(wssga com 

I I I <J/2008 
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Ce¥ /X, 

'/Je would l1ke to prov;de you ·n1th 3n upd3te regard1ng lmp&t of problems ;n the <;ubpnme 
mortgage market on SSgA's fixed mcome strateg1es. 

Recap of Recent Market Events 
Beg1nn,ng 1n late 2006 and cont1numg 1nto 2007, Jelinquencres on subpnme loans mcreased as 
<;a-called ·r:sky" borrower<; began to struggle to make payments as their-loans reset -ai higher 
ntes A rash of subpnme mortgage foreclosures occurred 3nd several maJOr subprime mor1gage 
lenders f;led for bankruptcy. As these events unfolded, speculative 1nvestors seized upon 
negatJYe reports 1n the media and began usmg the tnple Band triple B m1nus ABX lnd1ces as a 
means of expressmg negat1ve vrews (1 e short1ng) on the US hous1ng market. (ThiS 1ndex 1s a 
basket Credit Default Swaps on 20 large secuntizations 1n a part1cular credit ratmg and 
represents one of the few opt1ons for expressing views on subprime mortgages,) A combination 
of thin volume and one-way hedge fund activity led to extreme market volatility a'n({,liu:iu.idltY -in · 
these exposures. 

Markets were further rattled in June of this year when news of problems in two Bear Stearns 
hedge funds caused Wall Street cred1tors to cease collateral - pnmarily of mortgage-b&ked 
secunties. Their attempts to liquidate these hedge fund assets put new pressure on asset values 
and credit spreads in the market 

Most recently in July, the announcement by Moody's and Standard and Poor's to consider 
downgrading $12 b1llion worth of secunties backed by subpnme mortgages tnggered a s1gn1ficant 
and sustained unwmding of leverage and sales of securities. 

Impact on SSgA's Portfolios 
These events and the subsequent downward pressure on valuations have resulted in vary1ng 
degrees of underperformance in several of SSgA's fixed income strategies. Most notably, the 
Limrted Duration Bond Fund has expenenced significant performance shortfall due to exposure to 
the tnple B ABX index 1n the first half of the year and more pronounced underperformance as 
spread widen1ng has moved up the cnpital structure to triple and double A rated securities 
secwed by subpflme mc•tgages. Other actl'/e f1xed 1ncome strateg1es have been affected as well 
as a result of holding umts in the lim1ted DuratiOn Bond Fund or due to other active positions 
affected by the aforementioned market events. Finally, SSgA manages strategies outside of the 
fixed income department for which lim1ted Duration Bond Fund is used as an alpha source. 
These strategies have also underperformed. 

The spec1fic impact on your portfolios is as follows: 
You are invested in funds a, b, c. Preliminary and unaudited performance results through July 
are __ . Relationship Manager to take large table Include only the relevant return results 
for their client. 

These paragraphs In blue to be used only for clients In these strategies. 

Dow Jones AIG Strategy 
The Dow Jones Commod1ty Index strategy 1nvests 1n futures and total r<=turn swaps to ach1eve 
<=xposure to the 19 commodities futures 10 the 1ndex. Residual cash 1s 1nvested in the L1m1ted 
Duration Bond Fund, which employs a relative value approach to identifying opportunistic 
investments in the short and intermediate sectors of the market The strategy 1nvests in tr1ple B 
through tnple A secunt1es and has an average quality of AA The fund has experienced 
s1gn1ficant performance shortfall due to ,ts exposure to the triple B ABX index 1n the early pan of 
2007 and the subsequent rmp&t on h•gher quality cap1tal structures Including double and tnple A 
rated secun!Ies The preliminary and unaudited performance resurts through July 31 51 are as 
fo!IO'NS 

( OeJeted~ rjelau!ls 
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US PALMS 
The c:.Jsh vehicle uttlized by our US Pooled Asset L1abdity Matching Solution (PALMS) Is 
)n enhanced US Dollar 3 Month UBOR strategy. Th1s enhanced strategy has d1scret1on to 
.J~Iocate dynamically between the L1m1ted Durat1on Bond Fund and the ShortT erm Investment 
Fund (STIF) vVh1le th1s enhanced strategy <S currently 100% invested 1n the STIF fund, at tlmes 
the Strategy haS allocated Up tO r•-creck th1s-my understanding IS that the funds held 30%, OOl 
lQ::J70% to the L1m1ted Duration Bond Fund. The allocatlon has declined over lime and 
:weraged .3pprox1mately 40% dunng the second quarter of 2007 As a result of 1ts exposure to 
LDBF. the US PALMS strategy has underperformed 1ts custom swaps benchmark. The 
preliminary and unaudited performance results through July 31" are as follows 

Equities Plus Strategy 
The Equities Plus strategy invests in futures and total rerum swaps to achieve exposure to the 
S&P 500 index. Residual cash is invested 1n the limited Duration Bond Fund, which employs a 
relative value approach to 1dent1fying opportunistic Investments in the short and intermediate 
sectors of the market The strategy mvests in triple B through triple A secunties and has an 
average quality of AA. The fund has experienced sign1ficant performance shortfall due to its 
exposure to the tnple 8 ABX index in the early part of 2007 and the subsequent 1m pact on higher 
quality cap1tal structures including double and triple A rated securitieS. The preliminary and 
unaudited performance results through July 31" are as follows: 

Actions Taken 
While we believe that events over the past several months have indicate some deterioration in 
Lo!Jg_t;Jr-term fundsrnents. we b~lievt;J_price action has. been domln_ate.<:t!?YJ!:l~.JJDWindiruv<f 
leverage in a market segment with sharply reduced liguiditv. Additionally, J~~ ~?~11~r<3tt !n. _ _ _ _ 
valuations J1_Il~~~d_ <3 ?i9~~~c:an_t ~rr:ea:c~ ~~ ~h~_r~s~ P!:C:f'!~ <:f _o~~ !?<:r!fol~o_s, f:'lPD1.!2liQfl, ~.!p}~~ __ _ 
steps to reduce risk across the affected portfolios. Within the lim1ted Duration Bond Fund we 
have reduced exposure to a significant portion of triple 8 securities, we have sold a large amount 
of our triple A cash posttions and ;>~9~i?f1<!1 ~r!pJe_ ;\ _e:<e~s~~e_ ~~some ~o!aJ ~e_h:'rfi_S!If_ap~ ~oil~ ()f! _ 
at month end. These actions, simultaneously serve to reduce risk in other SSgA strategies that 
hold unrts of the Lim1ted Duratioi18onc(Fu-nd.- - - - - - - · - - - - - - - · - - - - - - - ·· - • - - - - -- - - - -

VVe will continue to keep you 1nformed durmg th1s very flUid market envtronment. Please do not 
hes1tate to call me should you have additional questions or concems. 
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From: Shames, Mitchell 
Sent: Wednesday, August 01,2007 1238 PM 

Carlson, Larry To: 
Subject: RE: Fixed Income Update- Where We Are 

Larry-

Please make sure that I have the most recent draft. Note, no more changes after my review-- or. if changes are made. I 
need to get a copy. 

Thanks. 

Mitch 

From: Carlson, larry 
Sent: Wednesday, August 01, 2007 8:00AM 
To: US Sales & Marketing - SSGA; Non-US Sales & Marketing; Adams, Jan; Ross, James; Kohler, Adele; Wands, Michael; 
Hopkins, James; Zielinski, David; Shegog, Barbara; Ehret, Greg; Reilly, Bernard; Yamamoto, Koji; Wang, Sheau-Yien; 
Goodlad, Rob; Edgar, Bruce; Sabourin, Denis; Fally, Benoit; Lakhani, Kanesh; Bossi, Josef; Esswein, Klaus; Echiffre, 
Jean; Bang, Carl 
Cc: Brown, Marc; Flannery, John; Johnson, Shawn; Shames, Mitchell 
Subject: Fixed Income Update - Where We Are 

Good Morning: 

We are in the process of finalizing a letter. that will be customized and emailed by each US Relationship Manager with 
the goal of having it letter ready and sent today..... the latest tomorrow. 

The first part of the letter will address the markets and performance for July- then each RM will need to customize the 
remainder of the letter by inserting a paragraph on the Fund(s) in question as well as strategy specific performance. 

A few things need to happen first: 

• Legal will confirm that the letter is good to send 
• We will be running holdings reports of all affected Funds 
• Contacts w1ll be pulled from Onyx -primary and secondary and consultant. People need to look at these as 

soon as they are ready and make sure that 1) all your affected clients are included- get back to Chris if they are 
not; 2) if a Team Member is out, then the Relationship Manager for each team should work with the Team Leader 
to make sure that all clients are covered 

• RM's will need to decide what contacts to send it to and inform the consultant liaison for each client 
• Emails need to be sent from the individual RM so that we don't run the risk of losing the email in a Spam filter. 
• All emails need to be kept and fogged into Onyx 

Other reminders: 

• Continue to input communications into Onyx and send feedback to Tracy Cirigliano (suggest putting your 
comments in an e-mail to Tracy and then copy/paste the e-mail into Onyx) 

A challenging time ... but we will get through it with everyone's cooperation. 

Larry 

,. . .., ............................................. . 



Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relationship Management 

State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street. 33rd Floor 
Boston. MA 02111-2900 
Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 
lam carlson@ssqa.com 

Please visit us at: 
http://-MVW.ssqa.com 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets. LLC. member NASO, SIPC. 

State Street Global Markets, LLC, has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and 
outgoing e-mail communications, including attachments. 

This e-mail and files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely 
for the use of the individuals or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this e-mail in error, please reply 
to this message and let the sender know. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Importance: 

Attachments: 

From: Flannery, John 

Shames. Mitchell 
Wednesday, August 01. 2007 1 59 PM 
Luster. Jodi 
FW: Client Letter for Month-end Performance - Draft 

High 

Subprime Update 20070731 v3.doc zip 

Sent: Wednesday, August 01, 2007 7:53AM 
To: Kohler, Adele; Shames, Mitchell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins, James; Wands, Michael; Carlson, larry; Mavro, Nicholas 
Cc: Brown, Marc 
Subject: RE: Client letter for Month-end Performance - Draft 
Importance: High 

Sorry-
l forgot to include the doc. 

CD 
Subpnme Update 
20070731 v3.do ... 

Sean P. Flannery 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean Flannery@ssga.com 

From: Kohler, Adele 
Sent: Tuesday, July 31, 2007 7:20PM 
To: Shames, tv1itchell; Reardon, Staci; Hopkins, James; Wands, Michael; Carlson, larry; Mavro, Nicholas 
Cc: Flannery, John; Brown, Marc 
Subject: Client Letter for Month-end Performance - Draft 

<< File Subprime Update 20070731 v2 doc zip >> 

Please see the draft of the client letter for tomorrow. [ will be out tomorrow and Thursday for a mandatory 
training session but will be in touch via blackberry and can potentially return to the otlice if needed. 

~litch please take a look and communicate any concerns to Nick Mavro and Larry Carlson as they will run with 
this tomorrow. 

r\dele Kohler, CF A 
Senior ,\lanaging Director 
Product Development and Product Engineering 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Attachments: 

Hi Liz, 

Luster, Jodi 
Wednesday, August 01, 2007 8:01 PM 
'efries@goodwinprocter. com' 
Shames, Mitchell 
Edited Letter 

Subprime Update 20070731 v3 (legal080107).doc.zip 

I have attached an edited version of the client letter that I believe incorporates the points raised in our discussion this 
afternoon. Could you please review and let me know whether you have any additional comments or questions. 

Thank you, 
Jodi 

Jodi D. Luster, Esq. 
Principal, Counsel 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 31 51 Floor 
Boston, MA 02111 
(p) 617-664-7193 
(f) 617-664-6273 
jodi_luster@ssga.com 

liJ 
Subpr1me Update 
20070731 v3 (1 ... 



Dear XX, 

vve would l1ke to prov1de you w1th an update Le~qrg[)gj_h~ 1m pact of problems 1n the subpnme 
mortgage market on SSgA's fixed 1ncome striHeg1es.- - · · - - · - · · - · - -

Recap of Recent Market Events 
Begmmng 1n late 2006 and con!lnwng :nto 2007 ..J.telinqtjencies on subp_ri_me_I(Jans_ in<_;rea~e_d_ '!S __ .. 
so-called, ·n~kt borr<:>"!er~ _began tostrug~Jie to f)1ak~ pay_men~ as_ the1r loan~ ~e_set ~-h'<th_e~ ___ _ 
r:Jtes. A rash of subpnme mortgage foreclosures occurred and several maJOr subprime mortgage 
!enders filed for bankruptcy As these events unfolded, speculative 1nvestors seized upon 
negatiVe reports m the media and began .sJ:lort1ng secunt]e~ Of'! ~~ trjp_l~ !3_ an!1 t(lp_l~ !3 .111'!11:JS __ 
ABX Indices as a means of e~pressmg their negative viewsm the US hous1ng market (This 
index [Wh1ch index? The triple B or triple B minus or both?]1s comprised of a basket_Qf Credit 
Default Swaps on 20 large securrtizations 1n a partiCular credit rating and represents one of the 
few investment options that can ut1lize an exchange traded vehicle.to invest in Oil!~P.rirn_e _______ _ 
mortgages,) fAre there 20 within each index? If so. IS 20 the current number or the steady number 
of secuntizationsiWe.should retiect whether 20 is a current or steadY nuniti~A combination of --
thin volume and one-way hedge fund activity led to illigwdity and extreme market volatility jn 
these ~!J.~'~i.J.'!s!r.urn_e!lt;; _1n !h_eif1dlc;e_s, ________________________________ : : : : : : - · 

Markets were further rattled in June of this year when news of problems in two Bear Stearns 
hedge funds caused Wall Street creditors to ~eiZe c_o!l~t~~a\. includjng l?rge pools of .rn_o;tg~g~ ___ _ 
backed securities. Their attempts to liquidate these mortgage-backed securities put new 
pressure on asset values and credit spreads in the marke(i'teii lri the coritexfoHrl0ie arid- - - - -
double A-rated securities secured by sub prime mortgages. 

Most recently in July, the announcement by Moody's and Standard and Poor's to consider 
downgrading $12 billion worth of securities backed by subprime mortgages trigge~e((a-significant-­
and sustained unwinding of leverage and sales of securities. [Need to conf~rm whether Moody 
and/or S&P actuallY downgraded or watch listed the secunties) 

Impact on SSgA's Portfolios 
These events and the subsequent downward pressure on valuations have resulted m varying 
degrees of J:lJ!.!:t<~!~!! I?~Jf.O!f!l~t:J~i~ !l!l~e!~l_o! ~?~';> }i~~~ ~~~'!I!! _st_r~~i~l!·. ~_o~t_ f!O!~_Iy_, _____ _ 
common trust and commingled funds that follow the Limited Duration Bond~ haY!~, _ . __ _ 
experienced signifiCant Josses due to exposure to the triple 8 ABX index in the first half of the · 
year and J!_v~~ !a_rger_l~is~~ ~ ~er~~~ -:v!d~e~in9J1~~ !rio:Y~~ ~~ !fie~~ap~~(s!r-Y~t~~e~t~ }ryJ~ ~tf: ~ 
double A:j_a!e_d _ s_~l!f~~e!J _s~u!~~ ~y ~"!b.P!i!_ll_e_l11~'!!1_ag~~ Jo general, ~~iy~ jand passive? Neeq · 
to draw distinction between the two if applicableJfixed income strategies have been affected to ~ ,. 
yarving degreesps a result of holding units in the Limited Duration Bond Fund§ or due to other ", 
.~tiv_&j_p_o_:;~ions_ ~~e:c!e~d:bJ:tfl~ ~~of~ri]~n!i96~tf ~~~k~! ~~e~~~ fi'n~IJy~ }3}3~~ri]~n~ag~::: ~:::, 
strategies outside of the fixed income department for which the Lim1ted Duration Bond Funds are · 
,used as an alpha source. These strategies have also underperformed.[Are there any strategies 
that have been shorting and doing well or not suffering a ioss? If so, we need to qualify tliis point] 

The specific impact on your portfolios IS as follows: 
You are Invested •n funds a. b, c Prehm~nary and unaud1ted performance results through July 
are __ . Relationship Manager to take large table include only the relevant return results 
for their client. 

These paragraphs In blue to be used only for clients In these strategies. 

- Each strategy description should clearly Identity the general Investment oblectlve and 
P!:.Qf_~s as ~~~ as what we <!!~.£.l!!~!l!1~!!9ing i!!..!!le.m~v:.: 
Dow Jones AIG Strategy 
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fhe Dow Jones Commodity Index strategy mvests rn futures and total return swaps to achreve 
exposure to the 19 commodrties futures in the rndex U~UL~nt or stable number? 'Ne 
nee<J. (g_sp~1fy] Residual cash is :nvested Jn the Lrmrted Duralion Bond Funds, whrch employ, a 
relatiVe value approach to Identifying opportumstic rnvestments in the short and intermediate 
sectors of the market fAll residual cash? A matorrtv of resrdual cash' We need to speqfyl The 
strategy tnvests rn triple 8 through triple A secur~ties and has an average quality of AA (Is th1~ 
reqwement?l The fund~ ~expenen_ced SlgJ1~icant Jos!lefi <:fue_ t~ ~~xp~:;ur~ to the tnple B_ 
ABX J.n<Jex 111 t~e earlypa!'!_ o! 290~ ~nd_ the subse_q_uent_rJ!lp~t 011 hrgh!!r quality_ c_ap1t<ll. 
structures including double and trip I~ A-[ated sec~r~ti!!S _The_preli_m1nary an<i U(la~dite(j 
performance results through July 31 are as follows: 

US PALMS 
The cash vehicle utilized by our US Pooled Asset Liab1lity Matching Solution (PALMS) is 
an enhanced US Dollar 3 Month LJBOR strategy. This enhanced strategy has discretion to 
allocate dynamically between the Limited Duration Bond Fund§ and the Short Term Investment 
Fund (STIF) While this enhanced strategy is currently 100% 1nvested 10 the STIF fund, at times 
the strategy has allocated up to ['*-check this-my understanding is that the funds held 30% not 
70 .. "]70% to the Limited Duration Bond Fund. The allocation has declined over time and 
averaged approximately 40% during the second quarter of 2007 As a result of its exposure to 
LDBF, the US PALMS strategy has underperformed its custom swaps benchmark. The 
preliminary and unaudited performance results through July 31" are as follows: 

Equities Plus Strategy 
The Equrtres Plus strategy invests in futures and total return swaps to achieve exposure to the 
S&P 500 index. Residual cash is invested in the Limited Duration Bond Fund§, which employ .. a ____ .. 
relative value approach to 1dentifying opportunistic investments in the short and intermediate 
sectors of the market The strategy invests in triple B through triple A securrties and has an 
average quality of AA The tund§,IJ~e_xp!!r~en~!!~ ~i\jl}if~an! P!!r:!'~rr:n_a~e_ ~ho!i!a_il_d_ue_t<? :t~ __ _ 
exposure to the triple B ASX index in the early part of 2007 and the subsequent impact on higher 
quality caprtai structures including double and triple A rated secunties. The preliminary. and 
unaudited performance results through July 31" are as follows: 

Actions Taken 
While we believe that events over the past several months have indicated some deterioration in 
longer-term fundamentals. we believe price action has been dominated by the unwinding of 
leverage in a market segment with sharply reduced liquidity. Additionally. ~he downdraft in 
valuations DJ!~.,h~ 31 _s!g_n:t~~f!!_iJ!lp~<:t _o,11_~e_ rJs_k_~,~~~~ ?! ~u! P?r:tf.o!i~s_. p~ci~!:j'ti~~(u~ }q~~ ~ ~ 
;;!e_p~ _I<? seek to Ie.<!lJP!! !i~~ ~~r?~S. 1!1~ _a!f!!~!!~ P<?'!f?l~~: Overall wtt~il) _!~e- ~i~:te,<! r;>~r_a!i<:J~ ___ _ 
Bond Fund§ we have~~ Sig(lifi~ant portion o! triple B :;ecufitie_s in an effort to improve_the 
overall credit ratings, and we have sold a large amount of our triple A cash positions and 
jl~~i!ic>na} !fip!e_ ~ !!~J?~S~e- '!5. ~~o!a! ~e_tl:!fJ1_Sy."~Pl? roll~ ~f! ~! r:n~(ll,!l_e.l1~- J~!!s_e_ ~!i?~S,. __ _ 
srmuttaneously ~to reduce risk in other SSgA strategies that hold units of the Limited Duration ' 
Bond Fund§. {What are we n"oi selling? Need clarification as to what we did and did.not sell) 

SSgA prides rtself on its outstanding client service and client communications and ~e_ e~n_ti(l(J!! to __ 
mon1tor all of our portfolios dunng this very flUid market enVIronment .Please do not hes1tate to · 
call me should you have add1t1onal questiOns or concerns, esoec1ally dunn9 thiS fluctuatrnq 
market environment 
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From: 

Sent: 

Fries, Elizabeth Shea [efries@goodwinprocter.comj 

Thursday, August 02, 2007 10:49 AM 

To: Luster. Jodi 

Cc: Shames. Mitchell 

Subject: Subprime Update 20070731 v3 (legal080107).doc 

Attachments: Subprime Update 20070731 v3 (legal080107).doc 

«Subprime Update 20070731 v3 (legal080107).doc» Jodi: I think it looks good, and have noted just a few thoughts. One thing 
we did not discuss yesterday is that we should be certain this is exclusively targeted at investors with products that have a NAV 
based on fair market value. Presumably Stable Value is not affected by price action, and products such as COOs have probably 
not realized "losses" at this stage. Please do not hesitate to call if you would like to discuss. Best -Liz 

Elizabeth Shea Fries 
Goodwin Procter LLP 

Exchange Place 
Boston, MA 02109 
t: 617.570.1559 
f: 617.523.1231 
m: 617.721.4662 
efries@goodwinprocter.com 

* *"' *"'"'"' * "'"'"' *"'"' * ** "'"' *"'"' *"'"'"'"'"'"'"' * *"' "'"'"'"' **"'"'"' *"'"'"'"'"'"'"'"' "'"' *"' *"'"'"' * *"' *"' * * * IRS CIRCULAR 230 
DISCLOSURE: To ensure compliance with requirements imposed by the IRS, we inform you that any U.S. tax 
advice contained in this communication (including any attachments) is not intended or written to be used, and 
cannot be used, for the purpose of (i) avoiding penalties under the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) promoting, 
marketing or recommending to another party any transaction or matter addressed herein. 
***~···~********•************************************************** 

*****"'*"'"'"'"'"'"'************"'*****"'**"'***"'***************"'************This message is intended only for 
the designated recipient(s). rt may contain confidential or proprietary information and may be subject to the 
attorney-client privilege or other confidentiality protections. If you are not a designated recipient, you may not 
review. copy o1· distribute this messnge. If you r·eceive this in error, please notify the sende.- by reply e-mail and 
delete this rnessage. Thank you.***************"""'**************"*"'"'***""'"""'"**"""""'"""*"'""**"'*"'""'"' 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Attachments: 

Jodi, 

Cullinane, Charles 
Thursday, August 02, 2007 3 54 PM 
Luster, Jodi 
Subprime Letter (Draft) 

Subprime Update (SSgA Legal) .doc.zip 

Can you take a read through, insert the additional disclosure language you got from Compliance and then send to Larry, 
Nick and Vince? 

Thanks, 
Charlie 

en 
Subprime Update 
(SSgA Legal).d ... 



' / DRAFT 

,\ugust 2. 2007 

I INSERT SALUATIONJ: 

We would like to t:1ke this opportunity to provide you With further mformallon regarding the 
impact the problems in the subpnme mortgage market have bad on several of SSgA ·s :tctJvc tixed 
income and active derivative-based strategies. 

Recap of Recent Market Events 
Begmning 1n late 2006 and continuing mto 2007, delinquencies on subprimc mortgage loans 
increased as credit blemished borrowers began to struggle to make payments as their mortgage 
loans reset :1t higher rates. As a result, a rash of subprime mortgage foreclosures occurred and 
several major subprime mortgage lenders filed for bankruptcy. As these events unfolded. 
speculative investors seized upon negative reports in the media and began shorting securities and 
other financial instmments based on the ABX Indices as a means of expressing their negative 
views of the US housing market. The ABX Indices represent swaps whose returns are derived 
from underlying credit default swaps of the 20 representative subprime mortgage securitizations 
issued m the United States over a 6 month timeframe. These swaps are based on the underlying 
deal tranchcs segregated by credit quality. A combination of thin volume and largely one-way 
hedge fund trading activity led to illiquidity and extreme market volatility in securities and other 
tinancial instruments based upon the ABX Indices. 

TI1c subprimc mortgage market further deteriorated in June and July of this year. In June, widcly­
publiciz..:d nc11 s uf problems in t11 o hedge funds c;wsed Wall Stn:et creditors to seize colhJtt.:ral. 
including large pools of mortgage-backed securities. The creditors' attempts to liquidate these 
mortgage-backed securities placed added pressure on asset values and credit spreads in the 
subprime mortgage market. In July, the downgrading and watch listing of securities secured by 
subprime mortgages by Moody's and Standard and Poor's triggered a significant and sustained 
unwinding of leverage and sales of securities. 

Impact on SSgA 's Portfolios 
These market events and the subsequent downward pressure on valuations in the subprime 
mortgage market have resulted in varying degrees of negative performance in several of SSgA ·s 
active fixed income strategies and active deri·vative-based strategies. Most notably. the Limited 
Duration Bond Strategy has e:'iperienced significant negative performance due to its exposure to 
the ABX Indices. The Limited Duration Bond Strategy expenenced negative performance in the 
first quarter of 2007 as a result of technical pressures (hedge fund selling) and spread widening in 
BBB-rated securities secured by subprime mortgages. TI1e Limited Duration Bond Strategy 
experienced even more pronounced negative performance in the second quarter of 2007 as spread 
widening moved up the capital stmcture to AAA and AA-rated securities secured by subprime 
mortgages. Other active tixed income and active derivative-based strategies have been affected 
to varying degrees by the problems 111 the subpnme mortgage market as a result of having 
exposure to the Limited Duration Bond Strategy or due to other :1ctive positions affected by the 
:.1torementwm:d market events. 

TI1e impact of the problems in the subprime mortgage market has had the follo\~ing impact on 
your mvestments With SSgA: 

cc:_o_t ... r.~ 1, n~., ..-



DRAFT 

[If your Client is invested in either the: (a) Enhanced Dow Jones-AIG Commodities Futures 
Strategy, (b) US Pooled Asset Liability Matching Solution (PAL:\'IS) or (c) Equities Plus 
Strategy insert the applicable paragraph(s) here.J 

[Enhanced Dow .Jones-,\IG Commodities Futures Strategy 
The Enhanced Dow Jones-:\IG Commodities Futures Str:uegy utilizes futures and total return 
swaps to gain exposure to the ll) commodity futures contracts m the 5 major commodity groups 
that comprise the DJ-AIG Commodity Index. The collateral pool is mvested in the Limited 
Duration Bond Strategy The Enhanced Dow Jones-AIG Commodities Futures Strategy has 
experienct:d sigmficant negativt: pt:rformance primarily due to the performance of the underlying 
collateral pool which is invested 111 the Lim1tcd Duration Bond Strategy. I 

IUS Pooled Asset Liability :\'1atching Solution (PALMS) 
TI1e collateral pool for our US PALMS is invested in an enhanct:d US Dollar 3 Month LIBOR 
strategy. This enhanced strategy has discretion to allocate dynamically between the Limited 
Duration Bond Strategy and the Short Term Investment Fund (STIF). While this enhanced 
strategy is currently I 00% invt:sted in the STIF fund, at times the strategy has allocated up to 
70% of cash collateral to the Limited Duration Bond Strategy. The allocation has declined over 
time and averaged approximately 40% during the second quarter of 2007. As a result of its 
exposure to the Limited Duration Bond Fund Strategy, the US PALMS strategy has 
underperformed its custom swaps benchmark.) 

(Equities Plus Strategy 
The Equities Plus strategy invests in futures and total return swaps to achieve exposure to the 
S&P 500 mdcx. The collateral pool '~ 1111 cstcd in the Limited Duration Bond Stratcg). Tht: 
Equities Plus Strategy has experienced significant negative pertormanee primarily due to the 
performance of the underlying collateral pool which is invested in the Limited Duration Bond 
Strategy.) 

The {INSERT FUND NAME] has returned [INSERT YTD FUND PERFORMANCE] as of 
the end of July 2007 versus the (INSERT APPLICABLE BENCHMARK] which has 
returned (INSERT BENCHMARK YTD PERFOIU.fANCE] as of the end of July. These 
performance returns are preliminary and unaudited. This performance information is 
being provided solely for the private use by SSgA clients and is not intended for public 
dissemination. 

Actions Taken 
We believe that 1\hat has occurred in the subprime mortgage market to date this vear has been 
more driven by liquidity and leverage issut:s than long term fi.mdamentals. Additionally. the 
downdraft in valuatiOns has had a s1gmficant impact on the risk protilc of our porttolios, 
prompting us to take steps to seek to rt:duce risk across the afTected portfolios. To date. in the 
Limited Duration Bond Strategy, we have reduced a sigmficant portion of our BBB-ratcd 
securities and we have sold a significant amount of our AAA-rated cash positions. Additionally. 
AA...\-rated exposure has been reduced as some total retum swaps rolled off at month end. The 
actions IH: havt: taken in the Limited Duration Bond Stratt:gy 1\lll simultaneously seek to reduce 
risk 111 other SSgA active tixt.:d income and acuve derivative-based strategit.:s have been atfectt:d 
to varymg degrees by the problems in the subprime mortgage market as a result of having 
exposure to tht.: Limited DuratiOn Bond Stratt.:gy. 



DRAFT 

SSgA pndes itself on its outstanding client service and client communications. While these 
events ma~ be unsettling, our expenence investment team has weather other storms 111 the past. 
Please do not hesitate to call me should you ha're additional qucstwns or concerns. especially 
dunng this tluctuatmg market cnvJronmcnt. 

[INSERT SIGNATURE! 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Attachments: 

llJ 
stltr .pdf.zip ( 199 

KB) 

Duggan, Mark 
Tuesday, August 07, 2007 2:38PM 
'efries' 
Per my voicemail 

sfltr. pdf. zip 
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From: Flannery, Sean !Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com) 

Sent: Wednesday, August 08, 2007 11:59 AM 

To: 

Cc: 

Subject: 

Duggan, Mark 

Reardon, Staci; Carlson. Larry; Kohler, Adele 

Draft of CIO letter 

Attachments: SPF Bond letter v1.doc.zip 

Mark et. al.: 

Attached is the final draft version of the document we have worked on for the past couple of 
days. Mark, the only change that I made was to change the time reference in the first line to 
say the last two months since there has been deterioration since month end. 

I also want to draw your attention to the 3rd paragraph on the second page where I say we 
think it is unwise to sell under the current conditions. We softened the language on the last 
page as agreed, but I want to make sure you are comfortable with this as well. As you know, 
my preference would be to leave that in. 

When you approve the final version, and assuming Staci and Larry are OK with this I think we 
should then run it past Bill and Mark. I do think we need to hear from relationship 
management as to how valuable this letter is (or is not) and to whom and under what 
circumstances we would send it. I will rely on Staci and Larry to advise re anyone else in 
SSgA that needs to review this letter or send it. 

«SPF Bond letter v1.doc.zip» 

Sean P. Flannery 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Flannery@ssga.com 

l/19/2008 

SS-SEC 118355 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Attachments: 

CD 
stltr.pdf.zip (199 

KB) 

Duggan, Mark 
Tuesday, August 07. 2007 2:38 PM 
'efries' 
Per rny voicemail 

sfltr.pdf.zip 
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From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Subject: 

Duggan, Mark {Mark_Duggan@ssga.comJ 

fhursday, August 09, 2007 1 0 53 PM 

Grove, Hannah M: Hunt. William W: Flannery, Sean: Brown. Marc 

Client Communication 

Attachments: SPF Bond letter v1.doc.zip 

Hannah: 

Attached is a close to final draft of a letter we propose to send to all clients affected by the Limited Duration Bond Funds. We are 
all OK with it. but wanted your thoughts. We are trying to send it out Friday. Thanks. 

Mark 

«SPF Bond letter v1.doc.zip» 

I I I 9/2008 
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From: Duggan, Mark [Mark_Duggan@ssga.com] 

Sent: Sunday, August 12,2007 9:33PM 

To: Flannery, Sean; Carlson, Larry 

Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 

Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

~erf:i~~;:= .. ~··-- --- -] 

From: Flannery, Sean 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:32 PM 
To: Carlson, Larry 
Cc: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Larry-

Sean P. Flannery 

Redacted: 
Privilege 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:29PM 
To: Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: FW: Here is the letter 

Hi Sean: 

J !l9/2008 

Redacted: 
Privilege 

SS-SEC 103659 
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I Re~acted: .. J 
Pnvtlege 

Larry 

................................................ 
Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U S. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston. MA 02111-2900 

Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 
larrv carlson@ssqa.com 

Please visit us at: http;/twww.ssga.com 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC, member FINRA, SIPC 

State Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing 
email communications, including attachments. 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error, please reply to this message 
and let the sender know. 

From: Brown, Marc 
Sent: Friday, August 10, 2007 11:32 AM 
To: Reardon, Staci; Carlson, Larry; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Cc: Flannery, Sean; Ehret, Greg 
Subject: Here is the letter 

<<File: SPF Bond Jetter v3 doc zip>> 

J /19/2008 

SS SEC 103660 
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From: Duggan, Mark [Mark_Duggan@ssga.com) 

Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 9:33 PM 

To: Flannery, Sean; Carlson, Larry 

Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 

Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

I was thinking the exact same change. I would also delete the first "have·. 

From: Flannery, Sean 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:32 PM 
To: Carlson, Larry 
Cc: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Larry-

I think I have this right-you are wondering how we can change the last paragraph for those clients who 
have already left us-right? 

If that is the case I would simply change as indicated below (subject to Legal's approval): 

We are keenly aware of the trust you have placed in us to manage these portfolios and regret any distress 
these events and our recent performance may have caused you. As we have throughout our 30-year 
history, we will continue to work very hard to manage through this current challenging situation with our 
clients' best interests at the forefront 

Sean P. Flannery 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:29 PM 
To: Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Duggan, ~-'lark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, r-1aureen 
Subject: FW: Here is the letter 

Hi Sean: 

Is this the final ··approved version··? 

Also. we will need a "slightly revised" version for clients that have terminated us and are no longer clients as the fixed income 
strategy was the only investment they had with us. 

I think this last paragraph needs to be slightly different for these clients as no longer use us? 

We are keenly aware of the trust you have placed in us to manage these portfolios and regret any distress 
these events and our recent performance may have caused you. As we have throughout our 30-year 

I!J<);2008 
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l1istory, we will continue to work very hard to manage through this current challenging situation with your 
best interests at the forefront 

Larry 

.................................................. 

Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
US Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 

Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 
larry carlson(CDssga.com 

Please visit us at: http://www.ssga.com 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets. LLC, member FINRA, SIPC 

State Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing 
email communications. including attachments. 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error, please reply to this message 
and let the sender know. 

From: Brown, Marc 
Sent: Friday, August 10, 2007 11:32 AM 
To: Reardon, Staci; Carlson, Larry; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Cc: Flannery, Sean; Ehret, Greg 
Subject: Here is the letter 

<<File: SPF Bond letter v3 doc zip>> 

I! I '1/:2008 
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From: Duggan, Mark [Mark_Duggan@ssga.com] 

Sent: Sunday, August 12,2007 9:38PM 

To: Carlson, Larry; Flannery. Sean 

Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 

Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

I Re~a.cted: - J 
Pnvtlege 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:36 PM 
To: Duggan, Mark; Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Larry 

........................................................ 

Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston. MA 02111-2900 

Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax 617 664-6861 
larry carlson@ssga.com 

Please visit us at: bttp:l/www.ssga.com 

Redacted: 
Privilege 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets. LLC. member FINRA. SIPC 

State Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing 
email communications, including attachments. 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have rece1ved this email in error, please reply to th1s message 
and let the sender know. 

l!l9/2008 
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From: Duggan, tvlark 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:33 PM 
To: Flannery, Sean; Carlson, Larry 
Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

I Re~a_cted: j 
Pnvtlege 

From: Flannery, Sean 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:32 PM 
To: Carlson, Larry 
Cc: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Larry-

Sean P. Flannery 

Redacted: 
Privilege 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:29 PM 
To: Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: FW: Here is the letter 

Hi Sean: 

Larry 

] /] Of2()Q8 

Redacted: 
Privilege 

SS-SEC 103662 
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Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
Stale Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 

Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 
larry carlson@ssga.com 

Please visit us at: http://www ssga.com 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC, member FINRA, SIPC 

State Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing 
email communications. including attachments. 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to Slate Street Global Advisors (SSgA} and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error, please reply to this message 
and Jet the sender know. 

From: Brown, Marc 
Sent: Friday, August 10, 2007 11:32 AM 
To: Reardon, Staci; Carlson, Larry; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Cc: Flannery, Sean; Ehret, Greg 
Subject: Here is the letter 

<<File: SPF Bond letter v3.doc.zip >> 

l il9/2008 

3S .SEC 103663 
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From: Duggan, Mark [Mark_Duggan@ssga.com) 

Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 9:38PM 

To: Carlson, Larry; Flannery, Sean 

Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 

Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

I'm good. 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:36PM 
To: Duggan, Mark; Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Thanks ... one last comment. 

In the first paragraph, 1 think we want to insert ·or as I have below? 

With these changes, are we all set to go? 

In the midst of the recent turmoil in the fixed income markets, many of our active bond strategies, including 
those that employ our Limited Duration Bond Strategy as an alpha vehicle, have sharply underperformed. 
Both the level of this underperformance and the degree of market turmoil are unprecedented in our 30-year 
history as a fixed income manager. This situation is both disappointing and unsettling to many of our 
clients and to all of us at SSgA. We hope the following detail on our Strategy and perspective on market 
conditions will provide some better context through which to view and address current events. 

Larry 

••••••••••••• * •• * ••••••••••••••••••••••••••• *. 

Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 

Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 

Ia f[Y_(;i'J:.~Jl_@_~llil_J:Qi!J 

Please visit us at: htlQ:I/www.s;;ggu;_g_m 

Secunties offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC. member FINRA. SIPC 

State Street Global Markets. LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing 
email communications, including attachments. 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSuA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error. please reply to this message 
and let the sender know. 

I I r)/2008 
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From: Duggan, Mark 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:33 PM 
To: Flannery, Sean; Carlson, Larry 
Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

1 was thinking the exact same change. I would also delete the first "have". 

From: Flannery, Sean 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:32 PM 
To: Carlson, Larry 
Cc: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Larry-

I think I have this right-you are wondering how we can change the last paragraph for those clients who 
have already left us-right? 

If that is the case I would simply change as indicated below (subject to Legal's approval): 

We are keenly aware of the trust you have placed in us to manage these portfolios and regret any distress 
these events and our recent performance may have caused you. As we have throughout our 30-year 
history, we will continue to work very hard to manage through this current challenging situation with our 
clients' best interests at the forefront 

Sean P. Flannery 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:29 PM 
To: Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: FW: Here is the letter 

Hi Sean: 

Is this the final "approved version"? 

Also, we will need a "slightly revised" version for clients that have terminated us and are no longer clients as the fixed income 
strategy was the only investment they had with us. 

1 think this last paragraph needs to be slightly different for these clients as no longer use us? 

We are keenly aware of the trust you have placed in us to manage these portfolios and regret any distress 
these events and our recent performance may have caused you. As we have throughout our 30-year 
history, we will continue to work very hard to manage through this current challenging situation with your 
best interests at the forefront 

I 1 l •!/2008 
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~ ....................... "' ........................ . 
Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U,S. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 

Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 
I<:JJ:EY carlsQDcmssqa.co_m 

Please visit us at: h_f:!p:llwww.ssga.com 

Securities offered through Stale Street Global Markets, LLC, member FINRA, SIPC 

Stale Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing 
email communications. including attachments. 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error, please reply to this message 
and let the sender know. 

From: Brown, Marc 
Sent: Friday, August 10, 2007 11:32 AM 
To: Reardon, Staci; Carlson, Larry; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Cc: Flannery, Sean; Ehret, Greg 
Subject: Here is the letter 

<<File: SPF Bond letter v3.doc.zip >> 

I I I '112008 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Attachments: 

rn 
SPF Bond letter 
v4 _lostclient .... 

[tJ 

Duggan, Mark [Mark_Duggan@ssga.com} 
Sunday, August 12, 2007 9 53 PM 
Flannery. Sean 
Fw: Here is the letter 

SPF Bond letter v4_1ostclient.doc.lip; SPF Bond letter v4_1ostclient.doc.zip 

SPF Bond letter 
v4 _lostclient. ... 

How many times do we have to sign off??? 

-----Original Message----­
rrom: Carlson, Larry 
To: Duggan, Mark; Flannery, Sean 
CC: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Sent: Sun Aug 12 17:46:27 2007 
subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Ok ... one last look at the drafts: 

ll for clients that still have assets with <<SPF Bond letter v4_lostcl~ent.doc.zip>> 
us: 

~~~PF Bond letter v4 lost~lient.doc.zip>> 

2) for clients t <<SPF Bond letter v4 lostclient.doc.zip>> hat have terminated us 
<<SPF Bond letter v4_lostclient.doc.zip>> 

Please see greeting and sign off. 

Thanks. 

Larry 
****~**********~****************************** 

Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relationship Management 
Stat" St re"'t Global .;clvisors 
~tate ~treet Fin~nc1al ~enter 

One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 
Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 fi64-6861 
larry carlson@ssga.com 
Please visit us at: http://www.ssga.com Securities offered through State Street Global 
:'larkets, LLC, member fiNRA, SIPC State Street Global i1arkets, LLC has a regulatory 
suc:ei1lanc:e system designed to monitor and record incoming and Olltgoing email 
cJmmunicatlons, including attachments. 
This email and any files transmitted ~ith it are confidential to State Street Global 
f\.dvisors I:)SqAI and are intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom 
they are addressed. If you have received this email in error, please reply to this 
message and let the sender know. 

frcm: Duggan, Mark 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:38 PM 
To: Carlson, Larry; Flannery, Sean 

:3S-SEC 118389 
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Cr~: Peardon, :;t:,lr:l; Fitzqerald, t·1ouret~n 

~3ubJect: RE: ilece ts the letter 

['m •JOOd. 

---------------
From: t.~ ~t r t son, La r r: y 
:sent: Sunday, August 12, .2.007 S: 36 PM 
ro: Duggan, .'Ia ck; E'l anne ry, :>ean 
Cc: Reacdon, Staci; Fitzqecald, Mauceen 
SubJect: RE: Hece is the lettec 

Thanks .one last comment. 

In the first paragraph, think we want to insert "of• as I have below? 

With these changes, ace we all set to go? 

In the midst of the recent turmoil in the fixed income markets, many of our active bond 
strategies, including those that employ our Limited Duration Bond Strategy as an alpha 
vehicle, have sharply underperformed. Both the level of this underperformance and the 
degree of market turmoil ace unprecedented in our 30-year history as a fixed income 
manager. This situation is both disappointing and unsettling to many of our clients and 
to all of us at SSgA. ':le hope the following detail on our Strategy and perspective on 
market conditions will provide some better context through which to view and address 
curcent events. 

Larcy 
k****k******.********************************* 

Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relat~onship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
state Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 
Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 
larry carlson@ssga.com 
Please visit us at: http://www.ssga.com Securities offered through State Street Global 
Markets, LLC, member FINRA, SIPC State Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory 
surveillance system designed to monitor and cecord incoming and outgoing email 
communications, including attachments. 
Thi~ email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Stceet Global 
;, . .:J·.;isOL:::i (SSgAi ..:tLd 
they are addressed. 
message and let the 

... iLC; iut~JH..I'=J ::.olc:lj f:_~r the u.:..t::: cf Ll.c -Lild..i.· .. 'it...iu.::tl ct t::lttl.ti tl) \·JLvw 
If you have received this email in error, please reply to this 

sender know. 

From: Duggan, Mack 
Sent: S•mday, August 12, 2007 5:33 PH 
To: Flannery, Seem; Caclson, Larry 
Cc: Reardon, Staci; fitzgerald, Maureen 
SubJect: RE: Here is the letter 

I was thinking the exact same change. 

From: Flannery, Sean 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 S:J2 PM 
To: Carlson, Larry 

I would also delete the first "have•. 

Cc: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

2 
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L.J r cy--

r think I have th1s riyht-you ~ce wondering how we can change the last paragraph for 
those •:l1ents ·c~ho h.1ve ill c.~ady lP.tt !Is-eight? 
If that is the case I would simply change as indicated below (subject to Legal's 
1ppr:oval): 
We are keenly 1ware of the rcust you have placed in us to manage these portfolios and 
regret any distress these events and our recent performance may have caused you. As we 
have throughout our 30-year history, we will continue to work very hard to manage through 
t.his current ··:hallenqing .sit11c1tion with our clients' best interests .1t the forefront 

;)ean P. fL;nnery 
E:-:ec Vice President and Chief Investment Offi..::er, Americas 

Sean flannery@ssga.com 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:29 PM 
To: Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: P#: Here is the letter 

Hi Sean: 

Is this the final "approved version"? 

Also, we will need a "slightly revised" version for clients that have terminated us and 
are no longer clients as the fixed income strategy was the only investment they had with 
U5. 

I think this last paragraph needs to be slightly different for these clients as no longer 
use us? 

and We are keenly aware of the trust you have placed in us to manage these portfolios 
regret any distress these events and our recent performance may have caused you. 
have throughout our 30-year history, we will continue to work very hard to manage 
this current challenging situation with your best interests at the forefront 

As we 
through 

Larry 
********************************************** 
Larry Carlson 
M~naJinq Dire~tor 

U.S. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
tJne Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, }~ 02111-2900 
Tel: 617 iS64-5611 
::"ax: 611 664-6861 
larry carlson@ssga.com 
?lease 'Jisit us at: http://c.~ww.ssga.com Securities offered through State Street Global 
c-larkets, LLC, rf'ember fiNPA, SIPC Stdte Street Global :·!arkets, LLC has a requlatory 
surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing email 
•.:cmrnunLcations, including attachments. 
This 0mail and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global 
Advisors ISSgA) and are intended solely for the use of the indlvidual or entity to whom 
they are addressed. If you have received this email in error, please reply to this 
message and let the sender know. 

Frnm: Brown, Marc 

3 
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:.:ent: Fnday, t\U·JUst LO, 2il07 l L: 32 t'l.."' 
fo: Reardon, StacL; C~rlson, Larrj; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Cc: fL1nnery, :)ean; Ehr10t, Greg 
:Jubject: Here is the Le;tter 

<< File: SPf Bond letter vJ.doc.zip >> 
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From: Duggan, Mark [Mark_Duggan@ssga.com) 

Sent: Monday, August 13,2007 2:38PM 

To: Carlson, Larry; Reardon, Stad; Flannery, Sean; Fitzgerald, Maureen 

Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

There should be an apostrophe after "clients" in the last sentence. 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:46 PM 
To: Duggan, Mark; Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

~- - Re<lacted: J 
I Privilege _ 

1) [ - R~f~==- - - -] 
<<File: SPF Bond letter v4_1ostclient.doc zip>> 

r Redacted: I 
2) Privileg~ 

<<File SPF Bond letter v4_lostclient.doc.zip >> 

I Re~~cted: I 
Pnv1lege 

Thanks. 

Larry 

Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 

Tel 617 664-5611 
Fax· 617 664-6861 

i?.!.CL.f.sJ(lson(Qlssga. com 

Please visit us at: !J.!!p:!/www ssg_1!.com 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC, member FINRA, SIPC 

State Street Global Markets. LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to mon1tor and record 1ncoming and outgoing 
email communications. including attachments. 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or ent1ty to vvhom they are addressed. It you have received this email in error, please reply to this message 
and let the sender know. 

l/J Clf2Q(l8 
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From: Duggan, r-1ark 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:38 PM 
To: Carlson, Larry; Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

I Rpe:v~~:~- --- --- J 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:36 PM 
To: Duggan, Mark; Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Reardon, Staci; fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Larry 

......................................................... 

Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
US. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 

Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax·617664-6861 
larry_ carlson@ssga .com 

Please visit us at: http://www.ssga com 

Redacted: 
Privilege 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC, member FINRA. SIPC 

Stale Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing 
email communications, including attachments. 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or ent1ty to whom they are addressed. If you have received th1s email in error, please reply to th1s message 
and let the sender know. 

From: Duggan, t-1ark 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:33PM 
To: Flannery, Sean; Carlson, Larry 

J /] 0/2008 

S.c:;-C:~r ln~t::C:O 
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Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

I ~er?5!~~ -~~-J 
From: Flannery, Sean 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:32 PM 
To: Carlson, larry 
Cc: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, ~-1aureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Larry-

Sean P. Flannery 

Redacted: 
Privilege 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com 

From: Carlson, larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:29 PM 
To: Flannery, Sean 
C::c: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: FW: Here is the letter 

Hi Sean: 

L<wy 

J!J0/2008 

Redacted: 
Privilege 

SS SEC l 03669 
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Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
US. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 

Tel617664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 
li!lfY carlson]Qlssga.com 

Please vis1t us at: http://www.ssga.com 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC, member FINRA, SIPC 

State Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing 
email communications, including attachments. 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to Stale Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error. please reply to this message 
and let the sender know. 

From: Brown, Marc 
Sent: Friday, August 10, 2007 11:32 AM 
To: Reardon, Staci; Carlson, larry; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Cc: Flannery, Sean; Ehret, Greg 
Subject: Here is the letter 

<< File: SPF Bond letter v3 doc.zip >> 

l j 19/2008 

SS-SEC 103670 
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From: Duggan, Mark {Mark_Duggan@ssga.comj 

Sent: Monday, August 13, 2007 2:38PM 

To: Carlson, Larry; Reardon, Staci; Flannery, Sean; Fitzgerald, Maureen 

Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

There should be an apostrophe after "clients" in the last sentence 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:46 PM 
To: Duggan, Mark; Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Ok ... one last look at the drafts: 

1) for clients that still have assets with us: 

<<File SPF Bond letter v4_lostclientdoc zip>> 

2) for clients that have terminated us 

<<File SPF Bond letter v4_lostclient.doc zip>> 

) Please see greeting and sign off. 

Thanks. 

Larry 

Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street. 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 

Tel 617 664-5611 
Fax 617 664-6861 

!.a_r rv._C:i!fJ:son@)ssgg,_com 

Please visit us at: b!!p://www-'~s~com 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC, member FINRA, SIPC 

State Street Global Markets. LLC has a regulatory surveillance system des1gned to monitor and record incoming and outgoing 
email communications, including attachments. 

) This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
; use of the ind1v1dual or ent1ty to whom they are addressed. If you have rece1ved th1s ema1110 error. please reply to th1s message 

and let the sender know. 

IiI <J:2U08 



) 

:\ 
:;! 

/ 

From: Duggan, Mark 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:38 PM 
To: Carlson, Larry; Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fit7gerald, r-1aureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

I'm good. 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:36 PM 
To: Duggan, Mark; Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fit7gerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Thanks ... one last comment. 

In the first paragraph, I think we want to insert ·or as I have below? 

With these changes, are we all set to go? 

In the midst of the recent turmoil in the fixed income markets, many of our active bond strategies, including 
those that employ our Limited Duration Bond Strategy as an alpha vehicle, have sharply underperformed. 
Both the level of this underperformance and the degree of market turmoil are unprecedented in our 30-year 
history as a fixed income manager. This situation is both disappointing and unsettling to many of our 
clients and to all of us at SSgA. We hope the following detail on our Strategy and perspective on market 
conditions will provide some better context through which to view and address current events. 

Larry 

, ............................................ . 
Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 

Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 
larry _carlson@ssga.com 

Please visit us at: http//www.ssga.com 

Secunties offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC, member FINRA, SIPC 

State Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing 
email communications, including attachments. 

This email and any files transmitted w1th it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error, please reply to this message 
and let the sender know. 

From: Duggan, Mark 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:33PM 
To: Flannery, Sean; Carlson, Larry 

Ji I 'i/.20!i8 
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Cc: Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, r-1aureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

I was thinking the exact same change. I would also delete the first "have". 

From: Flannery, Sean 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:32 PM 
To: Carlson, Larry 
Cc: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: RE: Here is the letter 

Larry-

I think I have this right-you are wondering how we can change the last paragraph for those clients who 
have already left us-right? 

If that is the case I would simply change as indicated below (subject to Legal's approval): 

We are keenly aware of the trust you have placed in us to manage these portfolios and regret any distress 
these events and our recent performance may have caused you. As we have throughout our 30-year 
history, we will continue to work very hard to manage through this current challenging situation with our 
clients' best interests at the forefront 

Sean P. Flannery 

Exec Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, Americas 

Sean_Fiannery@ssga.com 

From: Carlson, Larry 
Sent: Sunday, August 12, 2007 5:29 PM 
To: Flannery, Sean 
Cc: Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Subject: FW: Here is the letter 

Hi Sean: 

Is this the final "approved version"? 

Also, we will need a "slightly revised" version for clients that have terminated us and are no longer clients as the fixed income 
strategy was the only investment they had with us. 

I think this last paragraph needs to be slightly different for these clients as no longer use us? 

We are keenly aware of the trust you have placed in us to manage these portfolios and regret any distress 
these events and our recent performance may have caused you. As we have throughout our 30-year 
history, we will continue to work very hard to manage through this current challenging situation with your 
best interests at the forefront 

Larry 

IiI ()/2UU8 
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Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 

Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 
!ar~son@.§.~ga.com 

Please visit us at: http://www.ssga.com 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC, member FINRA, SIPC 

State Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing 
email communications, including attachments. 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error, please reply to this message 
and let the sender know. 

From: Brown, Marc 
Sent: Friday, August 10, 2007 11:32 AM 
To: Reardon, Staci; Carlson, Larry; Fitzgerald, Maureen 
Cc: Flannery, Sean; Ehret, Greg 
Subject: Here is the letter 

<<File: SPF Bond let1er v3 doc.zip >> 

l I I ')/2 OUX 
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From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Cc: 

Subject: 

Carlson, Larry [Larry_Carlson@ssga.comj 

Sunday, August 12,2007 9:29PM 

Flannery, Sean 

Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 

FW: Here is the letter 

Attachments: SPF Bond letter v3.doc.zip 

Hi Sean: 

Redacted: 
Privilege 

_) Larry 

............................................................... 
Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 

Tel: 617 664-5611 
FalC: 617 664--6861 
!arry carlson@ssga.com 

Please visit us at: http:/twww.ssga.com 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC, member FINRA. SIPC 

State Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to monitor and record incoming and outgoing 
email communications, including attachments. 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error, please reply to this message 
and let the sender know. 

From: Brown, Marc 
Sent: Friday, August 10, 2007 11:32 AM 
To: Reardon, Staci; Carlson, Larry; Fitzgerald, Maureen 

/ Cc: Flannery, Sean; Ehret, Greg 

]/li)/2008 

SS-SEC Ll2851 
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From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Cc: 

Subject: 

Carlson, Larry [Larry_Carlson@ssga.com] 

Sunday, August 12, 2007 9:29PM 

Flannery, Sean 

Duggan, Mark; Reardon, Staci; Fitzgerald, Maureen 

FW: Here is the letter 

Attachments: SPF Bond letter v3 doc.zip 

Hi Sean: 

Is this the final "approved version"? 

Also, we will need a "slightly revised" version for clients that have terminated us and are no longer clients as the fixed income 
strategy was the only investment they had with us. 

I think this last paragraph needs to be slightly different for these clients as no longer use us? 

We are keenly aware of the trust you have placed in us to manage these portfolios and regret any distress 
these events and our recent performance may have caused you. As we have throughout our 30-year 
history, we will continue to work very hard to manage through this current challenging situation with your 
best interests at the forefront 

c) Larry 

............................................... 
Larry Carlson 
Managing Director 
U.S. Relationship Management 
State Street Global Advisors 
State Street Financial Center 
One Lincoln Street, 33rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02111-2900 

Tel: 617 664-5611 
Fax: 617 664-6861 
l<?r_ry_carfson@§_gl.<;u;qm 

Please visit us at: http;/l~5.§Q§,CODJ 

Securities offered through State Street Global Markets, LLC, member Flf'JRA, SJPC 

State Street Global Markets, LLC has a regulatory surveillance system designed to rnomtor and record incoming and outgoing 
email cornmumcations, including attachments. 

This email and any files transm1tted with it are confidential to State Street Global Advisors (SSgA) and are intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received th1s email in error, please reply to this message 
and let the sender know. 

From: Brown, Marc 
Sent: Friday, August 10, 2007 11:32 AM 
To: Reardon, Staci; Carlson, Larry; Fitzgerald, ~'laureen 
Cc: Flannery, Sean; Ehret, ()req 

1/l 2!)(18 
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From: 
S~;nt: 

fo: 
Cc: 
SubJeCt: 

:1.:"1.1.·:·, 

Hunt, \/Vd!iatn lN 
fhursday, July 26, 2007 2 28 FM 
Brown. Marc 
Jenn ,fer K •?ough;USfi./SiateStre81<.Q!St::JteStreet 
FW· MML st<Jry l•!d::Jy on luniled duration bond fund 

leu n2~d tc. ;no·;~ qLJl 1_)·.ly on th2' lette.t. Pl.s •:all rn~ v1hen r;:..Jdied - 1 \.;..;,nt to he..=:t.r final 
1 '2f510n. ·.'le need to gnthe:-r the facts , hut l.:=:ttr:r n.::c::ds to r;~o out by end of business 
tcday as this is likely to be picked up on the main wires and we h~ve a reputation to 
p.z;c-s12rv.::: with •::li.;:nts in terrns of the trust factor h!f!: talJ:E'd about earlier today. 

Hannah r:.: cut tod~y and t1ollday, but ::;he 1£ reach.:tblt:. Pls. 9t:t her contctcts. Also, pls 
make sure sh~ is ccpi2d in orl ~-m~ils, so 5h~ can follow a11d guide Arl~ne as one of 
several SSgA spokes~ersons. 

Thanks, Bill 

----Originctl Message----­
From: Fl~nnery, John 
Sent: Thur5d3y, .Juli ;:6, ?_!)iJ7 f,;(Jl !..J·J 
Tc: Hunt, William W 
.':ubj2Ct: r .... ,; HML .StCC/ LOdi!'y' Gn llm.ir.:::d durntion hcn::i fund 

~~Jlt us1n~1 Elac·~£err~· 

-----Original M~sshg~----­
frcm: Rebert$, Arler1e C 
Tc~ flttnr.~r~~·, John; 0hara, Hi•::.hc.-:-1; Th:mlpson, 1-fi·::hac:l 
:~·.:.:nt.: Thu .Tul ~6 ( .. 7:~::~'~ :;>)(J7 
:'.'uLjdc:t: I~·IL ~tori toda:i o11 1 imi t.od Jut6tloll b:ond fun:l 

~c;;'l·; Bond fund \·Jh,,·:l:<;d [;'.y 'iul:opnm.> Lcs~es 

- IJ{ I:.)/ 2 (J(Ji 

State Stre:-~t Global Ad•.:i.scrs' LiJnltEd [1urat1cn Bond fund h,-,s r-2:portedlj1 lo.=t 3-4· =:o f.:J! 

ti11S. month fol1ow1JJI'j ;3 •J.t~:; lo::.~ fJIC55 of fees ill .Julie. The- •..::urrcnt losses ~r~ word of 
rrl\:.,utl, ,...,.111.11 ~ 1·-.dLi.lt" l!Jo:: .lull.:::. dc..::l1111::: c:;me.') fr:;m pE:rfcrmnnce r•::po.rts from cVestrn;::nt 
All1ar1~e. the fund IS inv~sted mo~tly in subprime mortg3g~-bacJ:ed ~~curit~2s ~nd 3~ of 
1-lar.:h :..·:fJ7 had S3 l::1ll1on in institutional s.~parat-: ,·::t·=·::Junts. 

:_:r;,:JA';:; l-~~t, site- sa)'s th~ ::.trdtcqy -1l.sv lJ~~.s derl'-'<jt}\jP-5 to ·.::-limi11Jt~ 1nt-~rcst r.~tc risl· 
and ~a~ (!~s10ned tc ~~rn ln~t~m~ntal y1~ld ever -~C·t~ c~~h fun:!5 ~~·.d tc •:0J1trol downsicl~ 
r1sl:. lts l:e:nchmnrLs ore th<2. .JH·10UF!l1 q S. 1-i-i'::>nt'h C;,sh Ind~:-: 0r t.~jc Cltigroup 1-->~onth T-
E,lll ::._-.,__;;nc of tf.~ flr:rn'::. ~::tLe-t :t._:ti·;f: fl>·c-d·ln.:·tJm-:o :.uod l.~rq-2--·~ap ,;::r:h.·JnC2d 1nde::-: sttatO::'Jl2~ 

1-'.e1·Jt:;: scm.::- •2/f..>O~Ul. 2 t 0 t h 15 furJ::i. 

11Lti1litS ~r..::- -,.:JjlL:J ~f.jt l lll·j ·:\.:".:-!! 1 ln d ~tt .:t~'J'/ of r.h1s sort 1s t.o:-rr.ll.::.le :1nd Ly 
--!~fll'·ltlon 1 ''J.tnnt,.;:d .J 1.1t.--1t·1:-r1" ::tri-lt:t-q'j 1:; .'5.uf:pc;=...:::d t·.) f,c l.:-w--ri-.:.t: 1nd r·:-diJ·:e ·;olat.lllt:_.'. 
"it ·.:oulCn' t ha·}~ b~en JUSt Sr:-3r ·:te.:ttr;s Uldt had -=:-:r:c,sur-= tc sr~Lprime," ::,:.lid Stev'::' 
Hr.:lrnf::S, pres1dr::nt t Sum.r111':: <;trJ.t-;.·'Jl'.:s r,;rcup, t,·Jdl·.:.:lt.lrl.j that many rnan29f7r.s .:_-ould have-
r l'.~n n hlt. 

i·ll.·:"~L3f:l f'!r3.t"l, ht=:S:sd ::..f ·~lc,L.ll -J·: :11.'·=- tl. .. ";"J-lncr,;n.::-, ~-1ho rr:and•)"=S th.:- str.,1tt5:-(j"j, .:l.=.:~_·lln..::d tc~ 

nf1rm perfJrman•:F fl~Jures. ')pol:.:::s-..J.-m.Jn ?.rl-ent- t~cbr:rts could O")t 1m,'11&dlr"1tel/ r-ro·~·i.::lc 

J;:.::, 7 fJ l 3 
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From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Subject: 

Sean, 

Hunt, William W <WWHunt@StateStreet.com> 

Wednesday, August 8, 2007 12:06 PM 

Flannery, Sean <Sean_ Flannery@ssga.com> 

Re: CONFIDENTIAL DRAFT OF LETTER TO CLIENTS 

This is good communication. I need to ask you to hold for another day while I review it in detail. I have some 
questions re: a few of the messages, and want to discuss with you tomorrow. 

Will be back in boston late pm today, and we can connect tomorrow am by phone. 

Best regards, Bill 
--- Sent from My Blackberry Wireless Handheld ---

-----Original Message----­

From: Flannery, Sean 

To: Hunt, William W; Brown, Marc; Brown, Marc 

Sent: Wed Aug 08 I 0:38:04 2007 

Subject: CONFIDENTIAL DRAFT OF LETTER TO CLIENTS 

CONFIDENTIAL DRAFT ONLY 
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